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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (“STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (“Directors”, and each
a "Director”) of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited
(“Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company
Information” page of the website of the Stock Exchange at
http.//www.hkexnews.hk for a minimum period of seven days
from the date of its publication and on the website of the
Company at http.//www.hangtaiyue.com.

EAME R ZFAARATE
Fr1) GEMEY4E &

(THg 32

GEMZEML > IAFNEABRBE—E LS
25 o IWFEATBLREHE TR LY
ARHEBRERERRE - AEREERT R
BERZRSARZEBERE  LRCBEHBF
ZEBBBEHIRERE -

MREGEMETHATREEAT/NEAF >
AGEMEE ZAS UM TRNEREETEZE
SFERRBAZ LIS KB ER - FREEARET
GEMEBEZRZSFEARREEZTHIS

BBRG RAGEB RN G R A AL
ZABBTEE - HAREE MR T E LT #
KIEME » WX T TR R & 2 &
BUIETEE 7 A BT E L BRI e % F BT 5]
HZAEAIRKATEERELT ©

IR & Z BRI B IR (GEMEE 25 L ih
RI) (I GEM_EFTARRY) T T - 5 tE e B B
BB EBITREIRAE (1K AE])ZEH
EREIZEF(EE)  RES—BEFEIE

MAEREZ MR RIS EELEEE o &
BFUFH UG EEHEER » IR FATF

M RetEls » KIREFBENTFEEEZR BB
R o L EERE G FE S 0 Al HEiE R
HEIE » RSN ARG A E T
ELERE o

rREFEBRFZFAHEGSRLDECXH
R ILhttp://www.hkexnews. hk
IR EHAREANE)I—BHREANRAE AL
http.//www.hangtaiyue.com ©

EREEBEZERBRAR | —T_=FF% 01



CONTENT
B &%

Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Directors Profile

Directors’ Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Summary

QEEH
EFREEE
BEENwm KR

REMBRRE

Ik
i

=
AR

op

R

4

AHRERER

i

ARG M B R M EE
MFRE

02 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

10-50

51-54

55-73

74-118

119-137

138-149

150-151

152-153

154

155-157

158-315

316



NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Chairman)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Lam Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chan Ming Kit
Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Ms. Lam Ching Yee
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lam Ching Yee, CPA

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Committee chairman)
Mr. Chan Ming Kit

Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Committee chairman)
Mr. Chan Ming Kit

Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Committee chairman)
Mr. Chan Ming Kit

Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul

AUDITOR

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
24/F Siu On Centre

188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEM

FERITES
S (Z/E)

HITES
ML (7B )
7 B

BILIFRITES
E ke
BRsk tsE e
BRI

BRI
7B

REAER
g e
7B

REWE
HEELL > CPA

BEEEY

EK R (AT LE)
BRsg tsE e
BRATSE

E3 =Y
ks (FERZE)
BRsg Rt
SBEERRSE

RYEEEG
=S (EEEEE)
B
SPERSE

=B

EE (&R ZstMBHRAAERAS
EARETERIE1885]

JKZ 2458

M SR
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

ERRERZRERAR | S =458

03



CORPORATE INFORMATION
ArEH

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

9/F, HKHC Tower

No. 241-243 Nathan Road
Jordan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE

Hong Kong Registrars Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of Communications
China Construction Bank (Asia)
OCBC Bank (Hong Kong)
National Australia Bank

WEBSITE ADDRESS

www.hangtaiyue.com

AW RR R T B M B
55

NEEEH

SREE241-2435%
EABERIPONIE

FTERMNBRETE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

BRARMBRESLDE

ERESERARAT

58

B ERABER1835E
BFFN 7817121716555

FEERRT
STEIRAT
SHER R IRTT (E)
(B3R (E8)
WNERIERST

AL

www.hangtaiyue.com

04 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (“Board”), | hereby present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. During the
year under review, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$64,587,000 (2022: HK$134,373,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 52% as compared with that in last
year due to the Group’s deemed disposal of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings Limited (“Walletku Disposal”) in June 2022. The
profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$12,452,000 (2022: HK$9,925,000).

OVERVIEW

During the year under review, the Group continued to adopt
a diversified business development strategy and the principal
activities of the Group were (i) provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia; (i) provision of services through network
media; (iii) money lending business; and (iv) assets investments
business.

During the year under review, the Group was engaged in the
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia through its
venue located in Victoria, Australia, namely the Balgownie Estate
Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley (“Balgownie”). The Group
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$58,773,000 (2022:
HK$63,834,000) from its segment of provision of hospitality and
related services and sales of food and beverage in hotel business
in Australia during the year under review, which amounted to a
decrease of approximately HK$5,061,000 or approximately 8%.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the number of
occupied rooms of Balgownie during the year under review as a
result of the Renovation Work (as defined and explained in the
paragraph headed “Hospitality and Related Services in Australia”
below).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITRMSE

The occupancy rate of Balgownie during the year under
review was approximately 74%, which had decreased from
approximately 75% in the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Group expects that the situation will improve with the completion
of the Renovation Work (as defined and explained in the paragraph
headed “Hospitality and Related Services in Australia” below).

During the year under review, revenue generated from the
provision of services through network media decreased
significantly due to the Walletku Disposal in June 2022. The
Walletku Disposal resulted in a net gain on the deemed disposal
of subsidiaries of approximately HK$26,907,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

During the year under review, the Group recorded interest income
of approximately HK$5,709,000 (2022: HK$3,387,000) from
its money lending business. The interest income of the Group
increased mainly due to the increase in the loans granted by the
Group during the year under review.

During the year under review, the share of the results of associates
changed from the Group’s share of profits of associates of
approximately HK$11,476,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 to the Group's share of losses of associates of approximately
HK$16,994,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
change was primarily attributable to the Group’s share of the
loss from one of its associates of approximately HK$12,521,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: share of profit of
HK$14,165,000).
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During the year under review, the profit of the Group was
approximately HK$12,452,000 (2022: HK$9,925,000), which
was mainly attributable to the combined effects of (i) the gain of
approximately HK$72,145,000 recognised by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 resulted from the Group’s deemed
disposal of a former wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, #k
REEFEM(LEBE)ABRAT (in English for identification purpose,
Jixiang Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.) (“Jixiang")
on 31 May 2023, as compared with the gain of approximately
HK$26,907,000 recognised by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022, which was resulted from the Group’s deemed
disposal of a former wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2022; (ii) the change from the Group's
share of profits of associates of approximately HK$11,476,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to the Group's share of losses
of associates of approximately HK$16,994,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023; and (jii) a substantial decrease in the income
from provision of administrative and management services from
approximately HK$16,005,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$1,228,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, it is expected that the stabilisation of the global
pandemic situation, the removal of the pandemic-related social
distancing restrictions and the labour market recovery will boost
domestic consumption. However, such positive effects will likely
be offset to a certain extent by the fall in general asset prices as
a result of the quantitative tightening measures adopted by the
major economies and the uncertainties arising from the recent
economic and banking turmoil, the Russo-Ukrainian War, the
Israeli-Palestinian conflict, and the Red Sea crisis. The development
of the global economic conditions will remain the key uncertainty
in relation to the revival of the global economy.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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As Balgownie is partnering with Australia’s largest day spa brand,
Endota Spa (“Spa Partner”), for the brand new day spa in
Balgownie, under which the premises of the day spa are provided
by the Group, it is expected that more revenue-based rental
income will be generated from the Spa Partner for the Group as
Balgownie gains more visitations from customers. The Group will
also sell the Spa Partner’s products and services in the spa venues
to create additional day spa-related income for the Group. During
the year under review, the Group launched a new “Wellness
Retreat” product/service with the Spa Partner and was the first to
provide such product/service in Yarra Valley. The new “Wellness
Retreat” was introduced with wellness packages/experiences
that include (i) nutrition and nourishment by the provision of
curated menus for a healthy diet; and (i) calming activities such
as meditation, yoga, pilates and gigong. The Group intends to
leverage the brand and client base of the Spa Partner and gain
new visitations in the leisure and corporate segment, and attract
more customers to Balgownie. The restaurant at Balgownie
accepts bookings from off-site customers in addition to in-house
guests staying at Balgownie to enjoy the dining experience.
With the restaurant (together with the existing function centre
at Balgownie) reaching a maximum capacity of approximately
270 customers, the Group will provide banquet services such
as hosting weddings or events to broaden the Group’s income
stream. The Group intends to brand Balgownie as an integrated
resort based travel destination for leisure and event-hosting. In
April 2023, Balgownie introduced a new “Wine Club”, a club
pertaining to the subscription-based model offering members
exclusive benefits and access to Balgownie’s wines and resort
products and services. As of the end of December 2023, the 'Wine
Club’ has acquired over 700 club members. The Group expects
the member base to increase to over 3,000 members in the next
24 months, which will help generating additional income and
growth across the resort’s products and services.

Going forward, the Group will continue to carry on its existing
businesses by formulation and implementation of its own
business plans and strategies and leveraging its own business
model, competitiveness and strengths so as to develop, maintain
and enhance its existing businesses, which will be viable and
sustainable and will be able to create value and investment return
for the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).
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valuable Shareholders, investors and clients for their support, and P IFR LB LOHE  TEARHFEEETA
also my thanks to all the staff for their efforts and contributions — AEBEZ INEHE Z B HFEEL ©

to the Group.

Ng Ting Ho *5E
Chairman BiEE
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
IE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the principal activities
of the Group were (i) provision of hospitality and related services
in Australia; (ii) provision of services through network media; (iii)
money lending business; and (iv) assets investments business.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the profit of the
Group was approximately HK$12,452,000 (2022: HK$9,925,000).
The increase was mainly attributable to the combined effects
of (i) the gain of approximately HK$72,145,000 recognised by
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 resulted from
the Group’s deemed disposal of Jixiang, a then wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, on 31 May 2023, as compared with
the gain of approximately HK$26,907,000 recognised by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 resulted from the
Group’s deemed disposal of a then wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2022; (ii)
the change from the Group’s share of profits of associates of
approximately HK$11,476,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 to the Group's share of losses of associates of approximately
HK$16,994,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023; and
(iii) a substantial decrease in the income from provision of
administrative and management services from approximately
HK$16,005,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$1,228,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hospitality and Related Services in Australia

During the year under review, the Group was engaged in the
hospitality business through Balgownie.

Balgownie, located in the Yarra Valley, is a famous winery and
tourism destination in Victoria, Australia. Balgownie was (i) the
winner of “Resort Style Accommodation of the Year” awarded
by Tourism Accommodation Australia (Victoria) four years in
a row from 2016 to 2019 and in 2022; (ii) the 2021 Bronze
winner and 2022 Silver Winner of “Business Event Venues” of
Victorian Tourism Awards awarded by Victorian Tourism Industry
Council; and (iii) awarded as “Hotel Bar of the Year” by Tourism
Accommodation Australia in 2022. In addition, the Head Chef and
Executive Chef of Balgownie's newest restaurant was the finalist
of Tourism Accommodation Australia (Victoria) for Best Chef
in 2021 and the winner of Tourism Accommodation Australia
(Victoria) for Best Chef in 2019 respectively, which ensures
the high quality of the resort’s food and beverage offerings.
Balgownie consists of a piece of freehold land of approximately
29 hectares with a 7-hectare vineyard growing Pinot and
Chardonnay wine grapes and offers 70 luxury accommodation
rooms, including a restaurant, cellar door, conference and
function facilities, health club facilities and day spa, which
generates additional ancillary income from the guests.

Balgownie is partnering with the Spa Partner, which has a
network of over 120 day spas in Australia and New Zealand, for
the brand-new day spa in Balgownie. Pursuant to the agreement
entered between the Group and the Spa Partner, the Group will
provide the premises and the Spa Partner will contribute the
capital required to fit out the spa. The Group will receive rental
income from the Spa Partner on a percentage of the revenue
generated by the Spa Partner. In addition, the Group will also
sell the Spa Partner’s products and services in the spa venues to
generate additional income related to the day spa. The day spa
was opened at the end of June 2022 and the Group launched a
new “Wellness Retreat” product/service with the Spa Partner and
is the first to provide such product/service in Yarra Valley. The
new “Wellness Retreat” was introduced with wellness packages/
experiences that include (i) nutrition and nourishment by the
provision of curated menus for a healthy diet; and (ii) calming
activities such as meditation, yoga, pilates and gigong. The Group
intends to leverage the brand and client base of the Spa Partner
and gain new visitations in the leisure and corporate segment,
and attract more customers to Balgownie.
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group intends to brand Balgownie as an integrated resort
based travel destination for leisure and event-hosting. The
restaurant accepts bookings from off-site customers and in-
house guests staying at Balgownie to enjoy the dining experience.
With the restaurant (together with the existing function centre)
reaching a maximum capacity of approximately 270 customers,
the Group provides banquet services such as hosting weddings
or events to broaden the Group’s income stream. The Group
believes that the ambience of the restaurants is essential to
attract customers to host lavish events and improve their dining
experience. In April 2023, Balgownie introduced a new “Wine
Club”, a club pertaining to the subscription-based model offering
members exclusive benefits and access to Balgownie’s wines and
resort products and services. As of the end of December 2023,
the ‘Wine Club’ has acquired over 700 club members. The Group
expects the member base to increase to over 3,000 members in
the next 24 months, which will help generating additional income
and growth across the resort’s products and services.

The occupancy rate of Balgownie for the year under review
was approximately 74% (2022: 75%), which had decreased by
approximately 1% comparing with that for last year. Currently,
Balgownie has 70 (2022: 70) luxury rooms, a restaurant, a cellar
door and a day spa. The Group regularly reviews and refines
Balgownie’s products, services and interior design, enhances
its hardware, and arranges refurbishment if necessary to stay
competitive in the market.

In July 2023, the Group entered into a renovation agreement
(as amended and supplemented from time to time), pursuant to
which a third-party contractor has agreed to carry out renovation
work (“Renovation Work"”) for Balgownie. Details of the
renovation agreement are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 21 July 2023 and 10 November 2023.

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$58,773,000 (2022: HK$63,834,000) from its
segment of provision of hospitality and related services and sales
of food and beverage in the hotel business in Australia, which
amounted to a decrease of approximately HK$5,061,000 or
approximately 8%. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease
in the number of occupied rooms in Balgownie during the year
under review as a result of the Renovation Work.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Provision of services through network media

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$57,000 (2022: HK$67,133,000) from its
segment of provision of services through network media. The
significant decrease in the revenue generated from this segment
of the Group during the year under review was mainly due to the
Walletku Disposal, further details of which are set out below.

On 2 June 2022, Noble Tack International Limited (“Second
Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and a then controlling shareholder of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings Limited (“Dynamic Indonesia Holdings”), entered
into a subscription agreement (“Subscription Agreement”)
with Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and Dynamic Investment
Holdings Limited (“First Subscriber”), a then non-controlling
shareholder of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Seamless Group Inc. (“Grantor”), pursuant to
which Dynamic Indonesia Holdings agreed to allot and issue
5,000 subscription shares (“Subscription Shares”) in five
tranches (with each tranche of 1,000 Subscription Shares) for the
aggregate subscription price of US$1,000,000 (“Subscription”).
The Subscription Shares represent 20% of the enlarged issued
share capital of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings upon completion
of the Subscription. Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription
Agreement, the Second Subscriber decided not to subscribe
for the first tranche of the Subscription and the First Subscriber
agreed to subscribe for all the 1,000 Subscription Shares under
the first tranche of the Subscription and paid the first tranche
subscription price of US$200,000 to Dynamic Indonesia Holdings
immediately after the entering into of the Subscription Agreement.
Upon completion of the first tranche of the Subscription, Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings was owned as to approximately 51.43% by
the First Subscriber and approximately 48.57% by the Second
Subscriber, respectively, therefore causing the completion of the
first tranche of the Subscription to constitute a deemed disposal
(i.e. the Walletku Disposal) pursuant to Rule 19.29 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Accordingly, Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and its
subsidiaries (including, PT Walletku Indompet Indonesia (“TNG
Indompet”)) (“Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Group”) ceased
to be subsidiaries of the Company and the financial results of the
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Group ceased to be accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The Group
recognised net gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$26,907,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 upon
completion of the first tranche of the Subscription.
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
IE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

On 2 June 2022, the Grantor also entered into an option deed
("Option Deed"”) with the Second Subscriber, pursuant to which
the Grantor agreed to grant to the Second Subscriber an option
for the right but not the obligation (“Put Option”) to require
the Grantor (or its nominee) to acquire all or part of the ordinary
shares of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings held by the Second
Subscriber (“Option Shares”) and all or part of the outstanding
shareholder’s loans of approximately US$2,050,000 from the
Second Subscriber (“Shareholder’s Loans”) upon exercise of the
Put Option which is exercisable at the discretion of the Second
Subscriber in accordance with the terms of the Option Deed. The
Second Subscriber has the discretion to determine the number
of the Option Shares and the amount of the Shareholder’s Loans
to be acquired by the Grantor (or its nominee) upon exercise
of the Put Option and the Second Subscriber shall notify the
Grantor such number of the Option Shares and amount of the
Shareholder’s Loans to be acquired by the Grantor (or its nominee)
in the option notice to be served by the Second Subscriber.

Details of the Walletku Disposal are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 2 June 2022 and 21 July 2022.

Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Agreement, the Second
Subscriber was entitled to subscribe for Subscription Shares under
the second, the third, the fourth and the fifth tranches of the
Subscription on 3 October 2022, 3 February 2023, 5 June 2023
and 5 October 2023, respectively, but it decided not to proceed
with such subscriptions. Upon completion of these four tranches
of the Subscription, an aggregate of 4,000 Subscription Shares
were allotted and issued to the First Subscriber at an aggregate
subscription price of US$800,000, resulting in the First Subscriber
and the Second Subscriber owning Dynamic Indonesia Holdings as
to approximately 59.2% and approximately 40.8%, respectively.

Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Group is principally engaged in
(i) Walletku Digital application, which is an electronic wallet
for deposit of money as well as offline and online payment to
merchants in Indonesia; (ii) sales of products of Indosat Ooredoo
Hutchison, which is the second largest mobile network operator in
Indonesia by market share; and (iii) Walletku E-commerce, which
is an online shopping platform in Indonesia.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Money Lending Business

The Group is engaged in the money lending business in Hong
Kong through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mark Profit Finance
Limited (“Mark Profit”), which is a holder of a money lender’s
licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the year under review, the Group
recorded interest income of approximately HK$5,709,000 (2022:
HK$3,387,000) from its money lending business, and interest
income of the Group increased mainly due to the increase in the
loans granted by the Group during the year under review. The
Group has been paying close attention to the market conditions
and will continue to monitor its resources to strive for the
development of its money lending business with prudent credit
procedures in accepting customers.

Mark profit grants loans to both corporate and individual
customers as its target clients. Before entering into any loan
agreement or before granting any loan extension, the Group
carries out credit assessments of the potential borrower’s or
borrower’s ability to make repayments under the loan agreement
and have due regard to the outcome of the credit assessment in
respect of affordability. In carrying out the credit assessment, the
Group considers (i) the potential borrower’s or borrower’s current
income; (ii) the potential borrower’s or borrower’s ability to
make repayments under the loan agreement as they fall due over
the life of the loan agreement; and (iii) without the repayments
having a significant adverse impact on the potential borrower’s
or borrower’s overall financial situation. In addition, the Group
also considers (i) the total amount of the principal and interest
payable; (ii) the duration of the term for repayment of the loan;
(i) the frequency and amounts of the repayments; (iv) the interest
rate; (v) purpose of obtaining the loan; (vi) the employment or
business of the potential borrower or borrower; and (vii) current
credit and financial information on the potential borrower or
borrower. For loan applications that pass the Group’s credit
assessment, the loan applications are subject to final approval by
the credit committee of the Group. Credit committee members
are appointed by the Board and the quorum of the committee is
at least 2 committee members.

Composition of the credit committee

Operation of the money lending business of the Group is overseen
by the credit committee of the Group.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the credit committee of
the Group consists of Ms. Lam Ching Yee and Mr. Fong Chak
Kiu, both of whom are executive Directors. Please refer to the
section headed “Directors Profile” of this Annual Report for their
biographies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

Credit assessment process

Prior to grant of a loan to a borrower, the Group carries out the
credit assessment process on the potential borrower. The credit
assessment process comprises three components:

(@)

(b)

(c)

16

Documents requirement

Verification of identity, income and asset, and address
proofs. All the above required documents are required to be
up-to-date which generally are issued within three months
from the date of application.

General requirement

For unsecured loan, the maximum loan tenor shall be 12
months, extension of which will be subject to a new credit
assessment to be conducted by the credit committee.

For secured loan, the maximum loan amount shall be 80%
of the value of collateral with maximum loan tenor of 20
years, whereas secured loan refers to loan which is fully
secured by real properties, listed shares, vehicles and/or any
assets which is marketable with solid value, subject to credit

assessment, as collaterals.

In addition, for individual customer, the potential customer
should be 21 years old or above.

Credit requirement

For unsecured loan, the following criteria are considered
during the credit assessment:

e financial background of the borrower;

e income level, assets owned and repayment ability;

e other financial information and background of
corporation (if applicable);

e internal and external credit checking results; and

e any personal/corporate guarantee provided.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For unsecured personal loan, the affordability assessment of the
borrower’s ability to make repayments should be performed in
accordance with the 15 licensing conditions for money lenders
licence as required by the Companies Registry. The following
factors are considered (where applicable) during the credit
assessment:

e the total amount of the principal and interest payable;

e the duration of the loan;

e the frequency and amounts of the repayments;

e the interest rate;

e the employment or business of the borrower; and

e current credit and financial information of the borrower.
Reasonable steps would be taken to determine the amount,
or make a reasonable estimate, of the current income and
expenditure of the borrower. Under certain circumstances, the
borrower’s assets such as savings would also be considered.
Sufficient information would be obtained for the aforesaid
affordability assessment. For monitoring purpose, relevant records

of such assessment are properly maintained.

For secured loan, the following criteria are considered during the
credit assessment:

valuation of the to-be-pledged collateral,
e land search record (if applicable);

e acceptable and marketable title to the to-be-pledged
collateral;

e marketability and liquidity of the to-be-pledged collateral;

e legitimacy of the to-be-pledged collateral;

° the financial background of the borrower;

e the personal background or background of the corporation;
e internal and external credit checking results; and

° legal advice (if necessary).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE 5T am e D

Determination of major terms of loans

Terms of the loans (such as amount, interest rate and duration)
will be determined based on the prevailing interest rates offered
by the banks and money lenders in the market, the background of
the borrower (in particular, his income and assets, credit history,
etc.), the relationship with the borrower, payment record (for
repeated borrowers), the duration and amount of the loan and
the security provided (if applicable).

In general, repeated borrowers with good payment records and
sound financial background would have potentially lower default
rate, and would be granted loans with interest rates at the
relatively lower end of the range of the prevailing interest rates
offered by the money lenders in the market at the time of the
grant or renewals.

Monitoring of loan recoverability

The designated officer of the Group monitors the repayment of
principals and interests of the loans according to the terms of
the loan agreements. The Group generally does not continuously
monitor the financial position of the borrowers after the grant of
the loans, except there is default or potential default of the loan.
In case of irregularities in repayment, overdue or default of the
loan, the designated officer of the Group would follow up and
negotiate with the borrowers for the repayment, and promptly
report to the credit committee.

Customers

Customers for the money lending business of the Group are
business partners or potential business partners of the Group
or persons introduced by the business partners, management
or staff of the Group. Nevertheless, the management or staff of
the Group are not allowed to engage in approving or processing
credit transactions or extending credit involving a customer who is
his immediate family member.

Other than an age restriction for individual customers (i.e. the
potential customer should be 21 years old or above), there are no
specific benchmark for target/potential customers of the Group.
Notwithstanding the above, potential customers and their loan
applications will be assessed on a case-by-case basis during the
credit assessment process as detailed above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loan portfolio as at 31 December 2023

The table below sets out the details of the loans which were

outstanding as at 31 December 2023:

EE D—_I-IIIH:H)EZ )Itﬁ'

R-E-=fF+-A=1+—HAZEB&%4H5

BZENEEE

Interest rate

T%‘Eﬁﬂ N ZEC=F+"RA=+—HHXE

Outstanding

per annum balance as at
Principal and repayment 31 December 2023
amount Tenure of schedule MRIEZ=%F
of loan Date of grant the loan FAER +—-BA=+—H
EXAE£E RHBH EREAR BRI e SEPEEE
(HK$) (Note 1) (HK$)
(870) (HyzE1) (85%)
Loan 1 2,800,000 5/1/2023 1 year 12%; Quarterly 2,868,047
8 “ET=F—HEH —F 12% ; 8FE
Loan 2 3,400,000 2/2/2023 1 year 12%; Quarterly 3,429,063
B™m2 _E_=%"HC”H —F 12% ; BFE
Loan 3 4,000,000 14/2/2023 1 year 12%; Quarterly 4,059,327
B3 “ET-FZ/+W™H —F 2% ; 5E
Loan 4 4,750,000 1/3/2023 1 year 12%; Quarterly 4,831,205
a4 BT =F=H—H —F 12% ; BFE
Loan 5 8,000,000 15/7/2023 1 year 11%; Quarterly 8,130,192
EM5 “EC=FtA+EH —F "M% ; BFE
Loan 6 500,000 17/7/2023 1 year 12%; Quarterly 504,274
&6 “_E=FtA+tH —F 12% ; BFE
Loan 7 (Note 2) 19,000,000 18/9/2023 1 year 12%; Quarterly 19,074,959
&7 (fysE2) “BC=FAA+NB —HF 12% ; BFE
Loan 8 1,196,772  7/10/2023 1 year 11%; Quarterly 1,216,248
&8 “EBC=F+AtH —F 1% ; BFE
Loan 9 317,088 9/10/2023 1 year 10.5%; Quarterly 319,551
&9 T =F+8NH —F 10.5% ; BFE
Loan 10 2,400,000 17/10/2023 1 year 11%; Quarterly 2,439,058
&0 “BC=F+HA+tH —#F "M% ; BFE
Loan 11 1,300,000 7/12/2023 1 year 12%; Quarterly 1,310,258
BMn “BEC=F+2AtH —F 12% ; BFE
Loan 12 3,233,291 8/12/2023 1 year 11%; Quarterly 3,283,961
B2 “EC=H#+"ANR —F 1% ; BE
Notes: B sE -
(1) The terms of the loan commenced from the drawdown date of the (1) EFHREERINEHERZBHAEE -

relevant loan.

(2)  This loan is a secured loan.

@)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 6 borrowers who were
all individuals, with merchant and professional background.
The Group's loans and loan interest receivable balance (net of
provision) amounted to approximately HK$50,829,000 (2022:
HK$37,900,000), out of which approximately HK$50,513,000
(2022: HK$37,900,000) (representing approximately 99.4%
(2022: 100%) of the total loans and loan interest receivables of
the Group) was due from the five (2022: four) largest borrowers
of the Group and approximately HK$18,844,000 (2022:
HK$19,159,000) (representing approximately 37.1% (2022:
50.6%) of the total loans and loan interest receivables of the
Group) was due from the largest borrower of the Group. All of
the borrowers of the loans are independent of the Company
and its connected persons (as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules), have no past business or deals with the Company
other than being repeated borrowers (as the case may be).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, one of the loans receivables
of the Group was secured.

As at 31 December 2023, the loans receivables had a fixed term
of 12 months (2022: 6 to 12 months), with interest being charged
at rates ranging from 10.5% to 12% per annum (2022: 10.5% to
11% per annum).

The Group recorded a provision for impairment loss on loan and
interest receivables of approximately HK$175,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$70,000).

The amount of loan loss allowance made during the year ended
31 December 2023 was assessed by an independent valuer
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards, specifically
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 9 Financial Instruments,
details of which are set out in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The amount of loss allowance was determined by multiplying
the sum of the loans and the corresponding interest receivable
balance by the relevant credit loss rate. The credit loss rates of
the loans were determined with an assumption that the market
trends and conditions where the Company operates will not
deviate significantly from economic forecasts in general and the
probabilities of defaults were extracted from public sources by the
valuer.

The Company has complied with the requirements set out
in Chapter 19 and/or 20 of the GEM Listing Rules when it
granted the loans to the borrowers. There was no agreement,
arrangement, understanding or undertaking (whether formal or
informal and whether express or implied) between the Company
and any of its connected persons (as defined in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules) with respect to the grant of the loans to the
borrowers.

NE_=F+"_B=1+—H » "EBH6%
ERANEBERERBEESESHNEAN) o &
ESEERWERKRERF BMAERRORER) A
#50,829,0008 70 (—& — — 4 : 37,900,000
HB7T) » HP4950,513,0008 0 (ZE - _F ¢
37,900,000 7t) ((h A EEEWER R ERF
BAEEEAI99.4% (ZE " "4 : 100%)) AU
REBA(CE-_F  MARERARIE > M
#918,844,000/8 0 (Z & - "4 : 19,159,000
B (A EEBRKERKERF BAEZEL
371% (T2 24 1 50.6%)) AENAEER R
KERATIE - ZEERWMEERAHEETL
RAATREEEA LT (EHERGEM EHRE]
F20%) » HAKXABWEBEERIZS B
EAEEERARRIBRME) I ©

N B =FR B _H#+_/A=+—H"
AEBHAP-IBREKERFIRF o

N_E_=—F+"H=+—H > EWRERNE
EHRA12EA(CZE__F : 62 12@A1) »
FRENAFI105%F12%(ZB__F | 7|
ENF10.5%FE11%) ©

BE _Z_=H+_A=+—HLEEE &K
EEBEEREFRIEBREEEEBY
175,00038 70 (T2 " "4 : 70,0003 7T) ©

REE_Z_=F+_B=1+—HLLFEFFF
BB RUE E E s 2R b A B I (B AT ST 18
BEEBYBRSERREBEER (5!
ERBYBREENFEIRERITE )R
B B8 E S _=F+_F=+—H
I FEZEREMBRENT2 - BERAEEE
Thi@ B L S R EARE FE USR] S A5 BR = M1 SR LIAE
BIEEREXMEE - EREEHEEXZEE
SRR AT EEBATENTIZBE KRR
GARIBREZERCERR > MENBMEBMGEE
EFEEN B AR ©

TABRBERAERERFGEZTGEM L™
RAIEI19K,H20EFIERTE - AAFHEE
ERAEAL(EERGEM EHRAIE208) 2
B R A AR A MERE L AT HE ~ %
BE ~ SRR EREE (PR ERIFIER R AR
REEETR) ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Assets Investments Business

During the year under review, the Group recorded a segment
loss from its assets investment business of approximately
HK$31,631,000 (2022: HK$1,856,000), and the change was
primarily attributable to the change from the Group’s share of
profits of associates of approximately HK$12,869,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to the Group’s share of losses of
associates of approximately HK$14,692,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL") of approximately HK$8,282,000 (2022:
HK$2,244,000), which was mainly attributable to the fair value
loss of approximately HK$4,676,000 recorded for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: HK$4,146,000), resulting from the
Put Option. In addition, the Group recorded fair value gains on
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") of approximately HK$28,054,000 (2022: fair value
losses of HK$40,277,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023, of which approximately HK$28,348,000 represented the
unrealised gain on investment in equity instrument designated at
FVTOCI in relation to 45,779,220 shares in LEO Group Co., Ltd.
(“LEQ") held by the Group.

On 23 December 2022, Absolutely Talent Technology Limited, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Absolutely
Talent”), as vendor, entered into an equity transfer agreement
("Equity Transfer Agreement”) with Heals Treasury Company
Limited (“Heals Treasury”), as purchaser, pursuant to which
Absolutely Talent agreed to sell, and Heals Treasury agreed to
acquire, 159,720 series B shares of Heals Healthcare (Asia) Limited
("Heals"”), representing approximately 7.69% equity interest in
Heals (“Heals Shares”), at the consideration of US$5,120,623
(equivalent to approximately HK$39,838,000) (“Heals
Disposal”). Completion of the Heals Disposal was conditional
upon the cancellation of the Heals Call Option (as defined below),
which could not be waived by any party to the Equity Transfer
Agreement and if it was not fully fulfilled by 31 January 2023, the
Equity Transfer Agreement and the terms and conditions thereof
would immediately and automatically terminate, in which case,
no party to the Equity Transfer Agreement shall have any further
obligations or liabilities under or arising from the Equity Transfer
Agreement, save for the accrued rights or liabilities of any party
to the other party in respect of the terms herein at or before
such termination. Completion of the Heals Disposal took place in
February 2023.

EE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

BERERD

REEEE » AERESE é&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ S ER
§5$5é731,631,000%n<_$:: \ﬁllré?
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at the date of the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Group
indirectly held the Heals Shares and the right granted by Heals to
Absolutely Talent to subscribe for up to 638,880 series B shares
of Heals (“Relevant Shares”) at a price of US$31.30 per share
pursuant to a share deed (“Share Deed”) entered into between
Absolutely Talent and Heals dated 8 October 2021, which shall
be exercisable from 8 October 2021 to 31 December 2023 (both
days inclusive) (“Heals Call Option”), all of which were classified
as FVTPL in the consolidated financial statement of the Company
prior to the Heals Disposal. Immediately after the completion of
the Heals Disposal, the Group no longer held any equity interest
or derivative financial assets in Heals.

Details of the Heals Disposal are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 23 December 2022.

On 10 May 2023, E/B8mE=F &k AR EB%(in English for
identification purpose only, Shanghai Third Intermediate People’s
Court) (“Shanghai Court”) announced that Shanghai Well
C.P.A. Partnership (L /BZEMEEMEHEM(EESE)) has
been appointed as the administrator (“Administrator”) in
respect of the insolvent liquidation of Jixiang, a then wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Liquidation”), following
its acceptance of the application made by the Purchaser for the
Liquidation, further details of which have been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 February 2023. On 15 May
2023, Jixiang received a list from the Administrator for the items
that need to be handed over to the Administrator, including its
assets, seals, and books and records (“Handover”).

Due to the loss of control over Jixiang upon the effective date
of the Handover as of 31 May 2023, with effect from such date,
Jixiang was deemed to be disposed of by the Group and it has
been deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. After the deemed disposal of Jixiang on 31 May
2023, Jixiang ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and the
financial assets at FVTOCI held by Jixiang were deemed to be
disposed of by the Group.

Further details of the deemed disposal of Jixiang are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 19 May 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Directors consider securities investments with a carrying
amount that accounts for more than 5% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2023 as significant securities
investments of the Group. Details of the significant securities
investments of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

EE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

ERRSHEBRAERN T _=F+_H
=T HEERES%HNEFRERAEEN
BRE -R-T_=F+"B=+—
B> ®EEZEREFREFHFUOT !

BEARE

Percentage to
the Group's
total assets  Fair value change for
Investment fh4E@  the year ended 31 December 2023
Name Principal activity Interest held cost  Fairvalue BEQEz #HEZ-=H+"A=+-H
218 TEEH L 42 REMA ATE AL LEEZATEES
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at FVTPL
BATEZEEER K2 EHEE
World Biotech Regenerative Operation of a 35,650 28,697 29,190 6.61%  Unrealised gain and realised gain on
Medical Group Limited biopharmaceutical drug shares investment in equity instrument
("World Biotech”) development centre, a (i.e.3.32%) designated at FVTPL of approximately

production plant, and a
clinical centre

BREMNEBLERER EE-MENREEY 35,650
BRATF &R —HEERE B&in
MRRENREBERR) R—ERERAL (B13.32%)

HK$120,000 and HK$335,000,
respectively, (2022: HK$175,000 and
HK$Nil, respectively) were recognised
during the year. No dividend income
was recognised during the year.

EEARATERBRENRZRAT
ERBEZRERWHRERWE NN
120,000 70 K#49335,00078 ¢
(ZEZ2F  HRI%175,00087Tk
SR NERESD o ENIL RIS
REBA o
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Prospects of the Group’s significant securities investments
World Biotech

World Biotech (together with its subsidiaries, “World
Biotech Group”) are principally engaged in the operation of
a biopharmaceutical drug development centre, a production
facility and a clinical centre. World Biotech was founded in 2020
and operates its businesses under the brand BioCreatrix. On
15 October 2021, Absolutely Talent entered into a subscription
agreement (“World Biotech Shares Subscription Agreement”)
with World Biotech to subscribe for 50,000 shares of World
Biotech, representing approximately 4.65% equity interest in
World Biotech, and the investment cost of such investment was
HK$40,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received
10,650 shares of World Biotech, as part of the final dividends
for the year ended 31 December 2021 declared by Luck Key
Investment Limited (“Luck Key"), an associate of the Group.

Pursuant to the World Biotech Shares Subscription Agreement,
World Biotech guarantees (“Profit Guarantee”) that either the
average of the net profits of World Biotech for each of the two
financial years ending 30 September 2025 or the valuation of
World Biotech on or before 31 December 2025 would not be less
than the agreed amounts, failing which World Biotech shall pay
compensation to Absolutely Talent.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed of
25,000 shares of World Biotech to a third party and the disposal
resulted in a gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL of
approximately HK$335,000 being recorded by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate fair value of the Group's
35,650 shares or 3.32% equity interest in World Biotech and
the Profit Guarantee were approximately HK$29,190,000,
representing approximately 6.6% of the total assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The fair value of the Group’s investment in World Biotech as at 31
December 2023 was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out by an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group, using the discounted cash flow method and Black
Scholes Model, which are generally accepted approaches in the
industry. Assumptions used in the valuation include: (a) there is no
material change in the existing conditions which might adversely
affect the business of World Biotech; (b) the financial projection
in respect of World Biotech was prepared on a reasonable basis
that reflects estimates that have been arrived at after due and
careful consideration by the senior management of the Group;
and (c) the economic condition will not deviate significantly from
economic forecasts. Inputs including (1) the business nature and
financial reports of World Biotech; and (2) reliable sources of
market data were applied in the valuation. There was neither
significant change in the value of the inputs and assumptions
from those used in the valuation at the acquisition date nor
subsequent change to the valuation method adopted.

The following is the valuation parameters in assessing the fair
value of the Profit Guarantee:

Expiry date
e B HR

Valuation date

(EUEA=EG

Remaining period to expiration

e Al 2 3 Bk HA R

Discount rate

BB

Consideration

RE

Current valuation

ERIhE

Probability of achieving the Profit Guarantee
BIAM RV
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Total fair value of World Biotech as at 31 December 2023:

R_EB_=F+-F=+—H RIKEYR
BEBRZ A TEMEE !

As at

31 December

2023

RZEZ=F

+-A=+—H

The Group's equity interest of World Biotech 3.32%

REBRIRKEYR R BEBRIVKRE

Fair value of shares held by the Group and the Profit Guarantee HK$'000 29,190

REBEMRFRD RaFERZ A TE FHTT

With regard to the prospects of World Biotech based on the
information available to the Group, the Directors noted that
World Biotech completed the construction of a production
plant that complies with the design, installation and operational
qualifications of the good manufacturing practice and the
production plant obtained the accreditation in 2023, upon
which World Biotech is able to manufacture its own clinical
trail products for obtaining authorization from the Food and
Drug Administration and the Hong Kong Department of Health
for human clinical trials through an investigational new drug
application and to distribute the bi-products globally. With the
recent provisional approval of the Daycare Procedure Centre
Licence from the Hong Kong Department of Health, the next
milestone for World Biotech is the formation of an in-house
institutional review board to obtain the approval to conduct
inhouse principle-investigator-initiated clinical trials, enabling it
to commence the Phase 1 personalised cancer vaccines human
clinical trial at World Biotech’s oncology clinical centre, which is
currently expected to be in 2024,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Luck Key

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 10,650 ordinary
shares of Luck Key, representing 48.33% of the equity interest
of Luck Key, the investment cost of which was approximately
HK$56,511,000. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
this investment was approximately HK$40,287,000, representing
approximately 9% of the total assets of the Group as at 31
December 2023. During the year under review, the share of Luck
Key’s total comprehensive income of the investment attributable
to the Group amounted to approximately HK$12,521,000 (2022:
HK$14,165,000). No realised gain was recorded by the Group
with respect to its investment in Luck Key for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil). The Group received dividend income
of approximately HK$34,314,000 from this investment during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$36,005,000).

Luck Key together with its subsidiaries, (“Luck Key Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of medical diagnostic
and health check services. Luck Key Group has commenced its
business since 2006 and has a long and well established operating
history. Luck Key Group provides a wide range of medical
diagnostic and health check services, including high-end imaging
and laboratory examinations to the customers through operation
of health check centres and laboratories in Hong Kong. As at the
date of this Annual Report, Luck Key Group has a considerable
scale of operation as it operates eleven health check centres
and two laboratories in Hong Kong under various brand names
(including “Hong Kong Health Check” (F#E#81%)), with its
flagship centre located in Jordan, Kowloon.

During the year under review, the revenue of Luck Key amounted
to approximately HK$218,216,000 (2022: HK$410,754,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 47%. The loss
attributable to the shareholders of Luck Key for the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$26,090,000 (2022: profit
attributable to the shareholders of HK$29,576,000). Luck Key
Group has assembled a professional and experienced group of
management personnel with extensive experience and in-depth
understanding of the industry. The management of Luck Key will
strive to improve the operational efficiency of its health check
business so as to enhance its competitiveness in the market and
its profitability.

The Group will continue to hold the investments in its portfolio,
unless there are changes in its investment strategy or potential
opportunities in realising its existing investments in securities
arise, taking into account the prospects of the issuers of the
securities investments, and the Group'’s objective to optimise the
returns from its investment portfolios and create value for the
Shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, it is expected that the stabilisation of the global
pandemic situation, the removal of the pandemic-related social
distancing restrictions and the labour market recovery will boost
domestic consumption. However, such positive effects will likely
be offset to a certain extent by the fall in general asset prices as
a result of the quantitative tightening measures adopted by the
major economies and the uncertainties arising from the recent
economic and banking turmoil, the Russo-Ukrainian War, the
Israeli-Palestinian conflict, and the Red Sea crisis. The development
of the global economic conditions will remain the key uncertainty
in relation to the revival of the global economy.

As Balgownie is partnering with the Spa Partner, for the brand
new day spa in Balgownie, under which the premises of the day
spa are provided by the Group, iot is expected that more revenue-
based rental income will be generated from the Spa Partner for
the Group as Balgownie gains more vistations from customers.
The Group will also sell the Spa Partner’s products and services
in the spa venues to create additional day spa-related income for
the Group. During the year under review, the Group launched a
new “Wellness Retreat” product/service with the Spa Partner and
was the first to provide such product/service in Yarra Valley. The
new “Wellness Retreat” was introduced with wellness packages/
experiences that include (i) nutrition and nourishment by the
provision of curated menus for a healthy diet; and (ii) calming
activities such as meditation, yoga, pilates and gigong. The Group
intends to leverage the brand and client base of the Spa Partner
and gain new visitations in the leisure and corporate segment,
and attract more customers to Balgownie. The restaurant at
Balgownie accepts bookings from off-site customers in addition
to in-house guests staying at Balgownie to enjoy the dining
experience. With the restaurant (together with the existing
function centre at Balgownie) reaching a maximum capacity of
approximately 270 customers, the Group will provide banquet
services such as hosting weddings or events to broaden the
Group's income stream. The Group intends to brand Balgownie
as an integrated resort based travel destination for leisure and
event-hosting. In April 2023, Balgownie introduced a new “Wine
Club”, a club generating to the subscription-based model offering
members exclusive benefits and access to Balgownie’s wines and
resort products and services. As of the end of December 2023,
the ‘Wine Club’ has acquired over 700 club members. The Group
expects the member base to increase to over 3,000 members in
the next 24 months, which will help generating additional income
and growth across the resort’s products and services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Going forward, the Group will continue to carry on its existing
businesses by formulation and implementation of its own
business plans and strategies and leveraging its own business
model, competitiveness and strengths so as to develop, maintain
and enhance its existing businesses, which will be viable and
sustainable and will be able to create value and investment return
for the Shareholders.

Strategic Update

Entering into 2024, both the regional and global markets
will unquestionably remain sensitive to geopolitical and
macroeconomic uncertainties. The Group’s focus will be on (i)
maintaining operational resilience in times of unpredictability
and challenges; (ii) remaining competitive and forward-
thinking, skillfully executing its strategy; and (iii) exploring new
opportunities, experimenting and moving steadily and boldly
towards greater success.

The Group’s focus will remain on the successful execution of its
strategic plans and working together with the regulators and
other stakeholders to support the prosperity and sustainability of
the markets and communities where the Group operates. Also,
the Group’s commitment to strengthening its competitiveness will
remain a core focus in the years ahead. The Group is confident
that the efforts it has been making will position it strongly for the
next phase of its journey and generate value over the longer term.
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IE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2023, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$441,502,000 (2022: HK$594,830,000)
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$6,569,000 (2022: HK$9,313,000), among which
approximately 47% (2022: 33%) were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, 14% (2022: 1%) were denominated in United
States dollars and 39% (2022: 65%) were denominated in
Australian dollars. While none of the cash and cash equivalents
as at 31 December 2023 was denominated in Renminbi,
approximately 1% of the cash and cash equivalents as at
31 December 2022 was denominated in Renminbi. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had borrowings repayable within
one year (or on demand) of approximately HK$38,439,000
(2022: HK$83,822,000). These borrowings bore interest at rates
ranging from 6% to 11% per annum (2022: 2.9% to 11% per
annum), among which approximately 15% (2022: 68%) were
subject to fixed interest rates. Out of the total borrowings as
at 31 December 2023, approximately 89% (2022: 32%) were
denominated in Australian dollars and approximately 11% (2022:
17%) was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. While none of
the total borrowings as at 31 December 2023 was denominated
in Renminbi, approximately 51% of the total borrowings as at
31 December 2022 was denominated in Renminbi. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had borrowing facilities to the extent
of approximately HK$89,910,000 (2022: HK$123,737,000). As
at 31 December 2023, approximately HK$65,959,000 (2022:
HK$115,329,000) of the facilities had been utilised by the Group.
There is no seasonality in relation to the borrowing requirements
of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated
on the basis of total liabilities to total assets) was 0.28 times (2022:
0.50 times) and its net debt-to-equity capital ratio (calculated
as the total trade and other payables, accruals and provision,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, derivative financial
liabilities, convertible loans, and lease liabilities less pledged time
deposit and cash and cash equivalents, over equity attributable to
the Shareholders) was 0.34 times (2022: 0.76 times).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$317,506,000 ( 2022: HK$296,239,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had borrowings of
approximately HK$65,959,000 (2022: HK$115,329,000). Certain
loans are subject to the fulfilment of covenants commonly found
in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group
was to breach the covenants, the draw down facilities would
become repayable on demand. In addition, the Group’s certain
loan agreements contain clauses which give the lenders the right
at their sole discretion to demand immediate repayment at any
time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with the
covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:
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In the second year B_F 5,759 5,322
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoEFLF(BEBEMF) 21,761 26,185
65,959 115,329
Note: BoEE
The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group’s rEEEEZSESEANXBENT ¢
borrowings are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=HF B R

Effective interest rate: BRI
Fixed-rate borrowings .E%‘Jffﬁ&
Variable-rate borrowings FEHEEE

6.00-11.00%
6.27-7.40%

3.65-11.00%
2.90-6.04%

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK 31



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE

During the year under review, the Group mainly generated
revenue and incurred costs in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi,
Australian dollars and Indonesian Rupiah. The Group did not
invest in any derivative product for hedging during the year
under review. Nevertheless, the Group will keep monitoring its
foreign currency risk and when there are uncertainties or material
fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates, the Group will consider
using appropriate hedging instruments, including futures and
forward contracts in managing the Group’s exposure in relation
to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

While certain borrowing facilities of the Group as at 31
December 2023 were secured by freehold land and buildings of
approximately HK$85,162,000, borrowing facilities of the Group
as at 31 December 2022 were secured by freehold land and
buildings of approximately HK$85,450,000 and financial assets at
FVTOCI of approximately HK$91,701,000.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Significant capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SHARE PREMIUM CANCELLATION

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 June
2022, the Shareholders approved the proposal (“Share Premium
Cancellation”) to cancel the entire amount standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company to nil with
the credit arising therefrom to be transferred to the contributed
surplus account of the Company and to authorise the Board to
apply such amount in such manner as permitted under the laws
of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-Laws").
The implementation of the Share Premium Cancellation did not
involve any reduction in the authorised or issued share capital of
the Company, or any reduction in the nominal value of the Shares
or alteration of the trading arrangements concerning the Shares.
The Share Premium Cancellation took effect on 13 June 2022.

Details of the Share Premium Cancellation are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 26 April 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated 3 May 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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DISPOSAL OF ZHIQU

On 7 December 2015, Jixiang, Mr. Xu lJialiang, Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
(collectively, the “Vendors”), F/BEBESHE AR (in English,
for identification purpose, Shanghai Zhiqu Advertisement Co., Ltd.)
(“Zhiqu") and LEO entered into a sale and purchase agreement (as
amended and supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated
11 January 2016) (“Zhiqu SP Agreement”), pursuant to which
LEO agreed to acquire, and the Vendors agreed to sell, the entire
equity interest of Zhiqu (“Zhiqu Disposal”). The Vendors and
LEO also entered into the performance compensation agreement
("Performance Compensation Agreement”) in relation
to the adjustments to the total consideration for the Zhiqu
Disposal. The total consideration shall be subject to adjustments
("Adjustments”, each an “Adjustment”) in accordance with
the Performance Compensation Agreement in the manner as
stipulated below:

For the purpose of the Adjustments, the “Audited NOP" is Zhiqu's
audited net operating profit after tax, after adjustments for, where
applicable, any non-recurring and exceptional gains or losses,
whichever is lower, that are not related to the ordinary business
of Zhiqu, attributable to shareholders of the parent company
of Zhiqu as deduced from the audited consolidated financial
statements of Zhiqu for the relevant financial year ended 31
December 2016 (“FY2016"), financial year ended 31 December
2017 ("FY2017") and financial year ended 31 December 2018
("FY2018") (each a “Guaranteed FY"). The Vendors severally
(but among Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, jointly and
severally) undertook to LEO that:

(i)  the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 shall be not less than
RMB58,000,000 (“2016 Target NOP");

(i)  the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 shall be not less than
RMB75,400,000 (“2017 Target NOP"); and

(iii) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 shall be not less than
RMB98,020,000 (“2018 Target NOP").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Vendors and LEO agreed that the amount of Adjustment
("Adjustment Amount”) for each Guaranteed FY shall be settled
by the Vendors in the following order:

(i)  firstly, by the consideration shares allotted and issued to
Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, in proportion to the
consideration shares allotted and issued to them (“Xu’s
Shares”);

(i) if the Xu's Shares shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, secondly, in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng in proportion to the cash consideration
received by them (“Xu’s Cash”);

(i) if Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng have not fully
compensated LEO, thirdly, by the consideration shares
allotted and issued to the Group (“Jixiang's Shares”),

(iv) if the Xu's Shares, the Xu’'s Cash and the Jixiang’s Shares
shall be insufficient to settle the relevant Adjustment
Amount, fourthly, in cash by the Group, which is subject to
a cap of RMB25,510,009 (“Jixiang's Cash"); and

(v) if the Xu’s Shares, the Xu's Cash, the Jixiang’s Shares and
the Jixiang's Cash shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, finally, in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the balance.

Upon the end of each Guaranteed FY and the issue of the special
audit report of Zhiqu for FY2018, LEO shall engage qualified
auditors to conduct asset impairment test and issue a report in
respect of any asset impairment. Where the asset impairment
of Zhiqu as reflected in such report shall be more than the total
Adjustment Amount compensated by the Vendors to LEO, the
Vendors shall compensate LEO a sum equal to the difference
between such asset impairment and the Adjustment Amount then
compensated by the Vendors to LEO, which shall be settled first
by the consideration shares (the value of which shall be calculated
by multiplying such number of consideration shares with the
issue price), with payment of cash to settle the balance (if any).
All liabilities of the Group under the Performance Compensation
Agreement shall at all times be capped at the total consideration
received by it.
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Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2016 published by
LEO on 30 August 2017, the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016
amounted to RMB32,239,594.87, which is less than the 2016
Target NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2016
shall be RMB83,931,144.53 and shall be settled by 18,166,915
Xu's Shares (“FY2016 Compensation”). The Group is not
required to pay any compensation to LEO in respect of the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016.

As disclosed in LEO’s announcement dated 31 August 2017, Mr.
Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng shall pay additional compensation
which comprises (i) an aggregate of 21,993,909 LEO's shares to
LEO; and (ii) cash in the aggregate amount of RMB80,000,000
to Zhiqu, on or before 31 December 2017 (“Additional
Compensation”). According to LEO’s announcement dated 19
December 2017, such shares were returned to LEO for distribution
to its shareholders in December 2017.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2017 published by
LEO on 14 December 2018, the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017
amounted to RMB36,689,479.02, which is less than the 2017
Target NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2017
shall be RMB126,124,504.45 and shall be settled by 3,821,856
Xu's Shares and Xu’s Cash in the amount of RMB108,467,529.73
(“FY2017 Compensation”) taking into consideration the
Additional Compensation. However, as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 March 2019, according
to LEO’s announcement dated 15 March 2019, given that the
3,821,856 Xu's Shares were not sufficient to settle the FY2017
Compensation and Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng were
unable to provide the Xu's Cash in the amount of approximately
RMB108,468,000, in accordance with the settlement mechanism
above, the FY2017 Compensation shall be settled by 23,477,822
Jixiang's Shares and the Group shall also return the cash dividend
in the amount of approximately RMB506,000 received from LEO
to an account designated by LEO.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29
April 2019, on 29 April 2019, the Group received a letter from
the Shanghai International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (Shanghai International Arbitration Center)
("SHIAC") that LEO had commenced arbitration proceedings
against the Group to pursue the settlement of the portion of the
FY2017 Compensation that Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
were unable to satisfy (“Unsettled FY2017 Compensation”).
As at 31 December 2018, the Company has been preliminarily
advised by its legal advisers as to the laws of the PRC that the
Group should have a good chance to argue in such arbitration
proceeding that the demand from LEO for settlement of the
Unsettled FY2017 Compensation should not be upheld. The
hearing of the arbitration proceeding was held on 24 September
2019 before a panel of three arbitrators.

According to the announcement of LEO dated 8 November 2019,
based on the special audit report in respect of the Audited NOP of
Zhiqu for FY2018, the Audit NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounted
to RMB7,701,500, which is less than the 2018 Target NOP.

According to the announcement of LEO dated 3 December
2019, in view of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 being
RMB7,701,500, the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 shall be
RMB402,738,466.59 accordingly. The Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 shall be settled by the Xu’s Shares, and where such shares
are insufficient, by the Xu's Cash received by Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng. Given that Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
no longer hold any consideration shares, they will be required
to compensate LEO in cash. LEO will issue a demand notice for
compensation to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng after the
compensation proposal in respect of the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 has been approved by the shareholders of LEO. If Mr.
Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of the
demand notice, the Group will be required to settle the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 by 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares that it holds
and, if such shares are insufficient, by Jixiang’s Cash. In addition,
the Group will also be required to return the cash bonus in
relation to the Jixiang’s Shares that it has received from LEO, the
amount of which as determined in accordance with the amount
of compensation that the Group is required to pay. If there is
still a shortfall in the settlement of the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018, Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly
liable for such settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in
cash. LEO will seek approval from its shareholders in respect of
the above compensation proposal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE 5T am e D

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 6
December 2019, on 6 December 2019, the Group received
a letter from SHIAC indicating that it has approved LEO’s
application (“Application”) to make the following amendments
("“Amendments”) to certain demands made by LEO against
the Group in relation to the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017
Compensation:

(i) the transfer of 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) held by the Group to LEO;

(i) if the Group is unable to transfer the entire 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares (instead of 23,477,822 lixiang's Shares) to
LEO, the shortfall shall be compensated to LEO by way of
cash; and

(iii)  the return of the cash bonus in the amount of approximately
RMB989,000 (instead of approximately RMB506,000) in
relation to the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 lixiang's Shares) by the Group to LEO.

In the Application, further to the above amendments, LEO also
demands the Group to pay LEO (i) cash compensation in the
amount of approximately RMB25,510,000; and (i) an amount
which is calculated from the date of the Application, based on
the amount of unsettled compensation due from the Group to
LEO times the one-year loan prime rate published on 21 October
2019 as authorised by the People’s Bank of China (i.e. 4.20% per
annum), as compensation for the loss suffered by LEO.

It is stated in the Application that the Amendments are proposed
taking into consideration that (i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for
FY2018 as reported in the special audit report in respect of the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounting to approximately
RMB7,702,000, is less than the 2018 Target NOP (i.e.
RMB98,020,000); and (ii) any party in breach of the Performance
Compensation Agreement shall be liable for damages caused
to the parties not in default. It is stated in the letter that the
Group shall provide rebuttal opinion on evidence in respect
of the supplemental information attached to the Application
("Rebuttal”) within five working days after the receipt of the
letter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 10 December 2019, the Group has instructed its PRC
legal adviser to provide the Rebuttal and an objection to the
Application (“Objection”) to the SHIAC. In the Objection, the
Group requested the SHIAC to reject the Application, taking
into account that (i) the Application was made too late, which
would severely affect the normal process of the arbitration; and
(i) the inclusion of the compensation for the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 into the amended demands under the Application
would complicate the case and cause delay to the arbitration
proceedings, and more importantly, the LEO’s claims against
the Group in relation to the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 are
subject to (a) the LEO’s claims against Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng after the shareholders of LEO have given their approval
of the related compensation proposal; and (b) the failure of Mr.
Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of the demand
notice by LEO.

On 19 December 2019, LEO issued a letter to Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng demanding the settlement of the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018. In response to the demand letter issued by
LEO on 19 December 2019 as mentioned above, Mr. Xu lJialing
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng informed LEO in writing on 20 December
2019 that they were unable to pay the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 due to their financial difficulties. If Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of the demand letter,
the Group will be required to settle the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 by way of the 45,779,220 Jixiang’s Shares that it
holds and, if such shares are insufficient, by way of cash, which
is subject to a cap of approximately RMB25,510,000 (being the
amount of cash consideration received by the Group in relation to
the Zhiqu Disposal). In addition, the Group will also be required
to return the cash dividend in relation to the Jixiang’s Shares that
it has received from LEO, the amount of which as determined
in accordance with the amount of compensation the Group is
required to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such settlement, will
be required to compensate LEO in cash. As set out in LEO’s
announcement dated 14 January 2020, LEO has sought approval
from its shareholders in respect of the proposal to repurchase
and cancel the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares held by the Group as
partial settlement of the Adjustment Amount for FY2018.
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
IE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8
February 2021, the Group received the arbitral awards (“Arbitral
Awards”) issued by the SHIAC in respect of the demands made
by LEO against the Group in relation to the settlement of the
Unsettled FY2017 Compensation and the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018, the details of which are as follows:

(i) the Group shall transfer 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares it holds
to LEO and assist LEO with matters relating to the acquisition
and cancellation of such shares;

(i) if the Group is unable to transfer the entire 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares to LEO within 45 days from 5 February
2021 (i.e. the date on which the Arbitral Awards were
issued by the SHIAC (“Award Date"”)), the shortfall shall
be compensated by the Group to LEO by way of cash, the
amount of which shall be calculated using the following
formula: Amount of cash compensation to be paid to LEO =
Ax16.17/3.5

A, being the number of Jixiang's shares in shortfall;

(iii) the Group shall pay to LEO (a) cash compensation in the
amount of RMB9,626,612.92 (“Cash Compensation”); and
(b) damages. The amount of which shall be calculated using
the following formula: Amount of cash damages to be paid
to LEO =9,626,612.92 x 3.85%/365 x B

B, being the number of days from 4 December 2019 to the
date on which the Cash Compensation is fully paid by the
Group to LEO;

(iv) the Group shall return the cash bonus in the amount of
RMB987,523.17 to LEO;

(v) the Group shall pay to LEO RMB500,000 of the legal fees
incurred by LEO as a result of the disputes with the Group
over the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation
and the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 (“Disputes”); and

(vi) the Group and LEO shall bear 70% and 30% of the
arbitration fees incurred to settle the Disputes, respectively.
Given that LEO has fully settled the entire amount of the
arbitration fees of RMB1,632,434, the Group shall pay 70%
of such fees (i.e. RMB1,142,703.80) to LEO.

The Arbitral Awards set out above are final and they shall be
performed by the Group within 45 days from the Award Date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 20 October 2021, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange issued a
disciplinary action advance notification (“Notification”) to
Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, indicating that (i)
Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng had breached Rules
1.4, 2.3 and 11.11.1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Shares
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (November 2018 Revision)* (i
JIFEHRXZFAKRE LM HRE(2018F118185])) (“Shenzhen
Listing Rules”) and Rule 1.3 of the Guidelines of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange for the Standard Operation of Listed Companies
on the Small and Medium-sized Enterprise Board (2015 Revision)*
(RINFBHRZXZPAF/NEER ETH AR RBEEIESI(20155F
&57)), given that (a) Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng failed
to fully compensate LEO in accordance with the Performance
Compensation Agreement; and (b) Jixiang did not pay the
compensation of RMB221 million to LEO in accordance with
the arbitration judgement made by the SHIAC, whereas Zhiqu's
audited net operating profit after tax and other prescribed
adjustments for the financial years ended 31 December 2016,
2017 and 2018 were less than RMB58,000,000, RMB75,400,000
and RMB98,020,000, respectively; and (ii) the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange intends to impose the disciplinary action of the
circulation of a criticism notice on Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, pursuant to Rule 17.2 of the Shenzhen Listing Rules
and Rule 27 of the Standards of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for
Imposition of Disciplinary Action on Listed Companies (for Trial
Implementation)* CRIIFEFRZPT L ABACEEDBIEE
A7)

According to the Notification, if Jixiang, Mr. Xu lJialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng fail to submit their statements and pleadings
in writing and evidence in relation to the matters set out in the
Notification to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange by 27 October 2021,
they would be deemed to have waived their rights to make their
statements and pleadings.

As at the date of this Annual Report, no such written statements
and pleadings and evidence have been submitted by Jixiang to the

Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Details of the Notification are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 21 October 2021.

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
IE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

In February 2023, it came to the attention of the Board that LEO
has applied to Shanghai Third Intermediate People’s Court (_t
BHE =R ARER), for acceptance of an application for
insolvent liquidation against Jixiang on the grounds that (i) Jixiang
has failed to settle the Arbitral Awards within 45 days from the
award day in accordance with the arbitration judgement made
by the SHIAC on 5 February 2021, in respect of the demands
made by LEO against Jixiang in relation to the settlement of the
2017 Unsettled Compensation and the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018; and (ii) Jixiang would not be able to settle the Arbitral
Awards based on LEQ’s assessment of the financial position of
Jixiang.

On 10 May 2023, &M E=F 4k AERABT (in English for
identification purpose only, Shanghai Third Intermediate People’s
Court) (“Shanghai Court”) announced that Shanghai Well
C.P.A. Partnership (E/8ZEER AN SEFHEPM(EEEE)) has been
appointed as the administrator (“Administrator”) in respect of
the insolvent liquidation of Jixiang, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (“Liquidation”), following its acceptance
of the application made by the Purchaser for the Liquidation,
further details of which have been set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 7 February 2023. On 15 May 2023, Jixiang
received a list from the Administrator for the items that need to
be handed over to the Administrator, including its assets, seals,
and books and records (“Handover").

Due to the loss of control over Jixiang upon the effective date
of the Handover as of 31 May 2023, with effect from such date,
Jixiang was deemed to be disposed of by the Group and it has
been deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. After the deemed disposal of Jixiang on 31 May
2023, Jixiang ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and the
financial assets at FVTOCI held by Jixiang were deemed to be
disposed of by the Group.

Further details of the deemed disposal of Jixiang are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 19 May 2023.

Details of the Zhiqu Disposal and the calculation of the
Adjustment Amount for each Guaranteed FY are set out in (i)
the announcements of the Company dated 8 December 2015,
11 January 2016, 29 February 2016, 20 May 2016, 5 July 2016,
5 September 2016, 7 September 2016, 31 August 2017, 14
December 2018, 15 March 2019, 9 April 2019, 29 April 2019,
8 November 2019, 3 December 2019, 6 December 2019, 10
December 2019, 27 December 2019, 8 February 2021 and 7
February 2023; and (ii) the circular of the Company dated 11
February 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

The Group was involved in the following legal proceedings and
claims:

(a

On 19 December 2017, Ever Robust Holdings Limited
("Ever Robust”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received a writ of summons with a statement
of claim (“Writ") issued in the Court of First Instance
of the High Court of Hong Kong (“Court”) by Convoy
Global Holdings Limited (“Convoy”), Convoy Collateral
Limited (“Second Plaintiff”) and CSL Securities Limited
("Third Plaintiff”, together with Convoy and the Second
Plaintiff, collectively as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among
other defendants, Ever Robust (together with the other
defendants, collectively as the “Defendants”).

Based on the Writ, the orders sought by the Plaintiffs against
Ever Robust are as follows: (i) Convoy sought an order as
against, among others, Ever Robust, that the allotment of the
shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust
on 29 October 2015, be set aside; (i) the Second Plaintiff
and the Third Plaintiff sought an order that the financing
facilities granted by them, including the loan (“Convoy
Loan”) in the amount of HK$129,000,000 granted to Ever
Robust by the Second Plaintiff on 9 November 2015, and
the margin loan (“Margin Loan”) granted to Ever Robust by
the Third Plaintiff which amounted to HK$67,574,473 as at
29 March 2016, be rescinded; and (iii) the Plaintiffs sought
against, among others, Ever Robust for (a) general or special
damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs (“Convoy Proceedings”). As at 19 December
2017, Ever Robust had fully repaid the Convoy Loan and the
Margin Loan and did not hold any shares in Convoy.
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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On 6 March 2018, a case management conference hearing
was held before the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris on the
Convoy Proceedings. On 9 July 2018, Ever Robust has
received an amended writ of summons and an amended
statement of claim (“Amended Statement of Claim”).
Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim, the reliefs
sought by the Plaintiffs against Ever Robust are amended
as follows: (i) a declaration and order as against among
others, Ever Robust, that the allotment of the shares in
Convoy by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust, on 29
October 2015, is null and void, or has been rescinded and
set aside (as sought by Convoy); (i) an account of profits
and an order for payment of any sums found to be due,
equitable compensation to be assessed, and/or damages
to be assessed for breach of fiduciary, common law and/
or statutory duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy, as against,
among others, Ever Robust (as sought by Convoy); (iii) an
order against, among others, Ever Robust, for an account
of profits and an order for payment of any sums found to
be due, equitable compensation to be assessed, and/or
damages to be assessed for breach of fiduciary, common
law and/or statutory duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful
means conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy (as sought
by the Second Plaintiff and the Third Plaintiff); and (iv)
against, among others, Ever Robust, for (a) general or special
damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other

reliefs (as sought by all the Plaintiffs).

On 27 July 2018, Ever Robust received a sealed order
(“Order”) dated 28 June 2018 against, among other
Defendants, Ever Robust, in which 11 parties are ordered to
join the proceedings as additional defendants. Pursuant to
the Order, it is further ordered, among other matters, as to
between the Plaintiffs and Ever Robust (among certain other
Defendants), that the Plaintiffs do have leave to file and

serve the Amended Statement of Claim.

On 30 November 2018, Ever Robust received a copy sealed
order dated 1 November 2018 against, among other
defendants, Ever Robust, in which a party is ordered to join

the proceedings as an additional defendant.

On 10 December 2018, Ever Robust filed its defence
("Defence”) to the Plaintiff's claim in the Convoy
Proceedings with the Court. Pursuant to the Defence, Ever
Robust avers that the Plaintiffs are not entitled to any relief

against Ever Robust in the Convoy Proceedings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 30 August 2019, Ever Robust filed its amended Defence
pursuant to the order of Hon Harris J dated 12 July 2019.

Further details of the Convoy Proceedings are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 19 December 2017, 1
June 2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018.

After seeking the legal opinion, the Group considered that
there was no assessed monetary claim by Plaintiffs and it
is premature to give opinion on the probable outcome and
estimate the ultimate liability.

On 2 January 2018, Ever Robust received a petition
("Petition”) issued in the Court by Zhu Xiao Yan
("Petitioner”) against, among other respondents, Ever
Robust. Based on the Petition, the Petitioner has held and
continues to hold 3,234,000 shares in Convoy since around
mid-2015, and the Petitioner sought the following orders
against, among others, Ever Robust: (i) a declaration that the
placement of 3,989,987,999 shares in Convoy by Convoy to,
among other placees, Ever Robust, and/or such placed shares
are void ab initio and of no legal effect or, alternatively,
be set aside; (ii) damages for dilution of the Petitioner’s
shareholding; (iii) interest; (iv) such further or other relief and
all necessary and consequential directions as the Court may
think fit; and (v) costs (“Zhu Proceedings”). As at 2 January
2018, Ever Robust did not hold any shares in Convoy.

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference was held
on the Zhu Proceedings, in which the Honourable Mr. Justice
Harris made an order that the Zhu Proceedings be stayed
with liberty to restore, pending the outcome of the Convoy
Proceedings.

Further details of the Zhu Proceedings are set out in the
Company's announcement dated 2 January 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

46

IE D—_I-IIIH:H& )Itﬁ'

The Group has sought preliminary opinion on the above
legal proceedings from its solicitors (or legal adviser) in Hong
Kong, who, based on the information available as of the
date of this Annual Report, is of the opinion that:

—  there is no assessed monetary claim except the
Plaintiffs’ claim and the Petitioner’s claims against Ever
Robust for damages to be assessed;

— it is premature to give opinion on the probable
outcome; and

— itis premature to estimate the ultimate liability.

The litigation between, among others, the Group and LEO in
relation to the Zhiqu Disposal.

On 10 May 2023, LM E=F4RAERZEPR (in English for
identification purpose only, Shanghai Third Intermediate
People’s Court) (“Court”) announced that Shanghai Well
C.P.A. Partnership (L/BZEMEEIEHEM(EEEH)) has
been appointed as the administrator (“Administrator”) in
respect of the insolvent liquidation of &R 15 B ffi(L7E)
BBRAF (for identification purpose, Jixiang Information
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd) (“Jixiang"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (“Liquidation”), following its
acceptance of the application made by the Purchaser for the
Liquidation. On 15 May 2023, Jixiang received a list from the
Administrator for the items that need to be handed over to
the Administrator, including its assets, seals, and books and
records (“Handover”) and the Handover was completed on
31 May 2023.

As a result of the deemed disposal of Jixiang by the Group
upon completion of the Handover on 31 May 2023 due to
loss of control over Jixiang, Jixiang have been deconsolidated
from the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and the provision for the claims made by Jixiang was
therefore no longer recorded in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company.

Further details are set out in pages 34 to 41 of this Annual
Report.
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(d)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, a
subsidiary of the Company (“Borrower”) had breached the
covenant of a loan (“Loan”) in the original principal amount
of RMB79,868,600 granted by Essence Securities Co.,
Limited (“Lender”), which is secured by certain of the listed
securities. On 17 January 2020, the Borrower received the
summons (“Summons”) issued by the Lender, as plaintiff, in
Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court (“SZ Court”) against
the Borrower as defendant. Pursuant to the Summons, the
Lender demands the SZ Court to order the Borrower to:
(i) repay to the Lender the outstanding principal amount
of the Loan in the sum of approximately RMB70,893,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$79,216,000); (i) pay to
the Lender interest at the rate of 6% per annum accrued
on the outstanding principal amount of the Loan in the
sum of approximately RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$79,216,000) from 20 June 2019 to the
date of repayment; (iii) pay to the Lender liquidated damages
at the daily rate of 0.03%, including liquidated damages
on the outstanding interest in the sum of approximately
RMB1,042,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,164,000)
from 16 September 2019 to the date of repayment and
liquidated damages on the principal from 19 June 2018 to
the date of repayment; (iv) pay to the Lender its legal costs
in making the claims in the sum of RMB76,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$85,000); (v) use the proceeds from
the realisation of certain of the listed securities pledged by
the Borrower (“Pledged Assets”) through discounting,
sale or auction firstly to repay to the Lender the outstanding
amount of the Loan, the interest, the liquidated damages
and the legal costs; and (vi) bear all the litigation costs
such as case acceptance fees and security fee of this case.
As per the Summons, the aggregate amount of the claims
under (i) to (iv) up to 18 November 2019 amounted to
approximately RMB85,186,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$95,187,000).

(d)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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On or around 20 November 2020, the Borrower received the
judgement (“Judgement”) issued by the SZ Court in relation to
the Summons, pursuant to which:

(1)

the Borrower shall within ten days after the Judgement
becoming effective, repay to the Lender (a) the outstanding
principal amount of the Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB71 million and interest on the outstanding principal
amount of the Loan (consisting of (i) interest in the amount
of approximately RMB1 million accrued from 20 June 2019
to 16 September 2019; and (ii) interest at the rate of 6%
per annum accrued on the outstanding principal amount of
the Loan in the sum of approximately RMB71 million from
16 September 2019 to the date of repayment); (b) liquidated
damages at the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the outstanding
interest in the sum of approximately RMB1 million payable
from 16 September 2019 to the date of repayment; and
(o) liquidated damages at the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan (consisting of (i)
liquidated damages in the amount of approximately RMB1
million payable from 19 June 2019 to 19 August 2019; and
(i) liquidated damages on the outstanding principal amount
of the Loan in the sum of approximately RMB71 million
payable from 19 August 2019 to the date of repayment);

the Lender shall have the right to the Pledged Assets as
a chargee and the priority to be compensated with the
proceeds from the realisation of the Pledged Assets through
discounting, auction or sale; and

out of the litigation costs (consisting of case acceptance fees
and security fee) in the aggregate amount of approximately
RMB473,000, approximately RMB465,000 and approximately
RMB8,000 shall be borne by the Borrower and the Lender,
respectively.

Save for the above, the orders the Lender demanded the SZ Court
to make against the Borrower in the Summons were rejected by
the SZ Court.

Further details of the Summons and the Judgment are set out in
the Company’ announcements dated 18 January 2020 and 20
November 2020.

The Group completed the TH Disposals on 3 March 2021 and 10
March 2021 to partially repay the Loan and the liabilities owed to
the Lender under the Loan as required by the Judgment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As set out on page 42 in this Annual Report, the deemed disposal
of Jixiang was completed on 31 May 2023, upon which the
Pledged Assets held by Jixiang were deemed to be disposed of.

No provision was made for the legal proceedings stated in cases
(a) and (b) above, as the Group is not able to reliably assess the
amount of potential liabilities under the cases in items (a) and
(b) above; and the provision for the legal proceedings stated in
cases (c) and (d) above made by Jixiang was no longer recorded
in the consolidated financial statements of the Company
following the deemed disposal of Jixiang by the Group on 31
May 2023. The Company will, in accordance with the applicable
laws, make every effort to protect the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders, proactively respond to the above cases
and defend its position vigorously. The Company will closely
monitor the development of the above matters and make
further announcements if and when there are any significant
developments in relation to each of these legal proceedings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Litigation and Claims”
in the Management Discussion and Analysis in this Annual Report,
as at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 130
employees (2022: 110). The increase in the number of employees
as at 31 December 2023 as compared with that as at 31
December 2022 was mainly due to the increase in number of
trained staff in Balgownie during the year under review, so as
to improve the customers’ satisfaction in Balgownie. Staff costs
(including the Directors’ salaries, allowances and bonuses totaled
approximately HK$37,732,000 for the year under review (2022:
HK$42,377,000). The Group continues to maintain and upgrade
the capabilities of its workforce by providing them with adequate
and regular training.

Remuneration of employee is determined by reference to industry
practices and performance, qualifications and experience of
individual employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The emolument policies of the Directors are decided by the Board,
taking into account the recommendations of the remuneration
committee of the Board, having regard to merit, qualifications
and competence of the Directors.

On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to employees and the Directors by
reference to the Group's performance as well as individual
performance of such employees and/or Directors, and other
benefits including contributions to pension scheme and medical
scheme are also provided to the employees.

The Company adopted the share option scheme pursuant to an
ordinary resolution of all the then Shareholders passed on 4 June
2020, and the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion,
to grant options to eligible participants including any eligible
employee, any directors (including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary of the Company or any invested entity; any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any customer of any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the Group or
any invested entity, any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any invested entity, any professional
adviser, consultant, individual or entity who in the opinion of the
Directors has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group, and any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement
to the development and growth of the Group. Following the
amendments to Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules which
came into effect from 1 January 2023, the Group will only grant
options to such eligible participants which are permitted under
the GEM Listing Rules. There was no share option outstanding
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). Details of the share options
outstanding during the year under review are set out in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in the Directors’
Report in this Annual Report.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, aged 39, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”)
with effect from 17 September 2021. Mr. Ng obtained his
Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Financial Economics Degree
from the University of New South Wales in 2008. Thereafter,
Mr. Ng further completed his Master of Science in Financial
Mathematics Degree from the Bayes Business School of the City
University of London (formerly known as Cass Business School
of the City University of London) in 2014. Mr. Ng is experienced
in banking and finance, and previously worked in various banks
and financial institutions. Mr. Ng was appointed as an executive
director of China Demeter Financial Investments Limited (“China
Demeter”), a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock
Code: 8120), with effect from 3 July 2018. He has also been
appointed as the chief executive officer of China Demeter since
1 December 2020. Mr. Ng is the younger brother of Mr. Ng Ting
Kit, a substantial shareholder (having the meaning ascribed to it
in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company, who, as at the date of
this Annual Report, beneficially owns 543,180,000 shares of the
Company (“Shares”) and the entire issued share capital of King's
Group Capital Limited (which owns 273,800,000 Shares as at the
date of this Annual Report).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lam Ching Yee, aged 42, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer (“Chief
Executive Officer”) of the Company with effect from 5 June
2019. She has been appointed as the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company since 2013. Ms. Lam
was the financial controller of the Company from September
2013 to June 2019. Ms. Lam obtained her Bachelor of Business
Administration (Honours) in Finance from the City University
of Hong Kong in 2006 and she is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Lam has more than
ten years of experience in the areas of corporate restructuring,
financial management, merger and acquisition and auditing. Ms.
Lam was an executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment
Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on GEM
(Stock Code: 8018) from 23 June 2016 to 31 December 2023.

Mr. Fong Chak Kiu (formerly known as Fong Hing Lun), aged
43, has been appointed as an executive Director, the compliance
officer and an authorised representative of the Company with
effect from 19 August 2021. Mr. Fong obtained a Double Degree
of Commerce and Business Systems from the Monash University,
Australia in October 2004, and a Master of Finance degree from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009. Mr. Fong
has more than eight years of experience in business development.
Mr. Fong has been a business development manager of a
securities company in Hong Kong since April 2017, which is
licensed to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising
on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Mr. Fong is also licensed to carry
out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on securities)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Siu Keung, Joe, aged 59, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 15
December 2011. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of Arts in
International Accounting from the City University of Hong Kong
and a Master’s Degree of Corporate Governance from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Wong has extensive experience in the taxation, accounting,
financing, audit fields and public listed companies for many
years. Mr. Wong has been appointed as an executive director and
the chairman of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (“DeTai"”), a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 559). Mr. Wong is also an independent
non-executive director of (i) China Water Industry Group Limited
(Stock Code: 1129); (i) Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1466); and (iii) Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (“Yuk
Wing") (Stock Code: 1536), all companies whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an
independent non-executive director of Worldgate Global Logistics
Limited (Stock Code: 8292), a company whose shares are listed
on GEM from June 2016 to June 2023. He is the chairman of
each of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company.
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Mr. Chan Ming Kit, aged 44, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 2 September
2021. Mr. Chan has more than ten years of experience in the
compliance and legal industry. From April 2007 to August
2011, Mr. Chan worked at G2000 (Apparel) Limited and left as
a compliance officer. From April 2015 to June 2017, Mr. Chan
worked as an assistant solicitor at M.C.A. Lai Solicitors LLP, a
law firm. From June 2017 to February 2018, Mr. Chan worked
as a consultant solicitor at Chan & Ho Solicitors, a law firm.
From March 2018 to June 2022, Mr. Chan worked as a partner
at Chan & Ho Solicitors, a law firm. In July 2022, Mr. Chan
established Joseph M.K. Chan, Solicitors, a law firm, and works
as the principal solicitor. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree
in laws from University of Sheffield in the United Kingdom in
June 2005. Mr. Chan obtained a postgraduate certificate in laws
from City University of Hong Kong in July 2011. Mr. Chan was
called to the barrister in Hong Kong in April 2012 and he was
admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in March
2015. Mr. Chan has been an independent non-executive director
of Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1645), since 4 May 2020. Mr. Chan was
an independent non-executive director of Nexion Technologies
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock Code:
8420), for the period from 31 May 2017 to 2 November 2020.
He is a member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul, aged 86, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 10
September 2021. Mr. Tong obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1963. He went to
Yale University and obtained a master’s degree in sacred theology
in July 1971. He then furthered his studies in the University of
Cambridge, England, and obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts in
June 1987. Mr. Tong was called to the bar in Hong Kong in 1989.
Mr Tong then further pursued a master’s degree in arts in the
University of Cambridge, England in February 1991. Mr. Tong was
a panel member of the Securities and Futures Appeals Tribunal
for the period between April 2009 and March 2011. Mr. Tong
was appointed as a life fellow of St. John's College, the University
of Hong Kong in 2008. Mr. Tong has been an independent non-
executive director of Ching Lee Holdings Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 3728), since 10 March 2016. He is a member of
each of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee.
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The Directors present herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023. The Management Discussion and Analysis in this
Annual Report forms part of this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year under review was derived from
its business activities carried on in Hong Kong and Australia.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2023 by operating segments is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in the paragraph headed “Business and
Financial Review” in the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 10 to 27 in this Annual Report.
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks which are relevant to the Group and its business

()

56

Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

The local business risks in Australia in relation to the Group'’s
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia could
have material impact on the businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects of the Group’s
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia.
The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to
different and changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory
and environmental requirements at the local, national or
international level in Australia. Also, new policies or measures
introduced by the governments in Australia, whether fiscal,
tax, regulatory or environmental, or other changes taking
place which affect market competition, may lead to an
increase in the Group’s operating expenses and capital
expenditures, an increase in market competition, a decrease
in the overall investment return of the Group’s businesses
and may delay or disrupt the commercial operation of a
business resulting in a loss of revenue and profit, which may
adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects.
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(ii) Money lending business

The money lending business of the Group is exposed to
possible default from the customers, which involves the risk
of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of customers
to meet their contractual obligations. If the customers of
the money lending business of the Group fail to meet their
contractual obligations, the Company may need to incur
additional costs to realise the collaterals for the relevant
secured loans, if any. The risks of losses will be higher for
unsecured loans in the event of default. However, the
Group has adopted prudent credit procedures in customers’
acceptance so as to minimise the credit risk of the Group.

(iii) Assets investments business

For the Group's assets investments business, the Group
aims at maximising the profits of the Company for the
Shareholders and will revamp its investment strategy
and explore investment opportunities with due care and
diligence. Due to the volatility and uncertainties of the
securities market in Hong Kong, the Group may suffer
losses on securities trading in the future if the investment
strategy the Group has adopted does not fit the then market
conditions. The Group will regularly review its investment
portfolio and determine a suitable investment strategy to
cater for the changes in the market conditions.

Risks which are relevant to the industry and market in
which the Group operates

The Group may face risks and uncertainties posed by local
political, regulatory and religious environments and failure to
comply with country-specific regulatory restrictions may expose
the Group to fines, penalties and liabilities. There is no assurance
that the current government policies, economic and social
conditions in the regions where the Group’s business operates
will not undergo significant changes in the future. Any new
rules and regulations introduced and implemented in the future
which regulate the business in hospitality and related services in
Australia, money lending and assets investments, may adversely
affect the business, international expansion and growth prospects
of the Group. The Group will from time to time obtain updates
on relevant rules and regulations from external professionals to
review and ensure the Group is in compliance with the applicable
regulations and requirements.
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Foreign Currency Risks

The results of the Group are reported in Hong Kong dollars but
its subsidiaries may receive revenue and incur expenses in other
currencies. Any currency fluctuations arising from the translation
of the accounts of these subsidiaries, and the repatriation of
earnings, equity investments and loans may adversely affect the
Group's businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects. A depreciation or fluctuation in the currencies
in which the Group conducts its operations relative to the Hong
Kong dollar could adversely affect the Group’s businesses,
financial conditions, results of operations and growth prospects.

The Group is in the process of implementing its strategy of
achieving a diversified business portfolio to reduce its reliance on
revenue and income generated from one single major segment
or geographical location, so as to minimise the risks related to
fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates. The Group may also
consider to use appropriate hedging instruments, including
futures and forward contracts in the management of exposure
caused by fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.

Financial Instrument Risks

The Group is subject to market risks, such as those in relation
to currency fluctuations and volatility of interest rates, price
risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk in the normal course of the
Group's business. Particulars of the nature and extent of financial
instrument risks of the Company are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Directors are not aware of any significant event after the
reporting period for the Group and up to the date of this Annual
Report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the consolidated financial results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years are set out on page 316 in this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year under review are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 150 and 151. The Board does
not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 3.2% of the total sales for the year under review,
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
approximately 10.9%. Purchases from the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 35.8% of the total
purchases for the year under review, and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
14.4%.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders (whom to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest at any time during the year under review
in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$7,000 (2022: HK$5,000).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s acquisitions and disposals during the
year under review and the particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in notes 33 and 44 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year under review are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 154 in this Annual Report and note 32
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable reserve
of approximately HK$19,092,000 (2022: HK$45,221,000)
including accumulated losses of approximately HK$1,169,018,000
(2022: HK$1,158,320,000). Under the Company’s memorandum
of continuance, the Bye-Laws and the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended) (“Companies Act”), details of the
contributed surplus and share premium of the Company as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 June
2022, the Shareholders approved the Share Premium Cancellation.
The implementation of the Share Premium Cancellation did not
involve any reduction in the authorised or issued share capital of
the Company, any reduction in the nominal value of the Shares or
alteration of the trading arrangements concerning the Shares. The
Share Premium Cancellation took effect on 13 June 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the contributed surplus of the Company
that is distributable to the Shareholders was approximately
HK$1,203,541,000. Pursuant to the Companies Act and the Bye-
Laws, subject to compliance with the conditions stated in the
relevant provisions, the Company may make distributions to the
Shareholders out of its contributed surplus account (“Contributed
Surplus Account”). The amount standing to the credit of
the Contributed Surplus Account may be used to set off the
accumulated losses of the Company that may arise from time to
time.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group (via a
subsidiary of the Company) repurchased a total of 180,200,000
Shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration
(before expenses) of HK$17,076,460 (“Shares Repurchased”).
Particulars of the Shares Repurchased are as follows:
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Aggregate

Number of Price paid per Share Consideration

Shares B Z (HER (before

Date of Repurchase Repurchased Highest Lowest expenses)
fEEIRHA fBEIRNBE =4 RIE ANEGIZAE)
HK$ HK$ HK$

BT B BT

22 May 2023 _= __Eﬁﬁ +—H 1,000,000 0.083 0.083 83,000
23 May 2023 TEC=H#RA"+=H 14,000,000 0.085 0.085 1,190,000
24 May 2023 2T -_FHRA”+MH 12,000,000 0.086 0.084 1,031,820
25 May 2023 :gi_ﬁﬁﬁ +#HH 35,700,000 0.089 0.088 3,176,440
29 May 2023 T2 -_FRAZ+NH 11,000,000 0.093 0.090 1,022,270
31 May 2023 T2 -_FRA=1+—H 48,000,000 0.095 0.094 4,558,510
02 June 2023 “EC-FXATH 10,000,000 0.101 0.101 1,010,000
05 June 2023 2 -FXAAH 15,000,000 0.103 0.102 1,544,880
06 June 2023 —E=FXAKH 20,000,000 0.104 0.102 2,078,040
07 June 2023 :gi_ﬁ/ SBHtH 7,500,000 0.101 0.101 757,500
19 June 2023 T2 =F,A+N1H 6,000,000 0.104 0.104 624,000
Total 48%8 180,200,000 17,076,460
The Shares Repurchased from May 2023 to June 2023 mentioned  EMAZZEZ="FHBEZZT - =FBHE

above were subsequently cancelled on 31 July 2023.

The repurchases of the Shares Repurchased were effected by the
Directors pursuant to the general mandate to repurchase shares
of the Company approved by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 8 May 2023, with a
view to benefiting the Shareholders as a whole by enhancing the
net asset value per share and earnings per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities listed on the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Lam Ching Yee resigned as an executive director of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited, a company whose shares
are listed on GEM (Stock Code: 8018), with effect from 1
January 2024. Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe has been appointed as
the chairman of DeTai with effect from 1 March 2024; and an
independent non-executive director of Yuk Wing with effect from
31 January 2024.

Up to the date of this Annual Report, save as disclosed above,
there were no matters required to be disclosed in accordance
with Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the
changes in the information relating to the Directors required to
be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule
17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors who held office during the year under review and
up to the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Chairman)

Executive Directors:

Ms. Lam Ching Yee
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu

(Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chan Ming Kit
Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul
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In accordance with Bye-Law 84 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Wong Siu
Keung, Joe and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul will retire and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

None of the Directors who are being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Each of Mr. Ng Ting Ho, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Mr. Fong Chak
Kiu, Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong
Hin Sum Paul, had been re-appointed for a term of 12 months
commencing from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both
days inclusive).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to the requirement of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has received an annual written confirmation of his
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers that all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save for disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting
during or at the end of the year under review.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, a non-executive Director, is a director of each
of Way Union Finance Limited and Delight Sky Finance Limited,
which are principally engaged in the money lending business in
Hong Kong, that are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Demeter.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
Shareholder of the Company or their respective close associates
had an interest in any business, apart from the businesses of
the Group, which competes or may compete either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year under
review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during or at the end of the year under review was
there any arrangement where rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouse or
minor children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had, or was deemed to have, any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by the Directors as referred to in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Substantial Shareholders — long position in the shares of
the Company
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Number of
ordinary
shares Approximate
(the “Shares") percentage
Name of Shareholder Capacity involved (Note)
R
Epildiab) S T= R g
AR, atE 15 (Thef1) 88 (fF5E)
Substantial shareholder
FERE
Ng Ting Kit (“Mr. Ng"”) Beneficial owner 588,230,000 11.41%
SEE(R%E)) BmBEAA
Interest of a controlled corporation 283,800,000 5.50%
(Note 2)
M2EEE 2 # 5 (H5E2)
Other person
HMAL
King's Group Capital Limited ("KGCL") Beneficial owner (Note 2) 283,800,000 5.50%
REAERR AR A B (TERERIER ) BnEA A (ME2)
Notes: BIEE

1. This is based on the total issued Shares as at 31 December 2023, i.e.
5,156,035,108 Shares.

2. Based on the notices of disclosure of interests of Mr. Ng and KGCL
each filed with the Stock Exchange on 23 November 2023, such
Shares were held by KGCL, which is a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Ng. As such, Mr. Ng is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by KGCL by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, there were
no Shareholders or other persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company recorded in the
register as required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the emolument policy of the Company are set out in
the paragraph headed “Employees’ Remuneration Policies” in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 49 to 50 in this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board is authorised, at
its absolute discretion, to grant options to eligible participants
including any eligible employee, any directors (including non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of
the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any invested
entity; any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any invested entity, any customer of any member of the
Group or any invested entity, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any invested entity, any shareholder of
any member of the Group or any invested entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
invested entity, any professional adviser, consultant, individual or
entity who in the opinion of the Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the Group, and
any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
the Group. Following the amendments to Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules which came into effect from 1 January 2023, the
Group will only grant options to such eligible participants which
are permitted under the GEM Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards for
eligible participants’ contribution to the Group and/or to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested
entity.

The maximum entitlement of each participant would not exceed
1% of the aggregate number of shares for the time being issued
and issuable in any 12-month period under the Scheme.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option and an offer of the grant of option may be
accepted within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the date of offer).
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The exercise price will be determined by the Directors, but may
not be less than the highest of the closing price of the shares on
the GEM on the date of the grant of the option or the average
of the closing price of the shares on the GEM for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant of the
option or the nominal value of the shares.

The Scheme shall remain in force for the period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date of the Scheme which was 9
June 2020.

The number of options available for grant under the existing
Scheme limit as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 and
the maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 533,623,510 shares of HK$0.01 each
(representing approximately 10.35% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this Annual Report). During the
year ended 31 December 2023, no options have been granted
under the existing Scheme limit.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 10 years from the date of grant but subject to
the early termination of the Scheme.

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held or
no performance target which must be achieved before any of the
options can be exercised.

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, there were no
share options outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Scheme.

Details of the Scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE LOANS

In December 2021 and January 2022, Endless Foison Limited
("EFL"), a subsidiary of the Company and an investment holding
company that holds 48.33% equity interest of Luck Key, issued
convertible loan notes (“Convertible Notes”) in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$7,600,000 to parties independent of the
Group, for funding the general working capital of the Group.
The Convertible Notes will mature on 31 March 2024 (“Maturity
Date”) and do not carry interest. The Convertible Notes may be
convertible into fully paid ordinary shares of EFL at the option of
the holders of the Convertible Notes (“Noteholders”), based on
the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes, the
agreed valuation of the Company and the then number of issued
shares of EFL in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Notes. Based on the outstanding aggregate principal
amount of the Convertible Notes of HK$7,600,000 and the
number of issued shares of EFL as at 31 December 2023 and the
terms and conditions of the Convertible Notes, the full exercise of
the conversion right of such outstanding Convertible Notes will
not result in issue of more than 5% of the existing issued shares
of EFL. The Noteholders may also request for early redemption
of the Convertible Notes by EFL at 105% of the par value of
the Convertible Notes during the period from the first business
day immediately after 31 March 2023 and the date which is 10
business days immediately before the Maturity Date.

There was no conversion or redemption of the Convertible Notes
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The gross proceeds of
the issue of the Convertible Notes of HK$7,600,000 received by
EFL were fully utilized as general working capital of the Group.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save that the related party transactions as disclosed in notes (v)
and (vi) to note 36(a) and note 36(b) to the consolidated financial
statements constituted continuing connected transaction or
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules of the Company, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements do
not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director and the Director’'s connected party
or a controlling shareholder had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year under
review.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to its employees.
The Group has adopted paperless systems and practices in its
daily operations, such as human resources and procurement, as
appropriate. Creating a paperless working environment not only
alleviates environmental damages but also fits the commercial
goals of the Group, which saves physical space, facilitates
information sharing via IT networks, and reduces complicated
documentation procedures for the Group. Moreover, duplex
printing and copying have become the norm within the Group,
greatly reducing paper consumption and saving costs. Data on
printing is regularly collected and assessed, in order to monitor
the efficacy of the Group’s paperless environment. Details of
the Group's commitments and efforts are summarised in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this Annual
Report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees are valuable assets of
the Group. The Group ensures all employees are reasonably
remunerated, and continues to improve, regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. Employees are encouraged to
devote their time to participate in local fund-raising activities.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and business partners to
meet its immediate and long-term goals. Based on the Group's
business nature, most of the customers are occasional and non-
routine. To minimise credit risk, the Group in general does not
allow credit sales for individual customers. On the other hand,
credit terms ranging from 30 days to 180 days are given to
sizable corporate customers and major customers with long-
term business relationships with the Group. The Group values the
feedback from its customers and always tries to understand their
needs through regular communication and business updates.

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS") 9 “Financial
instruments” the expected credit loss model requires an ongoing
measurement of credit risk associated with a financial asset.
Under this model, the Group recorded provision for impairment
loss of approximately HK$175,000 (2022: HK$278,000) on
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables and provision
for impairment loss of approximately HK$280,000 (2022:
HK$1,330,000) on deposits and other receivables for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such
as the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”), the GEM Listing Rules, and
other applicable local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of
the Group.

In addition, the Group is subject to the requirements under
various laws in relation to its different business segments. The
laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the business
and operations of the Group are as follows.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Business Primary legislation/regulations  Implication

e FTEERER 2E

Provision of hospitality and Competition and Consumer Act The Competition and Consumer Act 2010
related services in Australia 2010 (Australia) covers most areas of the business market in

PN TR (HIB S S AR R AR TS QO10FHRFRHEEER)
CEM)

Australia including the relationships between
suppliers, wholesalers, retailer, and
consumers by promoting fair trading and
competition and through the provision of
consumer protections.
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EFEHSE

Business

e

Primary legislation/regulations

TERE AR

Implication

Provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia

PN (HA S S AR R AR TS

Money lending business

Australian Consumer Law
(Australia)

CENHE B 7E) CEIM)

Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

Qi INC D)
(BFEREAFIFE1635)

The Australian Consumer Law covers general
standards of business conduct, prohibits
unfair trading practices, regulates specific
types of business-to-consumer transactions,
provides basic consumer guarantees for
goods and services, and regulates the safety
of consumer products and product-related
services.

CEMWHEEZ R HEMETAN—RIZE
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BEAPHEERE » WREHERNE®D
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The Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (i) provides for
the control and regulation of money lenders
and money-lending transactions and the
licensing of persons carrying on business
as money lenders; and (i) provides
protection and relief against excessive
interest rates and extortionate stipulations
in respect of loans. The Group has to carry
on its money lending business in compliance
with this ordinance, such as the
requirements on entering into loan
transactions and the restriction on the
interest rates of the loans.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision that meets the requirements
specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year under review. The Company has taken out
and maintained directors’ liability insurance during the year under
review, which provides appropriate cover for the directors of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this Annual Report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float under the GEM
Listing Rules as at the date of this Annual Report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

AUDITOR

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited will retire and being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited as
the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Ting Ho
Chairman

28 March 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Big s B RERBRS

INTRODUCTION

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, “Group”) adopts a diversified business
development strategy and has established its firm footing in four
business segments, namely (i) provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia; (i) provision of services through network
media; (iii) money lending business; and (iv) assets investments
business.

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG
Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") initiatives, plans and performance of the Group and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This ESG Report covers the Group’s businesses in relation to the
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia, money
lending business, and asset investment business in Hong Kong.
Therefore this ESG report encompasses the operating locations of
these businesses, including the Balgownie Estate Vineyard Resort
& Spa Yarra Valley (“Balgownie”) and a general administrative
office in Hong Kong. The scope of reporting is same as that
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022").
The Group will extend the scope of disclosure when and where
appropriate.

REPORTING PERIOD

This ESG Report presents the ESG activities, challenges, measures
taken, compliance and results of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023").

F
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Reporting Guide"”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied
the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as
follows:

o “Materiality” — The materiality assessment was conducted by
the Group to identify material issues, thereby adopting the
confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation
of this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed
and confirmed by the Board of Directors of the Company
("Board"”). Please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” for further
details.

e “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
guantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report to explain
any standards, methodologies, and source of conversion
factors used during the calculation of emissions and energy
consumption.

e “Consistency” — The approach adopted for the preparation
of this ESG Report was substantially consistent with that
adopted in FY2022, and explanations were provided
regarding data with changes in the scope of disclosure and
calculation methodologies.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 119 to 137 of this Annual Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Big s B RERBRS

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group implements a top-down management approach
regarding its ESG issues. The Board assumes the overall
responsibility of the Group’s ESG matters and is aware of
emerging ESG issues that may have an impact on the Group. It
monitors the Group’s ESG performance, sets out ESG strategies
and periodically reviews the progress of the Group’s ESG
performance against targets. It also sets priority of the Group's
sustainability initiatives, and is responsible for ensuring the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
controls.

The Group has designated personnel to systematically identify and
address ESG issues. The designated personnel make sure that the
Group's sustainability measures are effectively implemented. They
are also responsible for collecting and analysing relevant ESG data,
making comparison against targets, and reporting the findings to
the Board. The Board will review the results and provide feedback
and assess whether a follow up plan and additional effort should
be devoted in attaining the ESG goals.

BRI LG RERGRE

AEEHHIRE - e REABEETE LM
THEERD Z EFg2EEErEENIER
5 e REREE > TERBr N AEEE
ERENRE HEREBHMBEE EFE
EEAEEEIRE - S KRERDERNKE
FIERE - HEREQRE > WERAHRER
RE ANEBEIRE - T EREALENER °
EFETREAEFERFHENEBARF I
BERFRTIEENREREERANIMEIZEMRL

AEBEEEEARFIE MBS REHIREE
HERELEE ZFEEABRREAERS
REMBNBEMETT - KETEEWRERDHE
BIRIE - S REREE - HERFRLEE
WHEFGERER - EFTRIETERNIE
HRERR » W LR S ERIERES S M
RAOE > UBREERIRE - £t KES

R e

76 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding its
businesses and ESG performance. To understand and address their
key concerns, the Group has maintained close communication
with its key stakeholders, including but not limited to shareholders

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

E%i% %iEZ = //E|\$§ [

HHES R

REFEFFNERAERERBRFRIRER
HERERRFIIRE
TEMAIFE AEEEEFERNE (B
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and investors, customers, employees, suppliers, loan and debt &~ ERXAKREEA ﬁﬁa&’\mu&ﬂﬁ&

holders, media, and the public, as well as government and

regulatory authorities.

In formulating its operational and ESG strategies, the Group
considers stakeholders’ expectations through a diverse range of

engagement methods and communication channels, as shown — FAZ »

below:

Stakeholders
M ABRA S

Engagement Methods
28EAR

EERE) REE)ER

RHEEERIRE - HEREAREE » A&
HiABSE2ESANEBEREERFNEN

» YINEFRFTR

Expectations

HAZ

Shareholders and investors

REKRKRE

Customers

eSS

Employees

(=1=]

Suppliers
HAER

Loan and debt holders

EMAREEA

Media and the public
RS K AR

Government and regulatory
authorities

BT K B B

Annual general meeting and other
shareholders’ meetings
REBFAGRAMBRRAE
Financial reports

BmRE

Announcements and circulars
NS

Company websites

NSIFENS

Front desk manager
EIE=EESES
Customer satisfaction survey

ERREERE

Training, seminars, and briefing
sessions

Hil ~ T g R EkRE
Performance reviews

BMEZ

Emails

B
Supplier management meetings and

events
HEDEESEILE
Supplier audit

HEEmEZ

Regular meetings
EHIE®

ESG Report
RIR « G RERRS

Written or electronic
correspondences

ZANEFEH

Sustainable economic performance

AIFHERAS B RIR

Risk management

)y =pis

e Sound corporate governance
practices
RFHEEERER

e long-term growth of the business

FHLRIABER

e Good customer service
EEMNE R R
o Customer privacy protection

ERALRRE

o Remuneration and benefits
B R A2 A

e Good employment practices
RFNVEREER

e  Safe and healthy work environment

LR RERN IR

Fair procurement

NTEREE

e  Sustainable development of supply
chain

HEER R EERE

e  Regular discussions
TEHASY &

° Compliant operation
BRgE

e Transparent information disclosure

EHRIE BIKE

e Compliance with local laws and
regulations

BT ERIER
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Big s B RERBRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A materiality assessment in the form of surveys was conducted
during FY2023, where the Group's stakeholders evaluated the
materiality of different ESG issues of the Group based on several
criteria, including but not limited to direct financial implications
and the level of impact the Group’s activities may have on the
environment and society. Sustainability factors that were material
to the Group’s business operations have been reviewed by the
Board, management and employees, who are responsible for the
key functions of the Group.

During FY2023, the Group has developed its strategies based on

the materiality matrix as follows:

Materiality Matrix
BEM B

e
o

Impact on Stakeholders
HiSpEZERE
[ ]
(o)
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ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE s 1@ RERRE

1 Business ethics 9
BEER

2 Customers health and safety 10
EREREZE

3 Customer service and complaint management 11
BERIRBRKFEE

4 Employees’ rights and welfare 12
B TR K427

5 Anti-corruption 13
R&=

6 Occupational health and safety 14
BEEEREZS

7 Employees’ training and development 15
BTIEIIHEER

8 Product quality and safety 16

EnHERLZE

Supply chain management
HEEEIE

Data and intellectual property rights protection

St B Aok EE P R v

Community engagement
HES 8

Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination

TERE R RIAR

Waste management
BEEY)EIE

Climate change adaptation and risk mitigation
B IS R A B R S B R

Use of resources

BRER

Greenhouse gas emissions
RE RGP

It is noted that “Business Ethics” has been escalated to the top
priority, reflecting the stakeholders’ high expectations on the
Group's governance standards. The Group will continue to carry
out its business operations in an ethical manner, and be alert to
any misconduct or irregularities that may arise from its business.
As “customer health safety” and “customer service and complaint
management” continue to be among the Group’s key materiality
issues, the Group will focus its efforts on safeguarding customer
health and providing the best services to its customers.

The Group confirms that it has established appropriate and
effective management policies and internal control systems for
material ESG issues for FY2023, and confirms that the disclosed
contents are in compliance with the requirements of the ESG
Reporting Guide.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI s g KRERRS

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ opinions and suggestions. You
can provide your valuable advice with regard to this ESG Report or
the Group’s performances in sustainable development by writing
to 9/F, HKHC Tower, No 241-243 Nathan Road, Jordan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.

80

Emissions

Environmental protection and sustainable development
rely on concerted and continuous efforts from all
sectors of the society. Therefore, the Group has
continued to refine and improve its mitigation
policies to reduce both direct and indirect negative
environmental impacts arising from its business
operations.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to air
and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land,
and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste that would have a significant impact on the
Group during FY2023. The said laws and regulations
include but are not limited to the Road Traffic
Ordinance, the Waste Disposal Ordinance, the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, the State
Environment Protection Policy (Ambient Air Quality)
and the Environment Protection Act 2017 of Victoria,
Australia.

Air Emissions

Due to the Group's business nature, only an immaterial
amount of air emissions was generated from the use of
company vehicles. Description of mitigation measures
of emissions is provided in the following section = “GHG
Emissions”.
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ENVIRONMENTAL,

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A1.

Emissions (Cont'd)
GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were
generated from the combustion of petrol from the use
of vehicles (Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2)
and paper waste disposal at landfills (Scope 3).

Scope 1 = Direct GHG Emissions

To reduce fuel usage and thus air emission, the Group
has implemented the following measures:

e Switch off the engine when the vehicle is idling;

e Plan driving routes ahead of time to optimise fuel
consumption and reduce air emissions; and

e  Provide regular maintenance service for the
vehicles to ensure optimal engine performance
and fuel use.

Scope 2 = Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounts for the largest indirect
GHG emissions within the Group. The Group has
implemented a series of measures to reduce electricity
consumption, such measures will be mentioned in the
section headed “A2 — Use of Resources”.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

82

A1.

Emissions (Cont’d)
GHG Emissions (Cont’d)
Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions

We report on the emissions from the use of paper
under Scope 3. Since the COVID-19 pandemic, online
and paperless meetings have been encouraged to
reduce the use of paper. Measures for handling paper
and other non-hazardous waste will be mentioned in
the section headed “Non-hazardous Waste Handling
Method”.

During FY2022, the Group set a revised target of
maintaining or reducing the total GHG emissions
intensity (tCO,e/million revenue) in the next three years
compared to that in 2022, taking into account that
Balgownie was not at full operation in 2021 and 2021
should not be taken as the baseline year.

The total GHG emissions in FY2023 has reduced
mainly due to the reduced use of purchased electricity
at Balgownie. About 50% of the guest rooms at
Balgownie were renovated from May to September
2023, resulting in a much lower occupancy rate and
lower consumption of electricity in those months. The
lower electricity consumption was also attributable to
part of the consumption being powered by the Group’s
own solar panels.

A. IRIE (88)

A1.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE s 1@ RERRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) A IRIE (BB)
A1. Emissions (Cont'd) A1, HERRH (48)
GHG Emissions (Cont'd) BEREHE (E)
Summary of GHG emissions performance: BERBERRRNE
Indicator’ Unit? 2023 2022
i1 B (i —E-= B

Scope 1 = Direct GHG emissions
HE - ERREREEN

e Petrol, diesel and natural gas consumption tCO,e 15.99 14.72
U~ SRR RARUERE W_EtRER

Scope 2 — Indirect GHG emissions
#E?2 - BRRERBHR
* Purchased electricity tCO,e 1,418.15 1,687.89
SNEEE N g SR E
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions
#[E3 - AR = REEHIN

il

e Paper waste disposed at landfills tCO,e 5.23 5.29
PANDRIEIRIG R B R EE AR W-ELREE
Total GHG emissions tCO,e 1,439.37 1,707.90
BERBHIEE e tiRkE=S
Intensity tCO,e/million revenue? (HK$) 22.32 25.41
BE W_ELRER/ BEWAS (BT
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

84

A1.

Emissions (Cont’'d)

GHG Emissions (Cont’d)

Note:

Due

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare
an ESG report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange,
the Global Warming Potential Values from the IPCC
Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), the CLP 2022
Sustainability Report issued by published by CLP
Holdings Ltd. and the National Greenhouse Accounts
Factors issued by the Department of the Environment
and Energy of Australia.

tCO,e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

During FY2023, the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$64,482,000 (FY2022:
HK$67,221,000) under the reported segments. This
data is also used for calculating other intensity data.

Sewage Discharge

to the Group's business nature, the sewage

discharge into land is insignificant. There was no
significant and unreasonable amount of sewage
water discharged; used water was discharged to the
municipal sewage network to the regional water
treatment plant.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A1.

Emissions (Cont'd)
Waste Management
Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the Group’s business nature, no material
hazardous waste, according to the list of waste
considered as being hazardous under the Hazardous
Waste (Regulation of Exports and Imports) Act 1989 of
Australia and Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong,
was generated during FY2023.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The majority of the non-hazardous waste generated
by the Group was cans and bottles. Hotel operations
generates a substantial amount of single-use disposable
wastes, such as plastic bottles, boxes, containers, glass
bottles and cans. The Group has therefore incorporated
sustainability measures into the daily operations of
Balgownie by introducing a robust recycling system.
The Group has engaged one of Australia’s largest
recyclers to recycle the plastic bottles and paper
generated by the Group’s operations. The Group is
also planning on transitioning away from single-use
plastic items, and replacing them with more sustainable
alternatives in the future.

A policy on reducing wastage is included in the
respective Employee Handbooks of the Group’s Hong
Kong head office and Balgownie. It reminds employees
to take extra care during normal duties when handling
tools, equipment, supplies and food so that the Group
can minimise its non-hazardous waste production.

In the office, a number of green measures are
encouraged:

e Use double-sided printing and photocopying;

e  Print electronic correspondences only when
necessary; and

e Reuse one-sided printed paper.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)
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A1.

Emissions (Cont’d)
Waste Management (Cont’d)
Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method (Cont’d)

During FY2022, the Group set a revised target of
maintaining or reducing the total non-hazardous
wastes intensity (kg/million revenue) in the next three
years, when compared to that in FY2022, taking into
account that Balgownie was not in full operations in
2021 and therefore 2021 should not be taken as the
baseline year.

In FY2023, the amount of non-hazardous waste
reduced significantly due to the reduced use of cans
and bottles in the year. About 50% of the guest rooms
at Balgowine were renovated from May to September
2023, resulting in a lower consumption of cans and
bottles. Additionally, the number of large conferences
that could be held at Balgownie reduced due to
the inability to provide sufficient accommodation to
conference guests during the renovation period, further
reducing the consumption of cans and bottles.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste discharge
performance:

A. IRIE (88)
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Categories of Waste Unit 2023 2022
BEEY)4ER! Bl ZEI=F CETHF
Office paper kg 1,090.44 1,102.09
R PRAR F5

General waste kg 15,513.00 14,880.00
—REEEY F5

Cans and bottles kg 96,800.00 128,700.00
B KT F5

Wasted packaging materials kg 8,160.00 6,120.00
BEREEME T3

Total non-hazardous waste kg 121,563.44 150,802.09
mEBRMEE F5

Intensity kg/million revenue (HK$) 1,885.23 2,243.38
HE T/ BRWA BT
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A2. Use of Resources

The Group recognises its responsibility to efficiently
utilise finite resources and carry out its corporate social
responsibility to introduce eco-friendly approaches to
enhance the Group's sustainability performance.

Water Consumption

The Group is committed to reducing water usage by
promoting and nurturing employee awareness of water
conservation. A number of green measures have been
adopted in the Group’s business operations:

e Water collected from the roofs of Balgownie will
be reused for various purposes to reduce reliance
on external water supply;

e  Effluent treatment systems are installed at
Balgownie to capture and treat all waste on-site,
water is then reused on irrigation of the vines and
landscaping;

e Water-saving slogans and posters are displayed as
reminders; and

° Dual flush water cisterns in toilets and faucet
aerators in sinks are installed in washrooms.

During FY2022, the Group set a revised target of
maintaining or reducing the total water consumption
intensity (m*million revenue) in the next three years,
when compared to that in FY2022, taking into account
that Balgownie was not at full operation in 2021 and
therefore 2021 should not be taken as the baseline
year.

Due to the business nature, the Group did not
encounter any problem in sourcing water fit for its
purpose during FY2023.

During FY2023, the Group’s water consumption had
increased due to full year operation of the Balgownie’s
spa in FY2023, whereas in FY2022, the Balgownie's
spa was only operated for seven months. The Group
will continue to explore ways of water conservation.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A2. Use of Resources (Cont’'d)

IRIR (48)
A2, FRAER ()

88

Water Consumption (Cont’d) KR EFE (48)

Summary of water consumption performance: FIKRIBHE !

Indicator Unit 2023 2022
iy =i —z== =S
Total water consumption* m3 10,632.00 9,296.00
HEFEKE K

Intensity m3/million revenue (HK$) 164.62 138.29
BE YK BEEWAGET)

Note: PIEE

4.  Data excludes water consumption in the Hong Kong
office as water usage is included in the management
fee of the Hong Kong office.

Energy Consumption

The Group has established relevant policies and
initiatives on energy conservation to monitor and
maximise its energy efficiency. All employees are duly
notified of the implementation of such policies and
measures. Regular review is conducted on the Group’s
energy objectives for continuous improvement in the
Group's energy consumption performance. Should the
energy usage in any of the Group’s operations increase
unreasonably, the Group will send reminders via email
to remind relevant departments of energy conservation.

In the office, a number of green measures have been
encouraged:

e  Purchase energy-efficient equipment to replace
retired equipment;

e Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use; and

e Set all computer screens and printers to standby
mode after a certain period of idling.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A2. Use of Resources (Cont’'d)

Energy Consumption (Cont’d)

At Balgownie, the Group stresses the importance of
environmental sustainability, sustainable designs can be
observed throughout Balgownie. A number of elements
have been incorporated to reduce energy usage, as
shown below:

e  Power-saving devices have been installed to all
units which automatically de-activate all air-
conditioning and lighting when the units are left
unattended;

e Appropriate insulation and shading to the building
have been added to optimise temperature control;

e  Skylights and glazing are installed to bring more
natural light into the facilities;

e Solar heating systems are installed to complement
gas heating systems and electric efficient heat
pumps; and

e Natural flow through ventilation to all units
reduces the reliance on air-conditioning usage.

During FY2022, the Group set a revised target of
maintaining or reducing the total energy consumption
intensity (kWh/million revenue) in the next three years
compared to that in FY2022, taking into account that
Balgownie was not at full operation in 2021 and 2021
should not be taken as the baseline year.

During FY2023, direct energy consumption increased
because of higher petrol and natural gas consumption.
The company vehicle in Hong Kong operated for the
full year whereas it operated only for five months in
FY2022. In addition, natural gas had been consumed in
the Hong Kong operations in FY2023.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

920

A2. Use of Resources (Cont’'d)

Energy Consumption (Cont’d)

Indirect energy consumption, however, noted a great
reduction because about 50% of the guest rooms at
Balgownie were renovated from May to September
2023, resulting in a lower occupancy rate and lower
consumption of electricity in those months.

The lower electricity consumption at Balgownie in
FY2023 was also attributable to part of its electricity
consumption being powered by its own solar panels.
During FY2023, about 155.8 MWh of electricity was
generated from the Group’s solar panels for own use.
The solar facilities also generated excess electricity
which was sold back via the grid and resulted in
savings for the Group. The photo below depicts the
solar panels which are installed on the roof of the hotel
restaurant at Balgownie.

A.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE s 1@ RERRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) A. IRIE (4B)

A2. Use of Resources (Cont’'d)

A2. BRfER &)

Energy Consumption (Cont’d) BEIRE #E (48)
Summary of energy consumption performance: SETRHFERIAME ©
Types of Energy Unit 2023 2022
AEIREREY B —E-= —EF
Direct Energy Consumption kWh 102,762.95 57,463.54
BEERETRIHFE T FLBF
e Diesel kwWh 3,103.94 35,042.39
o UM TR
e Petrol kWh 55,499.02 22,421.15
o UM FREF
e Natural gas kWh 44,160.00 -
o RAR TR
Indirect Energy Consumption kWh 1,470,319.00 1,734,953.00
¥ERE R IHFE FEEF
e Electricity kWh 1,470,319.00 1,734,953.00
. Ef TEE
Total energy consumption kWh 1,573,081.95 1,792,416.54
SERHFERE TR
Intensity kWh/million revenue (HK$) 24,395.68 26,664.53
BE FERE,/B88A )
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A.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) A. IRIE (48)

A2. Use of Resources (Cont'd)
Use of Packaging Material

The Group owns a vineyard in Balgownie, and
subcontracted its wine production to a third party.
Packaging materials are used when the Group sells
wine to its customers via its Wine Club. During FY2023,
as business recovered after the COVID-19 pandemic,
the sale of the Wine Club also noted a healthy growth,
resulting in increased use of packaging materials.

Summary of packaging materials consumption

A2. BIRfER (48)
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performance:

Indicator Unit 2023 2022
aiR Bl ZEI=F =St -
Total packaging materials consumption kg 1,405.00 660.00
REsEMEIEEE T

Intensity kg/million revenue (HK$) 21.79 9.82
2B T/ BERACET)
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to minimising any negative
environmental impacts occasioned by the Group’s
business operations. The business activities of the
Group do not significantly impact the environment and
natural resources. The Group does, however, continue
to be vigilant to the potential environmental impacts
arising from its business operations.

Use of Other Resources

During the procurement process for furniture
and amenities, the Group takes sustainability into
consideration and prefers procuring from organisations
that offer responsibly sourced goods. For the provision
of hospitality and related services in Australia, the
Group intends to further minimise the use of single-use
disposable items, consider the environmental impacts
and life cycle of the purchased goods and explore more
environmentally friendly alternatives.

Noise Control

The Group recognises that entertainment venue noise
may be generated at Balgownie. The Group abides
by the State Environment Protection Policy (Control
of Music Noise from Public Premises) No. N-2 which
is incorporated in the venues’ current liquor licences.
Balgownie actively controls the music level and limits
loud music at the prescribed hours to ensure that
guests and neighbours will not be severely disrupted.

RIE s B hERRS
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)
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A4. Climate Change

Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation

The Group is aware of the threat posed by climate
change and is adamant in doing its part by offsetting its
carbon footprint. The Group recognises the importance
of the identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues, therefore closely monitors the
potential impact of climate change on our business and
operations and is committed to managing the potential
climate-related risks which may impact the Group’s
business activities. The Group has identified climate-
related risks developed mitigating measures as below.

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains,
and extreme cold or heat bring acute and chronic
physical risks to the Group’s business. The Group’s
productivity will be reduced under extreme weather
events as the safety of the Group's employees is
threatened and the power grid or communication
infrastructures might be damaged, which exposes the
Group to risks associated with non-performance and
delayed performance, leading to direct negative impact
on the Group’s operations and financial performance.

To minimize the potential risks and hazards, the Group
has established mitigation plans, including flexible
working arrangements and precautionary measures
during bad or extreme weather conditions. The Group
will explore emergency plan to further reduce the
vulnerability of our installations to extreme weather
events in order to enhance business stability.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A4. Climate Change (Cont'd)

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision on carbon neutrality,
the Group expects evolution of the regulatory,
technological and market landscape due to climate
change, including the tightening of national policies,
the emergence of environmental related taxes, and
shifting of customer preference to an eco-friendlier
resort operation.

In response to the policy and legal risks as well as
the reputation risks, the Group constantly monitors
any changes in laws or regulations and global trends
on climate change to avoid cost increments, non-
compliance fines or reputational risks due to delayed
response. In addition, the Group has implemented solar
photovoltaic systems in Balgownie to aid the transition
towards renewable energy. The Group has set targets
to gradually reduce the Group’s energy consumption
and GHG emissions in the future.

B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Human resources are the cornerstone of the Group.
The Group recognises that its continued success
is dependent on its employees’ talents and their
dedication.

Employment policies for each of the Group'’s operations
have been established in detail, with regard to aspects
such as recruitment and remuneration, compensations,
working hours and rest periods, diversity and equal
opportunities. These policies and employment practices
are put under review periodically to ensure the Group
continues to improve its employment standards and
competitiveness against companies in a similar industry.
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B1.

Employment (Cont'd)

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance that would have a significant impact on
the Group, with reference to employment-related laws
and regulations including but not limited to the Fair
Work Act 2009 and the Workplace Gender Act 2012 of
Australia, the Equal Opportunity Act 2010 of Victoria,
Australia and the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum
Wage Ordinance, the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, the Sex Discrimination Ordinance and the
Disability Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong,
during FY2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's
operations covered in the scope of this ESG Report had
a total of 117 employees.

B. & (&)

B1.

1% (&)

RIEZ=F > AEEL AT
AREREEREREEREERRER
MBENEBEREAFZENBER
BREREERBIFEERRIEM
(CEZANERAFIEE)R(ZE
—ZFBIBERITEER)  BMNES
MBI ZE—TFFEHZE)IU
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2023 2022
kit - S — S
Total number of employees BE4EE 117 106
Gender 451
Male B 43 48
Female 2% 74 58
Age Group FHe4aR
Below 30 years old 305 LR 58 44
30 — 50 years old 30 — 505% 41 43
Over 50 years old 50 18 19
Geographical region &
Australia B 104 90
Hong Kong 548 13 16
Employment Type fEfEsEE
Full-time 2 47 47
Part-time TR 70 59
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)

B1.

Employment (Cont'd)

During FY2023, the Group recorded an overall turnover
rate of 41.8%. The breakdown is as follows:

Eﬁiﬁl %iEZ = //E|\$§ =

B. & (48)
. R0 ()

RIZEZ=WF » ~EFELEEBNE
EmMEERAEAL1.8% BT -

2023 2022
—EBE=F T fF

Gender 451
Male B4
Female 7%
Age Group Fhe4aR
Below 30 years old 30T
30 — 50 years old 30 - 505%
Over 50 years old 50 A £
Geographical region &
Australia B
Hong Kong 58

Note:

5. Employee turnover = Total number of employees left/
Average number of employees in the year x 100%

Talent Attraction and Retention

The Group's employees are recruited via a robust,
transparent and fair recruitment process based solely
on their experience and expertise, without regard to
their age, ethnicity, origin, gender identity, marital
status, sexual orientation and religion.

Employees are assessed by their abilities and potential
to fulfil the Group’s current and future needs. All
employees responsible for the recruitment process will
periodically review the selection criteria to ensure that
existing policies remain relevant and that the policies
do not unlawfully discriminate. Recruitment interviews
will also be carried out by more than one person where
possible.

58.0% 84.3%
30.2% 74.3%
50.5% 107.9%
28.9% 59.5%
51.3% 52.9%
48.5% 91.5%
20.7% 6.7%
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B1.

Employment (Cont'd)
Talent Attraction and Retention (Cont’d)

Promotion and advancement will be based on merits
and are in line with the Recruitment and Selection
Policy that is formally documented in the Employee
Handbook. The Group will conduct an annual
performance and salary review to determine any salary
adjustments and/or promotion opportunities. Written
and verbal performance evaluations will be given to
all employees at least once a year, such evaluations
are intended to give recognition of the hard work of
the employees and provide them with comments for
improvement.

Employee Rights and Welfare

The Group’s basis for remuneration is job-related
skills, qualifications and performances. Remuneration
packages include annual leave, maternity leave,
compassionate leave and community service leave,
among others. Also, the Group has formulated policies
in determining the working hours and rest periods for
employees according to local employment laws.

Compensation and Dismissal

All compensation made by the Group is given based
on the provision of Workmen'’s Injury Compensation
Insurance Policy under the Workplace Injury
Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 2013 of Victoria,
Australia and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
of Hong Kong, which cover the rehabilitation of injured
workers and compensation in relation to injuries or
deaths arising out of accidents and diseases in the
workplace.

Unreasonable dismissal under any circumstances is
prohibited. A detailed list of major offences regarded
as justifiable reasons for immediate dismissal can be
found in the Employee Handbook.
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B1.

B2.

Employment (Cont'd)

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

The Group recognises the value of diversity in its talent
pool and is committed to creating and maintaining
an inclusive and collaborative workplace culture in
which all employees can thrive. The Group prohibits
any discrimination, physical or verbal harassment
based on race, religion, colour, gender, physical or
mental disability, age, place of origin, marital status
and sexual orientation in the workplace. Deliberate
acts of unlawful discrimination or harassment are also
considered serious misconducts which may result in
the termination of contract without notice. The Group
does not tolerate sexual harassment or abuse in the
workplace of any form.

Health and Safety

The Group has heightened its awareness and
commitment towards ensuring a safe and healthy
working environment for its employees. A
comprehensive policy on occupational health and
safety is in place to safeguard the interest of the
employees. During induction training, relevant policies
and procedures will be explained and/or provided to
the employees to mitigate the occurrence of accidents.
Relevant policies are reviewed annually, or soon after
an incident arises, to make sure that the said policies
continue to be of relevance.

During FY2023, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance that would have a significant
impact on the Group, with reference to health and
safety related laws and regulations, including but not
limited to the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004
and the Occupational Health and Safety Regulations
2007 of Victoria, Australia and the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong.

During FY2023, there were 52 lost days due to work
strain injury of three employees. All of them have
subsequently recovered and returned to work. The
Group has achieved zero work-related fatalities for the
past three years, including FY2023.
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B2. Health and Safety (Cont’d)

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group recognises that employees are its most
valuable assets, therefore the Group is keen on
providing a safe and pleasant working environment
to retain talents and ensure that their well-being is
taken care of. Relevant health and safety policies are
indicated in the Employee Handbook, said policies are
regularly reviewed and/or reviewed upon trigger events
to ensure that the provisions continue to provide
protection to its employees. At Balgownie, a front
office training session has been held to familiarise its
employees with various emergency scenarios such as
gas leaks, wildlife or bomb threats. Uniform and/or
personal protective equipment are provided for relevant
employees.

Safety Training and Inspections

The Group makes use of safety training and inspections
to ensure employees are aware of the importance of
complying with safety requirements. An induction
training on relevant health and safety policies specific
to the position is provided to every employee at
the beginning of the employment to minimise the
likelihood of accidents or workplace injuries. Personnel,
whether employed directly or indirectly by the Group, is
required to abide by all applicable laws, regulations and
safety requirements imposed by relevant government
authorities.

Occupational health and safety meetings are held
regularly to address concerns and identify possible
alternatives or solutions in an expedited manner.
Regular meeting was held during FY2023 and minutes
was taken during the meeting. Meeting is considered
crucial to ensure the health and safety of guests and
employees as issues are directly dealt with and persons-
in-charge are designated to ensure that the actions or
plans are followed through.
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B3. Development and Training

Training and Development

Training and continuous development are indispensable
for the Group’s employees to keep abreast of the
ever- changing trend of the industry. To incentivise
employees to acquire new skills and to increase their
professional knowledge, the Group has policies in
place to encourage its employees to pursue training
for the advancement of their careers that will benefit
themselves and the Group. The training cost may be
borne by the Group subject to management approval.

Training contents are regularly updated to be in line
with the industry standards and provide maximum
benefit to the employees. The training topics being
covered in FY2023 included anti-corruption and
integrity.

During FY2023, 76.1% of employees received training,
and the Group recorded a total of 832.5 training hours.
The summary of employee training by category is as
follows:
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Percentage of Average
Employees Hours
Trained (%) of Training
ZilfEEB DL SRS lS3
(%) (/)\BRF)
Gender 451
Male B 104.7% 9.83
Female pogcs 59.5% 5.54
Employee Category EEE5
Senior management =i EIEE 80.0% 18.90
Middle management iR EIRfE 80.0% 29.00
General employees —RES 770.0% 44.80
Notes: 5T

6. Percentage of employees trained in a category =
Number of employees trained/Number of employees in
that category at the end of the year x 100%

7. Average hours of training = Number of training hours
in that category/Number of employees in that category
at the end of the year x 100%

6. ZENZIERETDE=%IEE
AN/ REERERZENRE
AE x 100%

7. RIIFHEHE=ZEFZIFH
REETERFZEAEEAR x
100%
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B4. Labour Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group prohibits the recruitment of child and forced
labour as prescribed by laws and regulations. The
Group strictly complies with local laws and shall not
provide job opportunities to those who are under the
legal working age of respective jurisdictions.

To avoid illegal employment of child labour and
underage workers, the Human Resources department
of the Group is responsible for verifying personal data
such as the identification card during the recruitment
process. If violation is involved, the Group would
not provide job opportunities to those who are
under the legal working age. No employee shall be
compelled to work against his or her will through
force or intimidation of any form or subject to corporal
punishment or coercion of any type related to work.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations of child and
forced labour, that would have a significant impact
on the Group, including but not limited to the Child
Employment Act 2003, the Fair Work Act 2009 of
Victoria, Australia and the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong, during FY2023.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Supply Chain Management

During the supplier selection process, the Group takes
into account the supplier’s job references, prevailing
market price, delivery time and reputation. In addition,
the Group also considers suppliers who incorporate
ESG issues into their policies and general business
development strategies. Preferential consideration will
be given to suppliers who utilise recycled or reused
materials in their production process. Furthermore,
the Group is keen on supporting the local economies,
where possible, the procurement is sourced locally in
Australia and Hong Kong.

During FY2023, the Group engaged 152 suppliers, of
which 146 were in Australia and 6 were in Hong Kong.

Procurement policy is present within the Group. Where
possible, competitive quotes should be obtained from
at least two suppliers. For procurement of a higher
value, an additional analysis should be run through
beforehand, such as its cost and benefit, presence of
other alternatives and implications if the said purchase
is not made. The Group strives not to over-rely on a
specific supplier in order to ensure the stability of the
supply chain.

To monitor the continuous efforts from the suppliers
in minimising their environmental and social impacts,
regular supplier selection and assessment will be
conducted on existing suppliers to ensure compliance
with the Group’s expectations. The Group monitors the
performance of the selected suppliers on environmental
and social impacts to ensure that they meet the
expectation of the Group and deliver the expected
goods or services. Contracts with suppliers may be
terminated if the expectation of the Group is not met.
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B6. Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to providing the highest
quality of service to its customers, not only because it
is crucial to the health and safety of its customers and
clients, but also for the purpose of attracting future
business opportunities.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to the Privacy and Data Protection Act
2014, the Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 of Victoria,
Australia and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of
Hong Kong, concerning health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services and methods of redress during FY2023. During
FY2023, the Group did not receive any cases of product
or service-related complaints.

Business Ethics

The Group advocates ethical practices and is
determined to mitigate any potential misconduct or
poor services in all its business segments. Therefore,
the Group has established different policies to better
guide its employees and nurture them the importance
of upholding ethical practices from the beginning of
their professional careers.

Product Quality and Safety

In maintaining and ensuring the quality of products
produced in the Group’s vineyards, strict requirements
have been imposed on the storage environment
and the production facilities. Since wine production
is outsourced, the Group conducts quality control
inspections upon receiving wine from its subcontractor.
Due to the Group’s business nature, disclosure on
product recall procedures and number of products
recalled are not applicable.
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B6. Product Responsibility (Cont'd)

Customer Health and Safety

The Group places great emphasis on ensuring
customers’ health and safety. Detailed policies and
guidelines have been in place to ensure employees
provide the highest quality and safe services to the
Group's customers and guests. In doing so, the
occurrence of unfortunate accidents or illnesses can
be avoided. Disciplinary actions will be taken against
employees who participate in activities that would
threaten the health and safety of concerned parties,
their colleagues or others.

Marketing and Labelling

The Group conforms with wine labelling guidelines
pursuant to the Wine Australia Act 2013. As for alcohol
marketing, the Group abides by the requirements
set out in the ABAC Responsible Alcohol Marketing
Code. Relevant guidelines have been provided to the
relevant employees. As the Group sells its Spa Partner’s
products at its hotel to generate additional income, it
requires its Spa Partner to include sufficient labelling on
all products being sold.

Advertising Management

Guidelines on the special requirements in money
lending business advertisements are formally
documented. In addition, the Group abides by the
stipulated legal requirements that pertain to the Money
Lending Licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance.

Customer Services and Complaint Management

The Group maintains an open and welcoming
attitude to feedback and complaints from the
Group's customers and guests, as the Group views it
as an opportunity to improve its service. Procedures
for handling complaints are detailed in the Service
Handbook for the reference of relevant employees.
Should the Group receive any complaints, the Group
will strive to act immediately to resolve the issue with
effective corrective actions.
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B6. Product Responsibility (Cont'd)

Customer Data Protection and Privacy

The Code of Conduct states that the Group’s
employees have an obligation to maintain the
confidentiality of information acquired during the
course of employment. Access to sensitive data and
the Group’s network is granted on an ‘as needed’
basis. Employees are also required not to transmit
highly confidential data through the use of electronic
communications as it is not completely private. The
Group regularly reviews and updates the Code of
Conduct to align with appliable privacy regulations,
and performs regularly internal audit and review to
ensure safeqguard of confidential information. The
Group monitors the implementation of its practice on
customer data protection and privacy by detecting any
unauthorised access to confidential data. The Group
has implemented and routinely upgrades firewall, anti-
virus, and antispam solutions for the Group’s IT systems
to safeguard confidential information.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Policies and measures regarding the protection of
intellectual property rights are in place. For any
infringement of the Group'’s intellectual property rights,
the Group will urge infringers to cease such action. The
Human Resources Department of the Group shall take
further action should such infringement continue.
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B7. Anti-corruption (Cont'd)

Anti-corruption

The Group strives to maintain the highest standards
of honesty, integrity and fairness. Thus, the Group
takes a zero-tolerance stance on corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. Policies on the
aforementioned matters are clearly stated within the
Employee Handbook.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to the Criminal Code Act 1995
of Australia and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
of Hong Kong that would have a significant impact on
the Group during FY2023. During FY2023, there were
no concluded legal cases regarding any forms of fraud
brought against the Group or its employees.

Anti-money Laundering and Counter-financing of
Terrorism

As the Group engages in money lending business, the
Group may be subjected to the risk of unintentionally
engaging in money laundering and financial crimes.
Therefore, in addition to the compliance with laws and
guidelines set up by regulatory authorities, the Group
has set out guidelines to safeguard the interests of the
Group, such as conducting background investigation,
due diligence and loan approvals for loan financing
applications.
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B7. Anti-corruption (Cont'd)

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has a whistle-blowing policy in place
to encourage employees to report any suspicious
fraudulent activities. The Group intends to protect
the whistle-blower from common concerns such as
confidentiality and potential retaliation. Therefore,
the employees reporting in good faith under this
procedure shall be assured of the protection against
unfair termination or victimisation, even if the reports
are subsequently proved to be unsubstantiated. The
Group regularly reviews and updates the whistle-
blowing policy, and performs regularly internal audit
and review to ensure the effectiveness of the whistle-
blowing policy in place. The Group has established a
system to monitor the implementation of its whistle
blowing policy, including tracking and documenting all
whistle-blowing reports received, implementing clear
procedure for investigation and taking appropriate
action for whistle-blowing reports by dedicated team
to ensure that the reports are properly followed up.

In December 2021, the Group adopted the whistle-
blowing policy by amending its Employee Handbook
and provided the Group’s employees (including
directors of members of the Group) with training on the
whistle- blowing policy and anti-corruption practices
of the Group. During FY2023, the Group hosted a
training delivered by representative from professional
to the Directors and employees of the Group in regard
to anti-corruption and integrity to maintain employees’
awareness of the best practices on anti-corruption.
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B8. Community Investment

Community Engagement

The Group is committed to bringing value and
supporting its community by various means of
social participation and financial contribution. As
the Group endeavours to inspire a sense of social
responsibility within its corporate structure, the
Group has established guidelines on community
engagement, focusing on contributing to society’s
needs. Employees are encouraged to participate in the
Group's charitable activities that focus in areas such as
health and education through monetary contribution;
associated costs will be borne by the Group. The
Board also conducts a periodic review on its effort in
community engagement and believes its existing effort
is satisfactory.

To strengthen the connection with society, the Group
has made charitable donations worth of approximately
HK$7,000 (FY2022: HK$5,000) in the form of vouchers
redeemable for the services at the hotel during FY2023.

In addition, the hotel operations actively supported
youth development in the region where it operates.
Balgownie partners with local schools to provide work
experience to students. Students can learn front line
hospitality skills or understand how a hotel operates
from the back end. It also gives them a taste of what
career they would like to achieve when they finish
school. During FY2023, the hotel hosted ten students
from local schools and the TAFE (Technical and Further
Education), a local system providing education in
vocational areas, in its work experience program.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPls

FEsHE - EB@®m

—ARN E R AR ENRIEE

RS

Description
st

BT RFARAR(EE
HEREAREEIRNERS|

Section/Declaration

il L

Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : HEk

General Disclosure

—ARINEE

KPIAT.1
RS IS IRAT.T

KPI'A1.2

RIS SIEIRAT.2

KPI'A1.3

RS AEISIRA13

KPIAT.4
RS ARSI IRAT 4
KPIA1.5

RS IEIRALS

110

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous.

BRABERSOREREBIN ~ MKk LitBIHE

S BERETERYHNELSH

(@ BR; K

(b) BFHETABEAZENHEERER
ROIBE R} o

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

HE TSR R AR R B R o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

Bz EE)REREE (BE2)R=RBE
W2 A E) R (EA) BE (WS E
28 - BIERIE).

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and intensity.

Pt R R B (UM ) R o

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and intensity.

i e A I A B (LU ) R o

Description of emission target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HIMPAE] U BFE B R R AERELEER
FTEREXA 27 B o
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Emissions

i21915C7)!

Emissions — GHG Emissions,
Waste Management
Iy - RERASHIN « BERYEIE

Emissions — GHG Emissions

B - BERBEHIN

Emissions — Waste Management
Not applicable — Explained
P - BEEYEIE

NER - B

Emissions — Waste Management
PEY) - R EE

Emissions — Air Emissions,
GHG Emissions, Waste Management
HE) - BERBEN ~ RE SRR
BEEYEIE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPIs Description
FTEHE - BE it
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Section/Declaration
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KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and
nonhazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

B EEIE A EMEEEEYNG L > Rl
FRs] LB REE B R A ERIE L BT
ERBYP B8R ©

BRI IEIRA1.6

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EEA2 : ERER
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources,

including energy, water and other raw

materials.

—Re i EE ERBMERER(BIEER « KREMER
MR BYEER o

KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by

type in total and intensity.
RERRB DM B, S EEEREEE R

=
N [H=H
B o

RIS IEIRA2.1

KPI A2.2
RESRAENIE1RA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity.

MFEKEBREE °

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

HIFRET AR R AN m B IR R A ERE
LE BRI ERERRY D BR o

BRI IEIRA2.3

KPIA2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

i SKEE A /KR R AR rIEIRE » LAKPR
ST AN B IR A ERE B R
REVHY 8% o

B RIA IS IRA2.4

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and with reference to
per unit produced.

KRy ASEMEINAEE (UEER) RS
FEBMEE

B AEFEIRA2.5

Emissions — Waste Management

) - BEEYEE

Use of Resources

BIRfERA

Use of Resources — Energy Consumption

BIRfEMA - sEREFE

Use of Resources — Water Consumption
BIRFER - KIRHFE

Use of Resources — Energy Consumption

BIREA - sEIRHFE

Use of Resources — Water Consumption

BERER - KRHFE

Use of Resources — Use of Packaging
Material

EBIRfER - SEMRER
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Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : IRIERKAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.

—RRIREE BRABEEITAHRIERRAERISEMEKR

T ERBUR ©

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage

them.
RE SR B IE1EA3.1 Rl R HIRIE RN KABE RNEAFE

REXRNEEARTENITE -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

FEEAL : RIZEME

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

— AR BRAHM REHER RO EEHETAESE
T ENEARGHEBEERIEER °

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

RASRAERIERAL BB SR EEHBTAEERENEKR
RIEMERASEE > KEHTTH
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The Environment and Natural Resources

BRIBERRAER

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Use of Other Resources,
Noise Control

RIBERRAER - B RER
MRS

Climate Change

Climate Change
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Aspect B1: Employment
[EmB1 : {EfE

General Disclosure

— R

KPIB1.1

RIS IE1RB1.1

KPIB1.2

RS AN ISEB1.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare.

BRI e ~ 1B R EA ~ TIERR -

AR~ FHERE ~ 2010~ RERUREM

B AAENRY

(@ H%; Kk

(b) BETHETABEAXENHEREZRER
ERRER o

Total workforce by gender, employment type
(for example, full-or part-time), age group
and geographical region.

MR~ R EEE (EBEFRE) « FheiE
Rl Kot & &l 0 Y e B4R o

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.
%R~ Fl AR Rt @B DB EERAKLL

% o
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FEHRE B - et BB

— AR BB K BB AE UG AR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EmEB2 : @EEAZE

General Disclosure Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

Health and Safety

— AR EREHZ2THRERFRERESEERHE EFRREZE
MEEN
(@ EFR; K
(b) BFHETABERZERNRRERR
ERBVE R} o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety

occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

RS AR5 1RB2.1
KPI B2.2
RS AR N 151%B2.2

KPIB2.3

B RIS E1%B2.3

B = (IEERER) SER T THOA
BURHEE o

Lost days due to work injury.

HITGEARTIFR# -

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.

PP RN R SR (R FR A 2 298 T > U4
AT REER A o

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EmB3 : R K

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B3.1

B RIS IE1RB3.1
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Policies on improving employees’ knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

BERIRAHES BT TR E R Ak BERY
R o It EaIEE) ©

The percentage of employees trained by
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

MR kEEER SR EERE - PRE
EE) 2o xRillEEa Dttt -

LS
Health and Safety
REAZE

Health and Safety

EERZE

Development and Training

R BRI

Development and Training

R Rt
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TEHRE B - it BB

—RR I BB K BB AE UG AR

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and Training
employee by gender and employee
category.

RASRAEXIE1RB3.2 MR REBENE D > BREETHAZ  EEKE
BB o

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EBEB4 : % T8
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

—RRIRER BRA L& T aaaHIsE T ¢ & TR
(@ BR; K
(b) BFHETABEAZENHERERER
ROIBE R} o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review Labour Standards

employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

RASR AR M TE12B4. 1 BRI EAIRE LU R E T Kokt 55 T %8|

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards
practices when discovered.

RARAERIETRBA.2 Ht S IRER SR HRAE RIB PR EREL %5 T AR

By B o

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
JEMEBS : (HFEHEEIR

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and Supply Chain Management
social risks of the supply chain.

— R ERABEEMHERENIRRE R ERERIBER HEEREIE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

RASRAE RIS 1EB5.1 e8| DRHEREE o R EE

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain Management

suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

BB AEFE1RB5.2 HHARERAMHERENES  mERTAR  HEREE
BHNHEEEE » UREERITRER
Vapz
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Section/Declaration
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KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

A B (R EIRE VIR IR it g
REERIER > MURAERIITREEER G °

B RIS E1RB5.3

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

B PROE R AR S BIRRE MR
BRIED » URBRRITRERGE -

B B2 AR 15 1RB5.4

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EHB6 : EMEE

General Disclosure Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

ERFMEERMRBNERREZE &

H BB EEEURBR G EDN

(@ HR; K

(b) BTFHETABEAXENEREIER
RAINER o

— AR EE

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.

EENBEREREHPRZ 2 EERIER
mMZBLIWY B DL °

B B2 AR 15 1%B6. 1

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

RN B mn S ARTS RV AR BB LUK FEEY
7k ©

B SRR E1%B6.2
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Supply Chain Management
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KPI B6.3
PSR AR 517863
KPI B6.4
BSR4 I51RB6.4

KPI B6.5

RS2 5 1RB6.5

Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.
it B e 58 R AR RN oL EE MR R RET RV 1B 451 o

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.
HitBEEmTEBREREMBINIER °

Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

HUH B E B RMRIE R RIS » DU AER]
HITKRERFE °

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7 . RE'S

General Disclosure

— RS

KPI B7.1

RESRAEMIEIZBT .1

KPIB7.2

BRI E1RBT.2

KPI B7.3

RERAEMIEIZBT .3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRI LEERER ~ $1R ~ BREFROE R ¢

) B K

) BETHETABEARZENHEBDNEREK

RAINEK o

(a
(b

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.

RERBAHETASNHESRETEES
NESIFARGHNEE RFEAMER ©

Description of preventive measures and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

P SR T R R AR T > URABRARAT R
BREFE

Description of anti-corruption training
provided to directors and staff.
HitmEE KRB TRHENRESE °

Product Responsibility — Protection of
Intellectual Property Rights
EmEE - MHAE#RRE

Product Responsibility — Product Quality
and Safety
EmEat-ExnBEREZR

Product Responsibility = Customer Data
Protection and Privacy

EmEE - BERHEERERLE

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

RE75

Anti-corruption

R&s

Anti-corruption

k&5
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Aspect B8: Community Investment

[BEBS : {HEIRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.

—Re i EE Bt R2ERT HREEMTHLREEMN
BAREHERTEEE BLENHAVEER

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

R B4R 3512881 EIEMEBEWMHEE  REEE -FIE
KgE B~ 858)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to
the focus area.
R R B I512B8.2 EEILEMBBERWEERLFE) °
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to achieving and upholding good
corporate governance practices that promote greater transparency
and quality of disclosure as well as more effective internal control.

During the year under review, the Company had adopted the
code provisions (“Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 (renumbered as
Appendix C1 with effect from 31 December 2023) to the GEM
Listing Rules then in force as its code of corporate governance.
The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
duties including (a) developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (c) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; and (d) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions. The Board had
carried out the said corporate governance functions during the
year under review. The Company complied with all the Code
Provisions then in force throughout the year ended 31 December
2023.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
taking into account the recommendations of the remuneration
committee of the Board, having regard to merit, qualifications
and competence of the Directors.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors who are also the senior
management of the Group and the five highest paid individuals
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 13
to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had also made specific
enquiry of all Directors, that the Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
the Directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31
December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board composition

From 1 January 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report,
the Board comprises six members, one of which is a non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Ng Ting Ho, two of which are executive
Directors, namely Ms. Lam Ching Yee and Mr. Fong Chak Kiu,
and the remaining three members being independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul.

The members of the Board, who come from different
backgrounds, provide a diverse range of business and professional
expertise to the Company. The biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the “Directors Profile” on pages 51 to
54 in this Annual Report. All Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company at least once every three years in accordance with the
Bye-Laws. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover for the Directors. As at the date of this Annual Report, save
as disclosed in the “Directors Profile” in this Annual Report, none
of the Directors has any relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.
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Roles and responsibilities of the Board and delegation to
the management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions
and performance, and is responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. In
practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decision making
in all major matters of the Company which include approving
and monitoring all policy matters, overall strategies, material
transactions, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to
the senior executives who are responsible for implementing the
decisions of the Board, the coordination and direction of day-to-
day operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to the
entering by the Group into any significant transactions. These
senior executives provide full support to the Board in order for the
Board members to discharge their responsibilities.

Practices and conduct of board meetings

The company secretary (“Company Secretary”) of the Company
is responsible to the Board for providing Board papers and related
materials, for ensuring that all Board procedures and all applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed, and for reporting to the
Chairman on governance matters. All Directors have unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The
Company Secretary also keeps minutes of all meetings of the
Board which are available for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice given by any Director.

The Board meets regularly and held 16 board meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors attended
the meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-Laws. During the
regular Board meetings, the Directors discussed and formulated
the overall strategies of the Group, reviewed and approved the
annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discussed and
decided on other significant matters of the Group. All Directors
have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view
to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.
The Company will, upon request, provide separate independent
professional advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge
their duties to the Company.
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In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial
Shareholder or a Director, such matter will be discussed
through an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict
of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict
issues. The Board committees, including the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee,
have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used
in Board meetings for all committee meetings. If considered to
be necessary and appropriate by the Directors, they may retain
independent professional advisors at the Group's expense.

Individual attendance records of each Director at the respective
Board and committee meetings are set out in the table on page
130 of this Annual Report.

Directors’ continuing professional development

All Directors have been updated from time to time on the latest
developments and changes in the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure the Company’'s
compliance and to enhance the Directors’ awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors understand the
importance of continuous professional development and are
committed to participating in any suitable training or to studying
relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills.

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, Mr.
Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum
Paul have confirmed that they had complied with Code Provision
C.1.4 during the year ended 31 December 2023 by participating
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. During the year under review, the
Company has provided trainings and relevant materials regarding
the GEM Listing Rules to the Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board, manages the
Board and oversees the strategic planning of the Group, whereas
the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the Group’s business
development and daily management generally. According to
Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Ng Ting Ho has become the Chairman
with effect from 17 September 2021 and Ms. Lam Ching Yee has
become the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 5 June 2019.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2),
and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review,
with the appointment of the three independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom having appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence,
and the Company considers such independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the
various guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin
Sum Paul were appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive)
and has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the Company is required to have at least three independent non-
executive Directors and has adopted a policy (“Independent
Views Policy”), pursuant to which the independent non-
executive Directors are required to, among others,

(i)  keep up-to-date with the Company’s business affairs and
be involved in scrutinising the Company’s performance
in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and
monitor performance reporting;

bring independent judgment to bear on the Company’s
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conduct,
help review some of the Board’s major decisions and the
Company’s performance in relation to corporate goals,
monitor the Company’s performance reporting; and

(iii)

take the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise.
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Further, the independent non-executive Directors shall make
sufficient time available to discharge their responsibilities and
should not accept an invitation to serve as an independent
non- executive Director on the Board unless they can devote
adequate time and effort to the work involved. Independent non-
executive Directors sitting on multiple boards of directors of listed
companies will need to ensure that they can dedicate adequate
attention to each board and board committee.

In addition, the independent non-executive Directors shall at
least annually attend meetings with the Chairman without the
presence of other Directors to express their opinions openly. The
Company also provides the Directors, upon reasonable request, to
seek independent professional advice at the Group’s expense. The
Company will provide separate independent professional advice to
Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the Company.

The Company is required to review and has reviewed the
Independent Views Policy and its implementation and
effectiveness on an annual basis.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

During the year under review, Mr. Ng Ting Ho was appointed
as the Chairman and a non-executive Director for a term
commencing from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (both
days inclusive) and has been re-appointed for a term of 12
months commencing from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
(both days inclusive).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, and the nomination
committee, each with its specific terms of reference. Their terms
of reference have been approved and reviewed by the Board and
have been posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. During the year under review, these committees have
adhered to their principles, procedures and arrangements set out
in their respective terms of reference. The respective committee
secretaries took full minutes of the meetings of these committees
and the work of these committees was reported to the Board
regularly during the year under review.

Audit Committee

An audit committee of the Board (“Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and Code Provision
D.3.3 in force during the year under review. The Audit Committee
must consist of a minimum of three members, all of whom must
be non-executive Directors, at least one of whom must have
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are mainly to review the Group's financial information,
reporting process, internal control procedures, risk management
system, audit plan, relationship with external auditors and to
review arrangements to enable employees of the Group, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in the
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Group.

From 1 January 2023 to the date of this Annual Report, the Audit
Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr.
Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe has been the
chairman of the Audit Committee during the year under review
and as at the date of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
held five meetings to review and provide supervision over the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and to review the Company’s annual report and accounts,
half-year report and quarterly reports and to provide advice
and comments to the Board as to whether such reports were
prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements. The Audit Committee also met with the
external auditors to discuss auditing, internal control, statutory
compliance and financial reporting matters of the Group before
recommending the annual financial reports to the Board for
approval.

The Group's quarterly, half-yearly and annual results for the year
under review have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee of the Board (“Remuneration
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2. The principal
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure in relation to the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management of the Company and to review and approve
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
goals and objectives set by the Board for the Company.

From 1 January 2023 to the date of this Annual Report, the
Remuneration Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Remuneration Committee during
the year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting and adopted the approach under
Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. The Remuneration Committee
had reviewed the policy for the remuneration of the executive
Directors, assessed the performance of the executive Directors
and had reviewed and approved the appointment letters and/
or the service contracts of the Directors and the terms thereof
as well as the remuneration and the discretionary bonus of the
Directors during the year under review. No Director was involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

A nomination committee of the Board (“Nomination
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with Code Provision B.3.1. The principal responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

From 1 January 2023 to the date of this Annual Report, the
Nomination Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Nomination Committee during the
year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the policy for the
nomination of Directors, the procedures, process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend
candidates for directorship, the structure, size and composition
of the Board, to recommend candidates for directorship and
to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

The process for the nomination of Directors, which is on merit
basis, is led by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy (“Policy”) which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board in order
to ensure good governance.
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In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on ensuring
a balanced composition of skills and experience at the Board level
in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights and challenge
that enables the Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities
effectively, support good decision making in view of the core
businesses and strategy of the Company and support succession
planning and development of the Board. For achieving an optimal
Board, additional measurable objectives/specific diversity targets
may be set and reviewed from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness.

Selection of candidates will be based on the Policy and will take
into account this Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the
Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing on a
single diversity aspect.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the six Directors on the
Board came from various background and bring different business
and professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service to the Company and has contributed to the diversity at
the Board. For details of the Directors, please refer to pages 58
to 61 of this Annual Report. Diversity at the Board has enabled
the Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively,
supporting good decision making in view of the core businesses
and strategy of the Company and support succession planning
and development of the Board. In the future, the Company
continues to seek to enhance the effectiveness of its Board by
embracing the benefits of diversity in the Board.

As at the date of this Annual Report, there is one female Director
on the Board, namely Ms. Lam Ching Yee.

The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender
diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices, with the
ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity.
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The Nomination Committee reviews the Policy at least once
annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions to the Policy that may be required and
make recommendation to the Board for approval. The Nomination
Committee also monitors the implementation of this Policy by
conducting review of the Board’'s composition at least once
annually taking into account the benefits of all relevant diversity
aspects and adhering to the Policy when making recommendation
on any Board appointments. The Nomination Committee also
ensures that Board diversity is considered as part of the evaluation
of the Board's effectiveness. During the year ended 31 December
2023, relevant trainings were provided to the Directors from time
to time to equip themselves with the attributes and competencies
required for the Board in light of the strategic needs of the Group
and the environment in which it operates.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the
workforce level. As at 31 December 2023, the gender ratio of the
workforce of the Group (including senior management) was 1:3
male to female.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT

MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of

ERHFERLER

HE_ S _=F+"_A=+—HIEFERKE

the Board and its respective committees and general meeting of FERESGAHIEZETEZRAATREAK
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as @ HFELEEIBUT ¢
follows:
Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Committee Committee Committee General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
attend attend attend attend attend
L/ AER HE/AER WE/AER
HE/ BER HEE% H FE &M HERSE WHE/ S8R
HEEEE  ZEgEE ZEEER 2 ZE993F HERRKE
Name of Directors EE4 EERY R RE R R
Number of meetings held during the RHBEERETZ 16 5 1 1 1
financial year GEIH
Non-executive Director EHTER
Mr. Ng Ting Ho SRERE 16/16 0/0 0/0 0/0 17
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MBELL 16/16 0/0 0/0 0/0 17
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu hERRE 16/16 0/0 0/0 0/0 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors EIIFHTESR
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BiRtE (BEEERE) 15/16 5/5 1/1 1/1 1/1
(Committee Chairman)
Mr. Chan Ming Kit BRI E 14/16 4/5 11 1/1 01
Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul BERTE 13/16 4/5 1/1 11 1/1
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees paid/payable
to the Group’s external auditor, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong)
CPA Limited, for the audit and non-audit services provided
to the Group amounted to approximately HK$904,000 and
approximately HK$1,000 respectively. The total amount of fees
paid/payable to other audit firms for providing audit and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted
to approximately HK$231,000 and approximately HK$290,000
respectively. The non-audit service fees incurred consist of fees
for taxation services, advisory services, and company secretarial
services of approximately HK$192,000, approximately HK$78,000,
and approximately HK$20,000, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under
the GEM Listing Rules, and management will provide information
and explanations to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company’s external auditor, McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities
is included in the Independent Auditor’'s Report in this Annual
Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Group and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. The Company Secretary
is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board procedures are
followed and that the Board is briefed on legislative, regulatory
and corporate governance developments. During the year under
review, the Company Secretary has taken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training as required by the GEM Listing
Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal control
and for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to meet
the particular needs of the Group and to mitigate the risks which
it is exposed to. By their nature, however, such risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board has engaged
an independent advisor to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material financial, operating and compliance controls for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Such review is conducted
annually. The scope of the review has been previously determined
and approved by the Board and the Audit Committee. The
independent advisor has reported major findings and areas of
improvement to the Board. All the recommendations have been
properly followed up by the Group to ensure that they will be
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board is of
the view that the Group’s current risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective.

As might be expected of a Group of its size, a key control
procedure is the day-to-day supervision of the business by the
executive Directors, supported by managers responsible for
operations and the key central and divisional support provided by
the Group’s financial information systems and human resources.
Key elements of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group as described below have all been in place
throughout the year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report and are reviewed regularly by the Board:

e clearly defined management structure, lines of responsibilities
and delegation of authority;

e high recruitment standards and formal career development
and training to ensure the integrity and competence of the
staff;

e regular and comprehensive information provided to
management, covering financial performance and non-
financial measures;
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procedures for the approval of capital expenditure,
investments and acquisitions;

detailed budgeting process in which top management is
involved in budget setting, constant monitoring of key
statistics and review of management accounts on a monthly
basis, noting and investigating major variances; and

consideration of progress made against significant business
risks at monthly management review meetings, with
quarterly briefings to the Board.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

Considers the impacts of the risks on the business caused
by the adverse events associated with the risks and the
likelihood of occurrence of these adverse events.

Response to Risks

Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessments; and

Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid and mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place and resolve material internal control defects (if any);

Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

Reports the results of risk monitoring to management and
the Board regularly.
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Inside Information

e The Group has in place, as an element of its risk
management and internal control systems, a policy on
disclosure of inside information, to ensure that inside
information is handled and disseminated properly and in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
finance manager of the Company and the department heads
within the Group are responsible for monitoring the changes
and developments in their respective areas of operation and
report any potential or suspected inside information events
to the Board. Based on the information obtained through
internal reporting, the Board assesses whether any of the
information constitutes inside information which needs
to be released to the public. Should public disclosure be
required, the Board will determine the scope of information
to be disclosed and the timing of disclosure. If and when
appropriate, the Board may seek independent professional
advice to ensure that the Company complies with the
disclosure requirements.

The Board has considered the need for an internal audit function,
and concluded that, given the size of the Group and its risk
management and internal control systems in place, it is not
necessary at present. The Board will review this issue on an annual
basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy with effect from 1
January 2019. Dividends may be paid out by means of cash or by
other means that the Directors consider appropriate. Declaration
and payment of any dividends would require the recommendation
of the Board and will be at its discretion. In addition, any
dividends for a financial year will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders. A decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of any dividends, depends on a number
of factors, including the financial performance and future funding
needs of the Company and other factors the Board may deem
relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject
to compliance with the Bye-Laws and the laws of Bermuda.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in
any particular amount for any given period.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with the Shareholders is given a high priority by
the Company. The Company aims to provide the Shareholders
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency
through the publication of annual and interim reports,
announcements and circulars made through the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange.

The Board also maintains an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and use general meetings to communicate with
the Shareholders. The Company encourages all the Shareholders
to attend general meetings of the Company which provide a
useful forum for the Shareholders to exchange their views with
the Board. The Chairman and members of the relevant Board
committees and senior management of the Company are also
available to answer the Shareholders’ questions in the general
meetings.

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially independent issue
at general meetings of the Company, including the election
of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings of the Company will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting of the Company.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of its shareholders’ communication policy during the year under
review.

The Company has established different communication channels
with the Shareholders. Shareholders may raise their enquiries in
general meetings. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company held the annual general meeting of the Company on 8
May 2023 which was attended by members of the Board and the
Company'’s auditor to answer questions from the Shareholders
attending the meeting.

In addition, the Company endeavours to disclose all material
information about the Group to the Shareholders as effectively
and timely as possible, including the publication of annual and
interim reports, announcements and circulars, notices of general
meetings, monthly returns on movements in the Company’s
securities for each month, and terms of reference of the
committees of the Board. Shareholders may at any time make
a request for the Company’s information to the extent such
information is publicly available. Shareholders may also at any
time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s office in Hong Kong.

In view of the above, the Company considered its shareholders’
communication policy effective.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing Shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Bye-Laws were
amended in line with the then latest legal and regulatory
requirements, including the amendments made to the then
Appendix 3 to the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the amendments
are disclosed in the Company’s announcement and circular dated
4 April 2023 and 13 April 2023, respectively. The amended and
restated Bye-Laws were adopted by the Company pursuant to the
shareholders’ resolution passed on 8 May 2023 and is available on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, save as disclosed
above, there was no significant change in the Company’s
memorandum of continuance and the Bye-Laws.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT
Procedures for Shareholders to convene a general meeting

Pursuant to Bye-Law 58 of the Bye-Laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or
resolution specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in accordance with the provisions of
Section 74(3) of the Companies Act.

Such written requisition (i) must state the object of business or
resolution to be transacted at the meeting; (i) must be signed by
the requisitionists; and (iii) must be deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong in hard copy form for the
attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The requisition
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of the requisitionist(s).
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Putting forward proposals at general meetings

Save for the procedures for the Shareholders to convene a general
meeting as set out above and for the Shareholders to nominate
a person for election as a Director pursuant to Bye-Law 85 of the
Bye-Laws, there are no other provisions allowing the Shareholders
to put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company
under the Bye-Laws or under the laws of Bermuda. Shareholders
may follow the procedures set out above to convene a special
general meeting of the Company for any business or resolution
specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. Questions about the procedures
for convening or putting forward proposals at an annual general
meeting or a special general meeting of the Company may also
be put to the Company Secretary by the same means.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HANG TAI YUE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and re-domiciled and
continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited liability)

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 150
to 315, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong).
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined the matters described below
to the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. The
key audit matters we identified are:

(i)  Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables;

(i) Determination of the fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"); and

(i) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment
relating to the provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter

FRERER

FREZER (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BPINBZMN A RIERRBEIZEER

(i) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and other

receivables

FEWARTR « BIRERRFE « BEREMEBWRRBEZ RERE

Reference is made to notes 4(bb), 5(c) and 5(d) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures
of the related accounting policies, judgements and
estimates and notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements for further information.
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The net carrying amounts of the Group’s accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and
other receivables were approximately HK$3,426,000,
HK$50,829,000 and HK$42,093,000, respectively, as at
31 December 2023.

RIEZ=%+ZA=+—H> EBHEEREKIE
M BRRERKRFE > BEREMBWRIEZRE
FEDRI##93,426,0008 7T ~ 50,829,000 7T K&
42,093,000 7T °©

Our procedures in relation to management'’s assessment
of allowance for impairment on accounts receivable, loan
and interest receivables, deposits and other receivables
included:
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- Obtaining an understanding of control and
procedures over the allowance for impairment on
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables,
deposits and other receivables and evaluating the
historical accuracy of the impairment estimation by
management, including revision of the purchase
orders from customers and loan agreements,
validating the controls over the approval, recording
and monitoring of accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables
and assessment of the collectability of the debtors
and the borrowers;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RBEZEEGE)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
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FREZER (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BB ELMARIERBREZSEEGE)

(i) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and other

receivables (Cont’d)

FEWERTR « FEIRERRFIS ~ & R E M UTRIE Z R{E & (8)

During the year, the Group recognised impairment loss
on accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables
and deposits and other receivables of approximately
HK$175,000 and HK$280,000 respectively, in
accordance with HKFRS 9.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group's impairment
allowance on loan and interest receivables and deposits
and other receivables amounted to approximately
HK$637,000 and HK$1,610,000, respectively.
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— Assessing the reasonableness of the Group's

expected credit losses (“ECLs"”) models, including the
model input, model design, model performance for
significant portfolios. We assessed the reasonableness
of the Group’s criteria for impairment by assessing
if there has been a significant increase in credit
risk that allowances for impairment of loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables
should be measured on a lifetime ECLs basis. We
also assessed whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of the
recent losses incurred in the portfolios and assessed
the reasonableness of forward-looking adjustments;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RREZEEGE)

FREZER (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BB ELMARIERBREZSEEGE)

(i) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and other

receivables (Cont’d)

FEWERTR « FEIRERRFIS ~ & R E M UTRIE Z R{E & (8)

The measurement of allowance for impairment loss,
based primarily on ECLs, requires the application
of judgement and estimation by the management.
The Group's policy for recognition of allowance for
impairment on accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables is based
on the evaluation of recoverability, ageing analysis
and on management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of the
debtors and the borrowers.
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For this reason, we have identified the allowance for
impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables, deposits and other receivables as a key
audit matter.
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Assessing the basis of management’s assessment
of recoverability of accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables
with reference to the management'’s evaluation of the
debtors or borrowers’ creditworthiness, debtors or
borrowers’ credit history including default or delay in
payments, debtors or borrowers’ settlement records,
subsequent settlements from debtors or borrowers
and ageing analysis of each individual debtor or
borrower; and
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Recalculating the amount of the allowance for
impairment under ECLs approach on accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables, deposits and
other receivables and assessing the sufficiency of the
allowance for impairment as at 31 December 2023.
RIBETRIREEBEEA ZEMtERUERR - BIKE
MRAE ~ BEREAMBEWRIEZ HERESEE
TR 2 =F+"A=+—HBWREZEERZ
HIES ©
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RBEZEEGE)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BIZBENRE S

FREZER (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BB ELMARIERBREZSEEGE)

(ii) Determination of the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL

BRATEEBEDIIRZEMEEZATEEE

Reference is made to notes 4(k) and 5(e) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures
of the related accounting policies, judgements and
estimates and notes 23 and 41 to the consolidated
financial statements for further information.
BH2RGRE T IRRMT4AK) K5 )*"ﬂﬁ%ﬁ’;ﬁﬂﬁz% .
FIER M 5T 2 W B AR B M BRI 23 41 23

As at 31 December 2023, included in the carrying
amount of the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL were
unlisted investments and derivative financial assets
with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$37,769,000 measured with unobservable inputs.

R _E_=F+"R=+—H> EEERATES
BE@NRZEREERAESEY > REAEAHY
37,769,000 8T A UR I REE A BB 2RIIF LT
KRERTEETHMEE °

The fair value measurement of these financial assets are
determined by an independent qualified professional
valuer.

ZETHMEEZ ATENENHBLICEREXMEE
EMEETE ©

We identified the determination of the fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL is a key audit matter due to
a higher degree of complexity and the significance
of management judgment that unobservable inputs
involves in the fair value measurement.
BB AT EE BB Rz EMEEZ A TEE
EFAFEREZSEE  REAAHEMEERSBAE
HEMMERY R AR ABEZ AT EFE/FD
BARFIER o

Our procedures in relation to the determination of the fair
value of the financial assets at FVTPL included:
MEATEEBETDIRZEMEEZATEETE » &
PIFITNRR R B4 -

—  Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation approach
and methodology;

— HERE R LEMRUT BEE R AR
AOEZE ;

—  Evaluating the objectivity and competency of the
independent valuer;

— FHMEBILUGEMINEFRERES ;

—  Challenging the management and the independent
valuer on the reasonableness of the assumptions and
estimations adopted in the valuation;

— MLEREANEBERAGSIESEEEBEEREK
B ALERD ;

—  Working with the auditor’s valuation specialists to
review the valuation methodology, approach, the
accuracy of the calculations in the valuation model
and inputs used in the fair value measurements; and

— HEREEZEHEERGF > BEREMGERE
& HEREE 'J$D+§E/£Z—%EEIE&’&${ED+EF)?
%ﬁﬁzﬁw\%&%ﬁ y R

=  Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.

— BRNGEMHERRNEBEENESDS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RREZEEGE)

FREZER (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BB ELMARIERBREZSEEGE)

(iii) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia

BRI R A E RBRRBE A RNYE - BB K& EHZREE

Reference is made to notes 4(aa) and 5(a) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures
of the related accounting policies, judgements and
estimates and note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.

FHRREGEV B HRFRMNT4(aa)5()H BRI E 5T
R HET R AT 2 IR BERGEMBIRERMN T 14—

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’'s
property, plant and equipment was an amount of
approximately HK$166,314,000 attributable to the
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia
(collectively, “Estate Resorts”).

A TE=F+"A=+—H 5A EEEYE-
B B Jsz o 1 7 B BB A TE BUMN R (B[S S AB RA AR TS (4778
EithEE R 1)49166,314,0008 THEE ©

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of the Estate Resorts included:

TEIRE S B EE RN ZRESL 0 RANITHRER
B4E

—  Discussing with management and the independent

valuer to understand the basis of valuation approach
and methodology;

— HEERE R LERS AU T BEE S A RIS
AOEZEE ;

—  Evaluating the objectivity and competency of the
independent valuer;

—  FHMEEILGEMNEFRERES ;

—  Challenging the management and the independent
valuer on the adoption of the assumptions and
estimations in the valuation;

— BMHERERANER G SHEREEE KB E
Bl ;

—  Challenging the independent valuer to ensure proper
comparables were used;

— BEEBIUIGEMNEREAEENAELEHER ;

—  Working with the auditor’s valuation specialists to
review the valuation methodology, approach, the
accuracy of the calculations in the valuation model
and inputs used in the fair value measurements; and

— HERZBEIZHEEREGMF > sREGERZE &
BN EREPSHE R A2 ERE R AT EFEM
REZHASE , &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)

RBEZEEGE)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BIZBENRE S

FRERER (E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Cont'd)

BB ELMARIERBREZSEEGE)

(iii) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia (Cont'd)

BRI R HA S RABRIRFE B R « BB Rk B ZmE Tl (1)

For the purpose of assessing the recoverable amount
of the Estate Resorts, the management engaged an
independent professional valuer to perform a valuation
(“Properties Valuation”) regarding the Estate Resorts
based on management’s assumptions. Significant
management judgement was used to determine the
key assumptions underlying the Properties Valuation,
including (i) recent market prices of the Estate Resorts;
(ii) locations of the Estate Resorts; and (iii) types of the
Estate Resorts, such assumptions and the valuation
technique involves significant unobservable inputs.
mEEEMEERNZAWREEEE > EBEEERE—
LB EELEN > REBEEEEZBIEMEMEER
NETHEMFEME)) - EEBFHERFIELETE
MELBEMRZETE2RE > 8ROBEMEERNZE
HME ; (WBMEEBNZAIE ; Kii)BHEERF
23R > ZERBRAGERINS RERTATEEGA
G

For this reason, we have identified the determination of
the recoverable amount of the Estate Resorts as a key
audit matter.

BT S > B EMEE BN 2 el EEE E 5|
#EAREBILEIR °

—  Checking and challenging with the comparable data

through internal or external sources, on a sample
basis, the relevance of (i) the recent market price of
the Estate Resorts; (ii) locations of the Estate Resorts;
and (iii) types of the Estate Resorts; and

— RHSEEZERERERE RN R EE
BE()EMEERNZEIHAHE ; (IBHEERNZ
UE ; Ki)EthEE RN ZEREREMN ; &

=  Recalculating the amount of the impairment on the
Estate Resorts and assessing the sufficiency of the
impairment as at 31 December 2023.

— ENSERMEEBRNZBESEKRTLN S
=F+"A=+—BzZAEREM!

=  Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.
— BHRANGEVBRENOKBEEHNZESSE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
VR ER S GRS =]

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises all of the information included in the
Company’s annual report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Hth&x

EFANHMENEE - HthEReRE a2
BIFEHFTEMFTEER T EEREHBR
=B E BRI BEN IR S o

RPRGEEMBERERNVEREMHEREMSE
o FFITR A BB RS R IR EE

A
“him o

MBREEGUBRERMES > RFINSESRE
HhE# > RItiERES > EEREMEHNEE A
A BRRAIPINEIZBRE TSRS
MBENEE > XNURESAEREZRRL - &
REFEATHIIE > HERMABSEMERS
BEAERR > HPRKREZFE - RIL7H
H > HZFORAEARS -

EEMEREZEEMEEGMBR
RBKEZER

EFXAEEREREGHNAGRMZTEY
BREZEAREBADFRABIKERERKE
BEMPEZGeVBRE > REBEEBAIM
MUGEMBREAMEBLEZARAEE
£ DURBGR S H B IRR A FE RN EEEEE
RMERZ EAIERERAL o

MAEGSMBRER > EF881E E5E
FragEnse > TEERABR MREREE
KERMNEE > UREAFEEERES
> (RIFESARR BEEBREIFLE
= WA EAEMBERNENLE -

ERZEEWMPEFRETRSEE  EE B
EENMBREMNE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

ERRERZRERAR | S =458

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
BIZBENRE S

BN B LR S B R AKX
’ZEHE

HFNERASEREERREUBHRERES
AEEHPIREFNERME NI B AR
BRat > WA A RMERVZHENRS -
BARBEAERE-NN—FRFAFIRE
[ ETFAERE ERRMNER » Fitz
O > BEETEEMBE - AT ERERS
NRBREEEMA T ETIHEBERSE -

GEREBBSERIZE » BTERFRIRESA
BT REAETIEZ TIFBAEE IR A FERY
BERFERRERAL o SEERMRI PRI EREFEEEER
HER NEERNSERMBER NI EERE
RIBGR S M B REIFHIEERER » AR
FHERIRERRAL ©

RIEEBETEDETEZLE > RERASRE
HE > REEBIZBRNRITEEIRRAEE o
AT

o HAIKFHER S B RENFFIIER
MHIRERERRAA AR > FELSE
R st RAITEZRER  BRERERK
BEBZERIERKMANERRBMHER -
MRMEFS R EREBE ~ RE - MEE
S BRE R R E R EES] 0 FIE
AN A 3 3R A I35 AR B9 BB K BE SR PR AL LR
BORAE IR ANERME NI ERIER
BRIt ERES o

o  THREEZARMPANIIES - LIRS

ENEZERF  BULFsSHEYH S£H
REMERINAERER -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT'D)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

148
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT'D)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number — P06633

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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HPITABELEZEGRIER  HARMAEE
STARBIIEERENR » WA KRG ER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mﬂ'EJ

HhEEWRm =

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

2023 2022
=5 =
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TET
Revenue A 7 64,587 134,373
Cost of sales 5 & A A (9,613) (75,790)
Other income and gains H U A B W s 7 2,289 30,883
Administrative expenses TR (85,469) (104,218)
Impairment loss on accounts FEUSBRTR ~ BN E R
receivable, loan and interest FMEZBEBE
receivables 21(c) (175) (278)
Impairment loss on deposits and e REMEBRTRIEZ
other receivables BBEESE 22 (280) (1,330)
Impairment loss on goodwill e RERE 16 - (1,736)
Gain on deemed disposal of BIEHERB AR 2 WE
subsidiaries 33(a) 72,145 26,907
Gain on disposals of financial assets HEZAFEFEBERHER
at fair value through profit or loss (AT EERERSIIR])
(“FVTPL") ZEMEEZ W 335 -
Fair value loss on financial BATEBEBERYR S/
assets at FVTPL, net BEZ AT EEIEFEE (8,282) (2,244)
Fair value gain on derivative financial T4 &&E2 AFEWER
liabilities 28 402 73
Share of results of associates panlit = W/NSIES 18 (16,994) 11,476
Finance costs B 9 (6,493) (9,238)
Profit before tax BRI AT 8 12,452 8,878
Income tax credit FriEMiR%R 10 - 1,047
Profit for the year KEE &AM 12,452 9,925
Other comprehensive income, net EthZ ks > RIRIE
of tax
Items that may be reclassified HE BB iEEN 7748
subsequently to profit or loss in E#8z2IEH :
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences arising on MEBINCB AR BRRE
translation of financial statements G2 ERERR
of overseas subsidiaries 1,514 2,416
Reclassification of translation reserve FA1E1EHEM B A TR EHER
upon deemed disposal of $ELE DA
subsidiaries (3,712) 459
Item that will not be reclassified FFFREEMPEERZZ
to profit or loss: HH :
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial A TE S E MR E U355
assets at fair value through other R(BEATEEBEMZE
comprehensive income WKEHmHER) v EREEZA
(“FVTOCI"), net TEW, (B518) P58 28,054 (40,277)
Other comprehensive income for the ZNFEEEHMEEWE -
year, net of tax NBRIRIAE 25,856 (37,402)
Total comprehensive income for the ZNFE 2 E UL HARZE
year 38,308 (27,477)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER CON\PREHENSlVE |NCON\E

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T —F+_H=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=F s
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
P 5T F#&T FHET
Profit for the year attributable to: T%| A TELEFEEGZF :
The shareholders of the Company ZN/NET S 12 12,644 11,205
Non-controlling interests FEVER R (192) (1,280)
12,452 9,925
Total comprehensive income THALTEGEEERR
for the year attributable to: Wai#Bga -
The shareholders of the Company KANBIIRE 38,500 (25,985)
Non-controlling interests JRER T (192) (1,492)
38,308 (27,477)
Earnings per share skad
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B ARRAE (BL) 12 0.24 0.21
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE M INR

At 31 December 2023
R E_—F+—-_F=+—H

2023 2022
—_E= TETTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st FHET TETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BE BB 14 172,287 156,771
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a) 4,982 7,518
Goodwill EES 16 - -
Other intangible assets HihmAE&EE 17 - -
Investments in associates REENB 2 RE 18 86,237 118,914
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATESEAEMEEN G
SR SR EE 19 2,887 3,185
Financial assets at FVTPL BN EHEBIERIR
EMEE 23 29,190 49,455
Deferred tax assets FRIETRIEE & 29 1,169 1,170
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 296,752 337,013
CURRENT ASSETS TMENE E
Inventories 78 20 4,696 4,435
Accounts receivable, loan and FEWERT ~ BINEFRERFE
interest receivables 21 54,255 40,889
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE ~ 12E R HAM
receivables & U ERIE 22 46,723 43,309
Financial assets at FVTOC]I BAFEEBEMEEN G
SR SR EE 19 - 91,701
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESBERYIRZ
EMEE 23 32,507 68,170
Cash and cash equivalents REeMERREIER 24 6,569 9,313
Total current assets MENEEARE 144,750 257,817
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENRE
Contract liabilities HH8E 25 10,190 8,146
Trade and other payables, accruals B 5 K B fE(TRIE
and provision FESHE AR 26 34,372 101,501
Lease liabilities HESR 15(b) 4,629 3,428
Interest-bearing bank and FFEIRITREMBEE
other borrowings 27 38,439 83,822
Convertible loans AR ER 28 8,328 -
Derivative financial liabilities TEERAas 28 = 402
Tax payable FE(IFRIE - 57,683
Total current liabilities MBI E({EAERE 95,958 254,982
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEPER 48,792 2,835
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEAERREBAR
LIABILITIES 345,544 339,848
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANClAL POSITION
Il\7|_ = /\j%ﬂk/ﬁ%

At 31 December 2023
R_E =+ —_H=+—H

2023 2022
—=E-= =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bzt FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERHERE
Interest-bearing bank and sHERITRAMES
other borrowings 27 27,520 31,507
Convertible loans EIEAY = 28 - 7,715
Lease liabilities HEaB 15(b) 1,044 4,721
Total non-current liabilities ErBaE4EEE 28,564 43,943
NET ASSETS BEERE 316,980 295,905
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ARl
Share capital [N 30 51,560 53,362
Reserves e 32 265,946 242,877
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE IR FE (LR
SHAREHOLDERS 317,506 296,239
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS JEIERR T (526) (334)
TOTAL EQUITY ERERR 316,980 295,905

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors (the
"Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”) on 28 March 2024

and signed on its behalf by:

Ng Ting Ho
BEE
Director

BF

KAraEFE(ERNE(EREF )N _FZ
ME=R = +/\BHUERZETE > WA T
FIATHRES

Lam Ching Yee
W E

Director

BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n\7|_|:|$ /\“D%@]%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company

FATRRME.
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets
at FvToCl Non-
Share Treasury Share  Contributed  Translation Other (non- Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares premium* surplus* reserve* reserve*  recycling)* losses* Total interests equity
RATEE
BEMEE
Wa5iEE 2
sHEEY
ATERE
[ ERRR RivEE  REER  EREE  HtEE  (FIBR:+  RHER &t FERER s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Fin Fin Fin Fin Tin Tin Tin TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
1 January 2022 ZZITE-FB-H 53,362 - 510233 693,308 (5873) 5235 (212,556) (720,983) 322,726 (4,915) 317,811
Profit for the year REEER - - - - - - - 11,205 11,205 (1,280) 9,925
Other comprehensive income for the year: REEHMEENE @
Exchange differences related to overseas AENBLTERNEREE
subsidiaries - - - - 2,628 - - - 2,628 212) 2416
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RIELENBAS - - - - 459 - - - 459 - 459
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTOCI BATEBBEMANGTR
ZERERNATERR - - - - - - (40.277) - (0.27) - (40.277)
Total comprehensive income for the year REELENE - - - - 3,087 - (40,277) 11,205 (25,985) (149) (27.477)
Disposal of investments in listed equity HERATE:
securities at FVTOCI g2 LR - - - - - - 27,251 (27,251) - - -
Change in ownership interest in a subsidiary FEREHE
that does not result in a loss of control WBABFEREZEE - - - - - (502) - - (502) (4,499) (5,001)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries %/’Edjﬁ ﬁ@ - - - - - - - - - 10572 10,572
Transfer in contributed surplus due to y HEE
cancellation of share premium - - (510,233) 510,233 - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
1 53,362 - - 1,203,541 (2,786) 4733 (225,582) (737,029) 296,239 (334) 295,905
Profit for the year Nﬂgmﬂ - - - - - - - 12,644 12,644 (192) 12,452
Other comprehensive income for the year REERMAENG
Exchange differences related to overseas REIHELDEENERER
subsidiaries = = = = 1,514 = = = 1514 = 1514
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary RfEtE—BREAS - - - - 37112 S S S 3712 S 3,712
Deemed disposal of investments in listed equity BEHERATESBEMRENE
securities at FVTOCI SRz ERASSRE - = o o = S 158,554 (158,554) - - -
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVTOCI BATEFBEM2ANGTR
ZEMEENATENE - - - - - - 28,054 - 28,054 - 28,054
Total comprehensive income for the year REERENGER S = o (2,198) = 186,608 (145,910) 38,500 (192) 38,308
Repurchase of shares BER(H - (17.233) - - - - - - (1.233) - (17.233)
Cancellation of shares R (1,802) 17,33 = (15431) - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=#+ZR=+-H 51,560 - - 1,188,110 (4,984) 4733 (38,974) (882,939) 317,506 (526) 316,980

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves *
of approximately HK$265,946,000 (2022: HK$242,877,000)

in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,\\7r Dfﬁi/)u%%

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T E -+ /A =—+—HILFE
2023 2022
—_E= BT TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk FHET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KREKEXHZIAEHE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax PRI AT T 12,452 8,878
Adjustments for: M FIRIEEHAE
Bank interest income RITHI EULA 7 (52) (1)
Finance costs E= %N 9 6,493 9,238
Depreciation of property, M~ BBERRBITE
plant and equipment 14 8,055 8,157
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fEREEETE 15(a) 3,864 3,971
Share of results of associates DMEBERNEEE 18 16,994 (11,476)
Gain on disposals of Hj’%?tc/&qzﬁ?_f_iéﬁﬂ
financial assets at FVTPL ZEMEEZ W@ (335) -
Fair value loss on BATEEBIERYIRY
financial assets at FVTPL EHMEEZAFE
g 8,282 2,244
Fair value gain on derivative TTEEMasr
financial liabilities N B 28 (402) (73)
Impairment loss on goodwill e 2 RERTE 16 - 1,736
Impairment loss on accounts FEURBRRR ~ RN E R
receivable, loan and interest B ZRERE
receivables 21(c) 175 278
Impairment loss on deposits e REHMBWRIE
and other receivables AEREE 22 280 1,330
Gain on deemed disposal RIEHERB AR Z
of subsidiaries g 33(a) (72,145) (26,907)
Gain on deemed disposal of BEHE—RBBRERATZ
an associate & 7 (149) -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,“7r = Eﬁiuu%%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—_ET= —ETTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st FHET TETT
Operating cash flows before EEESEHAIZ
working capital changes A L o =<1 (16,488) (2,625)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOgm R (267) 230
(Increase)/decrease in accounts FEWRR T ~ BB R K
receivables, loan and interest FE (g
receivables (13,546) 12,684
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,  FAIFIE ~ EAEUEIE K&
other receivables and Hah&ERL,/ (8m)
other assets 5,563 (13,276)
Increase in contract liabilities BHEBEEMN 2,009 1,143
Increase in trade and other payables, &5 K& EhFET I
accruals and provision FEST & A M I 10 9,768 19,079
Purchases of financial assets BERATESBERYR
at FVTPL ZEMEE (12,577) (8,956)
Proceeds from disposal of HERAFEHBIERTIR
financial assets at FVTPL ZEMEBEEPMSNIE 60,558 1,077
NET CASH FLOW GENERATED KEEHFREEZRERES
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES % 35,020 9,356
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING FREREBEZHZIRER=
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BEKMXREER
plant and equipment 14 (23,382) (15,356)
Bank interest received BUWERTTH] B 7 52 1
Proceeds from disposal of financial ~ HEZRAFEZBEMEE
assets at FVTOC| Wy iRz EHMEEY
PRig=IE - 1,690
Capital injection to investment m—EREABKREEE
in an associate (3,500) -
Dividend received from an associate ~ WEN—RBE AT ZIRE 18 9,666 27,184
Net cash outflow from deemed RIEHERB AR
disposal of subsidiaries IRE M FEE 33(a) (11) (543)
NET CASH FLOW (USED IN)/ KRB IEE (FRFE) FRiGHRE
GENERATED FROM INVESTING MERER
ACTIVITIES (17,175) 12,976
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,\\7r Dfﬁi/)u%%

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T E -+ /A =—+—HILFE
2023 2022
—_ET= TETTF
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
GE: FH7T TH7T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING KRERMEZHZIRERE
ACTIVITIES
Repurchases of ordinary shares EAEI PN RS ]
of the Company (17,233) -
Repayment of interest-bearing bank ~ EiEst BIRTTREHMEE
and other borrowings 33(c) (18,734) (32,240)
Interest paid BT S 33(0) (5.512) (8,077)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ EfJfAEZ EAZD 33(0) (3.804) (3,275)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ BffFEE 2 B I 5 33(c) (368) (502)
Inception of interest-bearing bank ~ #Tigst BIRITREMEE
and other borrowings 33(c) 25,154 19,950
Proceeds from issue BITIBRERFRERIE
of convertible loans 28 = 600
NET CASH FLOW USED IN REEBIFTAEIRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEFE (20,497) (23,544)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HERERRELIEH ZH LD
CASH EQUIVALENTS HRE (2,652) (1,212)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RMEVZREKRZERTEEIER
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 9,313 10,839
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXR&H 3%
RATE CHANGES (92) (314)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RMELXRZREKXZERBELIER
AT END OF YEAR 6,569 9,313
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERERRSIBEBEGROW
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances REKIB1THERR 24 6,569 9,313
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ira R R M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

1.

158

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was redomiciled
and continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited
liability. The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda. The principal place of business is 9/F, HKHC
Tower, No. 241-243 Nathan Road, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange ("GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws
of Hong Kong). Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group are discussed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Company and its subsidiaries
("Group”) for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
= Pillar Two Model Rules
- Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

The application of all new amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group'’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE
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L\LOATES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I|‘7T_\ /=~
For the year ended 31 December 2023
TE = A= —HILFE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONT'D)

HE—F

160

(b)

775 e R Y 5E

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not applied any new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2023. The new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1= Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability
in a Sale and Leaseback

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause (“HK Int 5 (Revised)")

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
= Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 21 - Lack of
Exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
- Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONT'D)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont'd)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the material accounting policy information
below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are measured
at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

3.

ira R R M5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira R R M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT’'D)

(a)

162

Consolidation (Cont'd)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity
within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

4. BRGFEEREN (8)

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

164

(c)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and any contingent consideration. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods
in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the sum of the consideration transferred is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the
consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

4, BRG

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(c)

(d)

Business combination and goodwill (Cont'd)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs") or groups of CGUs that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill
is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as
an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint
control over those policies. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held
by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right are not
considered.

ERRERZRERAR | S =458

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_F_=f1+_A=+—HUFE
4. BRGFTBERER (@)

(c)

(d)

EBEHEEHEGE

PR mESD R - BB A AR R 5T
BEBEE - sEEANRmS
REBEHTRBENBESDEE
BHAXERGHIBRM SR
TELEU(REEEE M) IR
TEEBMUER - BHEBEZR
B BB A R A E B AL A&
EEANMERBENRMBEER -
BESFETHERS  NEES
IR BB ST e BT B B 3R R
B (FHBEERN - 838
BHSELBAZREBEREAR
WelElsEZAIFEEER - FIUR[EIEER 2 18
RBEERAFERHENENKS
E o EABERREDSARY » B
Hg A gimE -

BrE AT

BMEADEAEENEREERRE
IHER  -ERTENIESHRER
BB RS E B RRERBIES > B
7 JF ) 30 3L B x F R o
R EERRTREBERTES
o @ZRESFAERKAITHER
@y BEREE(BEREMERE
RAZBERER) REZE - 15T
HEERERECHERFENAE
TER > AEETERFAATHIE
BN E R RS

165



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira R R M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT’'D)

(d)

166

Associates (Cont'd)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values as at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits,
the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(d) Associates (Cont'd)

(e)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents
the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the
Group’s entire carrying amount of that associate
(including goodwill) and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in
an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture,
the Group continues to apply the equity method and
does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$"), which is the Company's functional and
presentation currency.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

168

(iij) Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains
and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Cont'd) (e) SMNEMEER)

(i) ZHEANREBRE

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

= All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)
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()

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual value over its estimated useful life on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Freehold land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Not depreciated

40 years

The shorter of remaining
lease term and useful life

Plant, machinery and 3to 10 years

equipment

Office and other equipment 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 10 years
Motor vehicles and yachts 5 to 6 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

()

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(9) Lea

(i)

172

ses (Cont'd)
The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the lease liability. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party
financing was received;

e uses a build-up approach that starts with
a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit
risk for leases held by the group companies,
which does not have recent third-party
financing; and

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.q.
term, country, currency and security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(g) Leases (Cont'd)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is
available to the individual lessee (through recent
financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group
entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)
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(g) Leases (Cont'd)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16
and recognised the change in consideration as if it
were not a lease modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(9)

(h)

Leases (Cont'd)
(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end. The following intangible assets
with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their useful lives are as
follows:

Wine membership 5 years
Copyright 10 years
Domain name 15 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on
a prospective basis.

ERRERZRERAR | S =458

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_F_=f1+_A=+—HUFE
4. BRGFTBERER (@)

(9)

(h)

HE (&
(i) FEBEEDHBEA

HRAEBEFAHBEANME
B> xEEREBERGBREE
BEEHEESREHENEEMA
E - HEEREMEEFRAR
P75 BYAB R B8 0 L B e [ 3R 88
BEAMEA > BEEDERR
EMHE - T8 HEDESK
EHE -

BRI EE (BB

18 5l i 2 ST B E IR A 4R FE SR B
BEASTE - EBSHPWEZE
WEEZRARZEERWEDRH
ZAFE - BILEEZHERAFH
AHE R B RIER - FHAERR
BRNEEERENERACEFHN
i TRAPRBTRELEEN
FEHIRBERETRES G o A&
REHARNERLEENRIBEFH
REBIEHEZEDNREHHREEER
EiITEE - LT ABEEAABNE
G BIEN AR EREHETLE

ERETERAER :

EEEEE 54
R 104
A 154

BEERAEAFHNETEESSE
G BB S IR = A B LR AR
B  -ZFEFLEELATLUE
iH o AERFHNELEENPE
RERRSFEETGL > UEEER
B AERNFTEEREEDSE -
BB A5 > RIRIfE A EARET G
RERFHENSBRFH > A
BEIRIRBEREAR ©

175



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
ireH

775 e R Y 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
TE = A= —HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed
for expected credit losses (“ECL") in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(bb) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
HESR R AR LR ER TR

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial (k)

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

178

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial

0]

instruments (Cont'd)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial
assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(I) Financial assets (Cont'd) () =RMEEGEE)

Debt investments (Cont’d)

= FVTOCI = recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

= FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made
on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other income.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(m) Accounts receivable and other receivables

(n)

(o)

(p)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flow. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(q) Convertible loans

(r)

(s)

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert
the loans into equity instruments, other than into
a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed
conversion price, are regarded as combined instruments
consisting of a liability and derivative components.
At the date of issue, the fair value of the derivative
components are determined by using an option pricing
model; this amount is carried as derivative liability
that is subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss until extinguished on conversion or
redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated
to the liability component and is carried as a liability at
amortised cost using the effective interest method until
extinguished on conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs, if any, are apportioned between the
liability and derivative components of the convertible
loans based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and derivative components on initial recognition. The
portion related to the derivative component is expensed
immediately.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

HE—F

182

(®

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of each reporting period.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid
contract that also includes a non-derivative host — with
the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined
instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone
derivative.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with a
financial asset host within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured as either amortised cost or fair
value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with hosts
that are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS
9 are treated as separate derivatives when they meet
the definition of a derivative, their risks characteristics
are not closely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

If the hybrid contract is a quoted financial liability,
instead of separating the embedded derivative, the
Group generally designates the whole hybrid contract
at FVTPL.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
LN

(u) Revenue recognition (u)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the promised
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.
For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

184

(u) Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Provision of services through network media

Revenue from retail commerce through network
media is recognised at a point in time when
control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the promised
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia

Revenue from hotel accommodation and other
ancillary services is recognised over time in the
accounting period in which the control of the
products or the services are transferred to the
customer because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as it performs.

Revenue from sales of hotel supplies and food
and beverage in hotel business and food and
restaurants operation is recognised at a point
in time when the control of the products or the
services is transferred to the customers, being
when the products are delivered to the customers,
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products and
the customer has obtained the physical possession
or the legal title of the products and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection
of the consideration is probable. The Group
controls the products in these transactions and,
therefore, the Group is the principal and revenue
is recognised on a gross basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(u) Revenue recognition (Cont’'d)

(v)

Revenue from other sources
Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised at the time when the
shareholders’ right to receive the dividend have been
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (“"MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when it made contribution to the
MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years.

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T —F+_H=+—HIFE

4 BRG

(u)

(v)

StERE R (1)

WA FESD ()
A KIFRA
BREBA

2 B B R UL E iR B 2 REF) B
7 R RESY o

FE A

H B UL AT FE ST R 5 B B R 0%
B - Mt IREERNEZERE
}%ﬁ'ﬁ—  BREAXERREREE
1 85 plo A (BD AR [ 18 48 3R JBU S 18 1
) o

EE=EF
EEEZRA

EEFRARPIBRBRIESES
FriEsD - ZEB B EERNEER
SHRFTREERTMEE ZF R K
REIBRFBReHE (G B &R -

HIR & ERREEKRRE TS THE

B2 i H

AEFRBEEBEH B485F (2]
MRBREFERAD) SEFTEE AR
SRAREHERBHELFEERIK
RrErE (MREEE)) - RER
Mt EIARR  AREEELRHE
BY—7E B 73 LEFH HRR - TR AR
PRIEAT B B4R RO BR o SRAEE 5t
ENEERAEREE) R HE
VEERSHER AEBMFER
B =M m5RAE = 51 8 1F i HR
FE#EETES - BIEERI
A B R KRR EE RS 1
= o

185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira R R M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(v)

186

Employee benefits (Cont'd)
Pension scheme (Cont’d)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") are
required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in
Australia are entitled to benefit from the employee’s
complying superannuation plan on retirement, disability
or death. These subsidiaries are responsible for making
contributions to the plan at a certain percentage of
employees’ wages or salaries. The subsidiaries’ legal or
constructive obligation is limited to these contributions,
which are recognised as an expense as they become
payable. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in future years.

The Company’s subsidiary in Indonesia provides
defined post-employment benefits to its employees in
accordance with Indonesia’s local labour law No. 11 of
2020 on Job Creation. The liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position in respect
of the defined benefit pension plans is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets
(if any). The defined benefit obligation is calculated
annually by independent actuaries using the projected
unit credit method. The present value of the defined
benefit obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates
of government bonds that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that
have terms to maturity approximating to the terms
of the related pension obligation. Actuarial gains and
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions charged or credited to equity
in other comprehensive income in the period in which
they arise and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Past-service costs and net interest on the defined
benefit liability are recognised immediately in profit or
loss. Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of
a defined benefit plan are recognised in profit or loss
when the curtailment or settlement occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(v)

(w)

Employee benefits (Cont’'d)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of
the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

ERRERZRERAR | S =458

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. BRGFEBEREN (8)

(v)

(w)

BEEF ()
REB A5 7

BEBEN N AEE N BERUHEMH
ZE @M A E B D E A
M5 R 37 A BE AR F By (AR FE S
#E) BT o

MR AERZ AR

AEBME TREFH U EDS
UM AERZAR o UEmER
UpmERZARERATAR
REBBMATECREATSE
BRI E) ST E - UEREEL
RNOBERZARNERHBEREE
ZATE » RIBAEBE G5 RQR
BEHNROEE  REGENEEB
AN S8 > 3 WL 3F T 35 BR I 1 1 BY
TEFHTRE o

AEBRAETES BEEKREBH
MU EmEEURD BER A

=+
;oo

MEFERESFHAUEREFEU
RIDBERZ ARIZRATARE
H BHEIBY A FAE (RSt AJFTHI5ER B
R E) TE - UREEBTLR
PRERZARNEHEBREEZ
AFE REAEBMGFRERES
BRRNDHEE  REGEINEEH
W3z WHRLIF IR BRI
EFHAE -

187



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Z't'Aﬁ

775 e R Y 5E

w3~

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

188

(w) Share-based payments (Cont'd)

(x)

(y)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants
are measured at the fair value of the services rendered
or, if the fair value of the services rendered cannot
be reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the
date the Group receives the services and is recognised
as an expense.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match
them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(y) Borrowing costs (Cont'd)

(2)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable
to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset. Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(2)

190

Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

4, BRG

(2)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(z) Taxation (Cont'd) (z) MIBE(E)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as
a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net
basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of
lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(aa) Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed for
impairment annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the
case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is
being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit
and then prorate amongst the other assets of the
cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are
credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse
the impairment.

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

192

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, contract assets
and bank and cash balances. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(bb) EREERGNEEREE)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition (stage 2) or credit-
impaired (stage 3). However, if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL (stage 1).

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses
that will result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(bb) ERHEERGNEEREE)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

=EmEREAZ N

REEMTANEERARB A
HERURAE SRS EME > &R
e TARKRS HHHIREY
YL B B 52 2 R T B R ) 45 e 5T
HAHIRENBI R © T’EJH;DMEE% ’
rEEEEESEREEENES
REMER > BEBEERNEBA
TEEN D EMA SRS RN A EER
RIBEMEE K - FrZ ERIRIREIEE R
BETEEEERERS - MM
B~ BURHAE - BRASEREMEE
LHERESHN AR EBREH AL
EFMETENRENIRER » Uk
RESEINERARR AR EBIZ O
BAEBRNBERKRBACEER -

HEEERBRBVNBREELRES
E‘Lﬁ%imﬁ% LHEEEUTE
H

- SRMTENEE) R
BB EEREREES
1t

- BESRTEESERNINE
m%%ﬁ@%gm,

- ¥$\%%iWW%£%Em
il rpiilinpeta

B



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(bb) EREERGNEEREE)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)
Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

= significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

= an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT’'D)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

196

(Cont'd)
Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating
of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past due
amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(bb) EREERGNEEREE)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

= when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

= abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

—  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE —E /A =+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BREHHBERER (8)
INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets (bb) TRHEERSNEERE )
(Cont'd)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Cont’d) HBEEERENEHEE(B)
- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will - HAERAEREIETHEME
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; HEA ; 5
or
—  the disappearance of an active market for that - HRMBER#®E > ZE=RMEEN
financial asset because of financial difficulties. TERIETIZHK ©
Write-off policy Vel e
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is EEERBETREBABABREN T
information indicating that the debtor is in severe N - B BRI A 55 2 B
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of (BIREBAEBEHREBEAKER
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed ) B RRWHRIEBME > 8%
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy HEAHRBEMmE UREZEEES
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when ) AEBRZMBEEHMEE - KF
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever BEERR(MEA)E > SMEN
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be SHEENIREAEBRNIKERE
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's FEITREIIT o ERUWERIER
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice BT o

where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL AR EE BT ERER

The measurement of expected credit losses is a TR EEEENFEBURNELNR
function of the probability of default, loss given default EEBOUBAXBIZLEEOFTN
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) BREE)MENRRMHO - B4
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the BMEREBHNBRENFHENB
probability of default and loss given default is based on FEIE > W% EAIREMEERER
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information BE o ERENARKO > s/
as described above. As for the exposure at default, for BEEMES > 5EENRS BN
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross HARE , MM BEFREOMES > A
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial w1 EEN SRS BB RNNE
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount % URTESTINARZRIEL HHARI#
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with RN SE(RIEELES ~
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down REEHBEBARRFTEMEFTK
in the future by default date determined based on BYIR AR DU R H A AB B AT B M B
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the TE) °

specific future financing needs of the debtors, and
other relevant forward-looking information.
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ira R R M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4, BRGHBERER (8)

INFORMATION (CONT'D)
(bb) EREERGNEEREE)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the original effective interest
rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the expected credit losses is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of
the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss
allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONT’'D)

(cc) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

(dd) Events after the reporting period

200

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end
of the reporting period are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

4. BRGFEEREN (8)

(co) BERHARR

HAERBRESEERNFHRIER
TARNEESE  METHER
PIRE G BEBEAEM mINm > WA 1
A EREE > EEMEERFEN
HEFIENERIRER - WER
WEREEEEX  AIREETE

AR HAVIRESH R o

B A EH m IR BRI SEMEBUE - 5
EIANARBERFL A A5 0 B
ERZEAEWRESVAEE > 1EE
B IRV R SEMEBRFRSN - 7B
RIEFHAERAREHRETHE
TEREFEHESHNEESE > T

TREANARERE » HEK
MBI BEMERRAR RSN ©

(dd) {RERIREIE

RHEABAERRKSHRN R
BIHINERNREMRERSAES
B W EGMBHREARE - 1
FRBFEIBEHREENE
BEX AIREEMBRRWEARR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(bb), ECL are measured as an
allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to
stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes
a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the
credit risk of an asset has significantly increased, the Group
takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward looking information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
other non-financial assets and rights-of-use assets

Determining whether property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other non-current assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use and
fair value less cost of disposal of the cash-generating
units to which the property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other non-current assets have
been allocated. The calculation of value in use requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating units and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

Calculation of fair value by market approach requires
valuation techniques which used prices and other
relevant information generated by market transactions
involving identical and comparable group of assets
and liabilities or business, a suitable discount rate and
marketability discount rate.

5.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONT'D)

5.

202

775 e R Y 5E

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)

(a)

(b)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
other non-financial assets and rights-of-use assets
(Cont’d)

The carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment, rights-of-use assets and other non-financial
assets as at 31 December 2023 were approximately
HK$172,287,000 (2022: HK$156,771,000),
HK$4,982,000 (2022: HK$7,518,000), and
HK$86,237,000 (2022: HK$118,914,000) respectively.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and management'’s long-term
strategic development. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment as at 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$172,287,000 (2022: HK$156,771,000) and no
impairment loss for both of the years.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)

(9]

(d)

Impairment of accounts and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for debtors by
assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of estimates
and judgements. ECLs are based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the end of the reporting period. Where
the estimation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will affect the carrying amounts of
debtors and thus the impairment loss in the period in
which such estimate will be changed. The Group keeps
assessing the ECLs of debtors during their expected
lives.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
accounts and other receivables was approximately
HK$45,519,000 (2022: HK$42,406,000).

Impairment of loan and interest receivables

The Group reviews its loan portfolio to assess whether
there is any objective evidence that the loan receivable
is impaired at least on a yearly basis. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
Group makes judgements as to whether there is any
observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of loan receivables before the decrease can
be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio.
This evidence may include observable data indicating
that there has been an adverse change in the payment
status of borrowers in the group, or national or local
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the group. Management estimates based
on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics and objective evidence of impairment
similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its
future cash flows. The methods and assumptions
used for estimating both the amount and timing of
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experienced.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
loan and interest receivables was approximately
HK$50,829,000 (2022: HK$37,900,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5.

204

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)

(e) Fair value of the unlisted equity securities at

FVTOCI and unlisted equity investments, unlisted
fund and derivative financial assets at FVTPL

The fair value of unlisted equity securities, unlisted
equity investments, unlisted fund and derivative
financial assets that are not traded in an active market
is determined by using valuation techniques. The
Group use its judgement to select a variety of methods
(such as asset-based approach, discounted cash flow
method, Black Scholes Model) and makes assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions are disclosed in Note 41(c). Changes in
assumptions could affect the carrying amount of the
FVTOCI and FVTPL.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s unlisted equity securities at FVTOCI
and unlisted equity investments, unlisted fund and
derivative financial assets at FVTPL were approximately
HK$1,971,000 (2022: HK$2,102,000) and
HK$48,566,000 (2022: HK$102,271,000) respectively.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)

("

(9)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based
on the current market conditions and the historical
experience of selling products with similar nature. Any
change in the assumptions would increase or decrease
the amount of inventories write-down or the related
reversals of write-down made in prior years and affect
the Group's net assets value. The Group reassesses
these estimates at the end of each reporting period.

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s inventories
of approximately HK$4,696,000 (2022: HK$4,435,000)
were stated at cost.

Provision for litigations

The Group has been involved in a number of litigations
during the year. Provision for litigations have been
assessed by management with reference to legal
advices. Provision on possible obligations, if any, are
made based on management’s best estimates and
judgements. Further details are stated in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of provision for
litigations is HK$Nil (2022: HK$52,666,000).
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6.

206

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal report provided to the chief operating
decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, as
have been identified by the Directors.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

—  Provision of services through network media;

= Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia;
—  Money lending business; and

—  Assets investments business.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s chief
operating decision maker monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following basis:-

—  Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments.

—  Assets and liabilities are allocated to the reportable
segments excluding unallocated corporate assets and
liabilities.

—  The measure used for reportable segment profit/(loss)
is adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit/(loss) before tax except that bank interest
income, finance costs, dividend income from the
Group's financial instruments, gain on deemed disposal
of subsidiaries as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 are set out below:~
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONT'D)

0]

Segment results

Year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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6. EDERER (B

(i) DEPELE
BE_E-_=%+"-H=+—H1

FE
Provision of
hospitality
Provision of and related Money Assets
services through services in lending investments
network media _ Australia business business Total
BREAEE  REMRMES . o .
AR Rie R BEEE  BERERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'0@ HK$'0@ HK$'00_0
T#En T#En TEn TEn T#En
Segment revenue DEBA 57 58,773 5,709 48 64,587
Inter-segment revenue par:il N - - - - -
Revenue from external customers  SMIERIKA 57 58,773 5,709 48 64,587
Segment results eSS
Segment loss HEEE (3.717) (2919 (805) (31,631) (39,072)
Unallocated head office and RARARERR
corporate income and expenses EEMARE (6,487)
Others (note) Eft(fi) \ (7,693)
Gain on deemed disposal RIFHE—BIRATZ
of a subsidiary N 12,145
Bank interest income SRTFISKA 32
Finance costs G (6,493)
Profit before tax Bial A 12452
Income tax expenses FiisiE -
Profit for the year KEERR 12452
Amounts induded in the S ADRERH B 2R
measure of segment results:
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH - (5.639) (2,755) - (8,394)
Others Hf (3,144)
Unallocated depreciation and RORITEREH
amortisation (381)
Total depreciation and amortisation T E RSN (11,919)
Share of results of associates MEBELTER (2302) = - (14,692) (16,994)
Fair value gain/oss) financial assets at  RATEFBRRIRZ
FVTRL SHEEZATR
Wi/ (B8) 276 - - (8,558) (8.282)
Impairment loss on accounts FRIERR » RWERR
receivable, loan and interest HNEZHESE
receivables = o (175) o (175)
Note: BoEE
Others represent operating segment of medical business Hiis R ENAIREND B2 CRAENE
which does not meet the quantitative thresholds of reportable BEBLE D -
segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z =

Fr-HA=1+—HILFE
6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

6. EEDERER (B

(CONT'D)
(i) Segment results (Cont'd) (i) DPEPELEEE)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BHE_Z_"F+HA=+—HIt
FE
Provision of
hospitality
Provision of and related Money Assets
services through services in lending investments
network meda  Australia business business Total
FREGERE  PENREES ; - ‘
IR Rt BEXE  BEREXH Wzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$1000 HK$'000
TR TEn TEn TER TERL
Segment revenue AHRA 67,133 63,834 3387 19 134373
Inter-segment revenue REEBA - - - - -
Revenue from external customers ~ SMIZERMA 67,133 63,834 3387 19 134373
Segment results L
Segment profit/(loss) A/ (58) (4,145) 7,540 (382) (1,856) 1,157
Unallocated head office and RARBHEER
corporate income and expenses EEUARER (13,082)
Others Hftr 3133
Gain on deemed disposal RIEHERBLTZ
of subsidiaries ol 26,907
Bank interest income FRISHA 1
Finance costs HEMA (9,238)
Profit before tax Fial A 8878
Income tax credit fishits 1,047
Profit for the year KEERR 9,925
Amounts incuded in the HARHEGEHEZHE !
measure of segment results:
Depreciation and amortisation mEREH (755) (5,516) (2,760) - (9,031)
Others Hft (3,088)
Unallocated depreciation and APERERER
amortisation 9)
Total depreciation and amortisation T E R4 (12,128)
Share of results of associates HMEREATRE (139) - - 12,869 11476
Fair value loss financial assets at FVTPL - AT ERBERTIRZ
EHEEZATERR LY - 2 (2486) (2,204)
Impairment loss on accounts FRUERR » RUWERR
receivable, loan and interest HNEZHESE
receivables (208) - (70) - (278)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. RENHTER (&)
(CONT'D)
(i) Segment assets and liabilities (i) PHBEEKRERE
31 December 2023 —E_=f+”"HA=+—H
Provision of
hospitality
Provision of and related Money Assets
services through services in lending investments
network media Australia business business Total
BREGER  RENRMES o .
AR iR BEEE  HERERH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
i TiEn TiEn Tin Tin
SEGMENT ASSETS nHEE 24,987 181,932 56,806 153,020 416,745
Others Hftr 1137
Corporate and other unallocated assets ¥R EMANEEE 17,620
Total assets BELE 441,502
SEGMENT LIABILITIES nHak 3,205 85,828 2925 1412 93,370
Others Eft 3,926
Corporate and other unallocated tERAMRIREE
liabilities 21,226
Total liabiltes BREE 124522
Amounts incuded in the measure  FFADSEEEZHE
of segment assets:
Investments in associates REENRZRE 13,012 - - 73,205 86,237
Amounts regularly provided to the  Eim ¥ BT Rk R
chief operating decision maker. ~ ZFUE !
Additions to property, plant and RENE  BERZME
equipment - 23382 - - 23,382
Total additions to property, TENE  BERZELD
plant and equipment 23382
Additions to right-of-use assets TEFMESE - 5 - - 52
Unallocated additions to RAEAERAEEE
right-of-use assets 1,276
Total additions to right-of-use assets ~ FEFREEEAE 1328
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. RENHER (B
(CONT'D)
(ii) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d) (i) PPBEEREEGER)
31 December 2022 TEITF+ZHA=+—H
Provision of
hospitality
Provision of and related Money Assets
services through services in lending investments
network meda  Australia business business Total
FREAEE  PENRERRE ‘ - ‘
LR Rt BEEE  BERERR )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEn i TEn ThEn ThEn
SEGMENT ASSETS NHEE 18,510 166,500 46,493 327,539 559,042
Others Ef 14,628
Corporate and other unallocated assets  EEREMANEEE 21,160
Total assets BELE 594,830
SEGMENT LIABILITIES NaE 1,122 65,193 4,407 184,073 254,795
Others Eft 5,403
Corporate and other unallocated EEREMANEEE
liabilities 38,727
Total liabiities ELEEE 298925
Amounts included in the measure  StANEEHEZHE
of segment assets:
Investments i associates REENFZRE 15,165 - - 103,749 118,914
Amounts regularly provided to the B BE AR ERH
chief operating decision maker: ~ ZFUE:
Additions to property, TENE  BEKXE
plant and equipment 19 14,113 - - 14,132
Others h 1215
Unallocated additions to property, —~ RAEARENE \ KR
plant and equipment ke 9
Total additions to property, TENE  BERZELE
plant and equipment 15,356
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WENHER ()
(CONT'D)
(iii) Geographical information (i) MEER
The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong REEXEHFEFZUNRES ~ BlNK
Kong, Australia and Indonesia. The following table sets ENJE o N&REHIE BE (i) 2 5= E 51 &6

out information about (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers; and (ii) the geographical locations
of the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial
assets at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL and deferred
tax assets) (“Specified Non-current Assets”), based
on the place of domicile of the relevant group entity.

BERWA ; RiVAEBIFERBEE
(FEERATESZEEEMEZE NG

FIRZEMEE - BATFESEIBE
mA R TR E ENIEIEIRIBE E)
(MHEEREBEE)) CHIEBAUED
Bl HEFEEER ATt

7 e

Revenue from
external customers

Specified
Non-current Assets

9|‘§|3§5 L|5U\ 4 E;leltg.]ﬁé
2023 2022 2023 2022
i - S =S = S et <SS - —
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET FAT FAET
Hong Kong & 5,814 3,406 97,145 134,824
Australia TR 58,773 63,834 166,361 148,379
Indonesia e - 67,133 = -
64,587 134,373 263,506 283,203

(iv) Information about a major customer (iv) EF—%EERRZEN

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there was no customer, whose transaction amounted
exceeding 10% of the Group's revenue.

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK

RBE_E_=Fxr_ZF__F+
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

7.

212

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7. WA~EHAUA KU
The principal activities of the Group were (i) provision of REEZ TEXZFLTEOTE | (HIIORIMNRE
hospitality and related services in Australia; (i) provision HOBIE RRABREARTS 5 (1) BB IEASIR
of services through network media; (iii) money lending HART ; (INEEER ; R(VEBEKRERE
business; and (iv) assets investments business. 5 o
Revenue represents the aggregate of the net invoiced value WAEAFEAERFEEGRNWEEF
of goods sold and net amounts received and receivable from EEMAEEFTIEHRE S W RIS
third parties for the services rendered by the Group during ZABRIBEFREARER o ﬁ% & 2~ W
the year. An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income A~ HMW ARG 2T -
and gains is as follows:—
2023 2022
ZEZI=F k=S -
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers — Z BG4I (BFEE1)
(note 1):
Provision of hospitality and related RMAE K AERA AR TS
services 34,473 38,236
Sales of food and beverage in hotel FOBIE =S E BN
business 24,300 25,598
Provision of services through network FB LSRR IR ARTS
media 57 67,133
58,830 130,967
Revenue from other sources: IR B HARIRAIUA -
Loan interest income BRFEUA 5,709 3,387
Dividend income arising from financial REBRATFEZEBEG
assets at FVTPL Rz EMBEEN
SISUCON 48 19
5,757 3,406
64,587 134,373
Other income and gains: HAUR A KW s -
Insurance compensation RERESE - 12,828
Bank interest income IRITHEUA 52 1
Government grants (note 2) BT B (MYEE2) - 351
Income from provision of administrative 32 {HBERF B ERITEUR
and management services transferred BIEARTS 2 WA (FI5E1)
overtime (note 1) 1,228 16,005
Gain on deemed disposal of an FRIELEME AT 2 W=
associate 149 -
Other income HAK A 860 1,698
2,289 30,883
Total revenue, other income and gains WA~ EfUB A R I zm 42 %8 66,876 165,256
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7.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(CONT'D)

Notes:

1

7.

Revenue and other income within the scope under
HKFRS 15 were approximately HK$60,058,000 (2022:

HK$146,972,000).

Being the grants received from the COVID-19 Anti-epidemic
Fund under the Employment Support Scheme and other
subsidy schemes under the Anti-epidemic Fund as launched
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China and the Government
of the People’s Republic of China for the year ended 31

December 2022.

Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

WAE

LAt A Bz (48)

MI5E -

1

ERAPMFFREEDF 1558 ERIUA
K EMUT A £&4960,058,0008 75 (Z=
T4 146,972,000 7T) ©

EEREARANBEEBRAITHER
FRAEARANBERFRBEE_ZT =
THE+ZA=+—HILFEHELIRR
FPETMEERESFIRES MU
R £ 18 T BYE th#h Bk 5t 8 B UREY
BIFRES ©

gﬁ =] II’J”&A

(a) WAEHF B

Provision of hospitality

Provision of services through and related services
network media in Australia Total
BRPRRIERMRS TR RARRA AR S i
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZRCCE| ZECCE| ZBIZE | TECCE | ZBIZE | TEICE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T Fin TiEn Fin FiEn
Segments bt |
Type of goods or services S fREL
Provision of hospitality and related services  FRAEERE RARRA iR#S = - 34,473 38,236 34,473 38,236
Sales of food and beverage in hotel business  F4EE£HHEER - - 24,300 25,598 24,300 25,598
Provision of services through network media B4 i1 IR 57 67,133 - - 57 67,133
Total revenue from contracts with RRANIALE
customers 57 67,133 58,773 63,834 58,830 130,967
Geographical markets HEHE
Hong Kong &4 57 ) - 3 57 -
Australia bl - - 58,773 63,834 58,773 63,834
Indonesia HfE = 67133 = - = 67133
Total revenue from contracts with RRANIALTE
customers 57 67,133 58,173 63,834 58,830 130,967
Timing of revenue recognition WARRZ R
Goods transferred at a point in time RE-REHERER 57 67,133 24,300 25,598 24,357 92,731
Services transferred over time R R - = 34473 38,236 34473 3836
Total revenue from contracts with RRANIALTE
customers 57 67,133 58,173 63,834 58,830 130,967
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONT'D)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

(b)

214

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

Revenue arising from provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia is satisfied over time when
the hospitality and related services are rendered.
Normally, payment in advance from customers is
required.

Sales of food and beverage in hotel business

Revenue arising from sales of food and beverage is
satisfied at a point in time upon delivery of the foods
and beverage to the customers and immediate payment
is required.

Provision of services through network media

Revenue arising from retail commerce through network
media is satisfied at a point in time upon delivery of
the goods to the customers and immediate payment is
required.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 such that the above
information does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contracts that had an original expected duration of
one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T E -+ /A =—+—HILFE
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BxRIEALEF
Profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):~ BRAGATAAM IR Bt A) TS ERE
Ho-
2023 2022
—E°= =2 HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cost of sales tHE A
— Cost of inventories sold - HEEFEEMA 9,377 68,625
- Cost of services provided -~ AR A A 236 7,165
9,613 75,790
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENEN &
- Audit services - IZEARTS 1,135 1,075
— Other services - HMARTS 291 381
1,426 1,456
Depreciation of property, plant and M~ BERZBINE
equipment (note 14) (MF5E14) 8,055 8,157
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREERE
(note 15(a)) (M 5E15(a)) 3,864 3,971
11,919 12,128
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) EEM=E(PHsE13) 2,401 2,205

Staff costs, excluding directors’
emoluments

Other staff salaries and benefits
Retirement scheme contributions

Net exchange loss
Provision for litigations
(notes 26, 37(c) and (d))

Impairment loss on accounts receivable,

loan and interest receivables
(note 21(c))
Impairment loss on deposits and
other receivables (note 22)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 16)
Gain on disposals of financial assets
at FVTPL
Fair value loss on financial
assets at FVTPL, net
Net gain on deemed disposal of
subsidiaries (note 33(a))

BT HA (T EEESF)

HhE T REF
IRIRST B HERK

REIRFER
uﬁ-’\ﬁ*ﬁ(ﬁﬁn£26 37(0)k(d))

FEWERRR ~ BIERAFIEZ
AERE (MIEE21(0)

e REMEWRTEZ
REEE (MEE22)

e ER TR (fPEE16)

HER AT EEZBERYIRZ
SRS EZ WE

BN EBBERY R BB

EZATEEE TR
BIELERB AT 2 WE P58
(FfzE33(a))

32,737 37,171
2,594 3,001
35,331 40,172
61 2,742
4,819 8,271
175 278
280 1,330

- 1,736
(335) =
8,282 2,244
(72,145) (26,907)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

9.

10.

216

FINANCE COSTS 9. REERZS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MERAZDITUT -
2023 2022
—E°= TETTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FH7T
Interest on interest-bearing bank and FFRIRITRAMEEZFR
other borrowings 5,512 8,168
Interest on lease liabilities (note 15(a)) MHEaRZH B (MiFE15) 368 502
Interest on convertible loans (note 28)  AJRERZ F] B (M 5£28) 613 568
6,493 9,238

INCOME TAX CREDIT

The income tax credit represents the sum of the current tax

10. FR1STRIER
FRASHIE ST IS VIR A N 2 A > &

and is made up as follows: B T7IEEHAE
2023 2022
—EC=F TETTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Over-provision in previous years: BEFEBREEE .

— Australia Company Tax —ENAERIE - (1,047)
Income tax credit FriStRIR - (1,047)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONT'D)

The Group’s entities operated in Hong Kong are subject to
the Hong Kong profits tax rate at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable income. No provision for
Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the current year
since the Group's entities operating in Hong Kong had no
assessable profit generated for current year. The Company’s
subsidiaries operating in the PRC and Australia are subject to
the tax rates at 15% or 25% (2022: 15% or 25%) and 30%
(2022: 30%), respectively.

(@) The reconciliation of income tax credit for the year to

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

10. FRiGMi e (48)

K%BA%%%«%ZEEEEWEDW‘D%
MU AIZ16.5%(ZZE__"4F : 16.5%)
MEBNEBFER o EEEGZK%IEG%
BRECERBNAEETEELESRR
wmA o MAREE T ETIRE BN ERE
1% K’/_}Tﬁ\‘:F'.E'Z/T/NM‘«%ZWJ:A

DRI 15%F25% (Z B —4F .
15%%25%)&30%(_7__¢ 30%)
BIFR R BANFRIE o

(@) ANEEZFENERAGGEEE

the profit before tax as per consolidated statement of Z PRI AR TR EERANT ©
profit or loss is as follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Profit before tax PRIG AT A 12,452 8,878
Notional tax on profit before tax, BRI AR 2% %ﬁ%lﬁ )
calculated at rates applicable to A BB N E
profits in the countries concerned MEFE 2,329 1,600
Tax effect of income that is not BERMBAZRFE
taxable (12,170) (2,971)
Tax effect of expenses that are not NGB Ve g7
deductible 5,214 549
Tax effect of temporary difference FEREFUHER RBEE
not recognised 316 176
Tax effect of tax losses not RERRNIBEB 2 RBEE
recognised 4,527 4,164
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses FABERETNIERIE R
previously not recognised R (216) (3,518)
Over-provision in previous years BEFEBEER - (1,047)
Income tax credit PRSIk - (1,047)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONT'D)

218

(b)

The components of unrecognised deductible temporary

(b)

10. FRfGM e (48)

RERZ A B ERMEEZZIAR

differences are as follows: o
2023 2022
kit~ 2 - —
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Unrecognised tax losses KR IRIEE1E 492,631 660,041

Other taxable temporary difference, HAFERIR I 1 = 35

net 2,321 534
Net deductible temporary differences — BIE I E FF 14 2 2 /F5E 494,952 660,575

(i)  No deferred tax assets have been recognised on
net deductible temporary differences owing to
the absence of objective evidence in respect of
the availability of sufficient taxable profits that are
expected to arise to offset against the deductible
temporary differences.

(i) The unutilised tax losses accumulated in
Hong Kong and Australia of approximately
HK$429,538,000 (2022: HK$415,293,000)
and approximately HK$63,093,000 (2022:
HK$58,707,000), respectively, which can be
carried forward indefinitely, while the tax losses
accumulated in the PRC of approximately HK$Nil
(2022: HK$186,041,000) can be carried forward
for five to ten years following the year when the
losses were incurred, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, temporary differences
relating to undistributed profits of the subsidiaries
in Australia were approximately HK$15,369,000
(2022: HK$21,015,000). The related deferred tax
liabilities attributable to the Group of approximately
HK$4,611,000 (2022: HK$6,305,000) as at 31
December 2023 in respect of withholding tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained
profits have not been recognised as the Group agrees
to the subsidiaries’ stated plan of not distributing these
retained profits in the foreseeable future.

There were no distributable profits of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 and accordingly, there were no temporary
differences relating to the undistributable profits in
respect of withholding tax.
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10.

11.

12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONT'D) 10.

(e) Asat 31 December 2023, temporary differences relating
to undistributed profits of the subsidiaries of the
Company’s associate in the PRC were approximately
HK$82,818,000 (2022: HK$91,874,000). The related
deferred tax liabilities attributable to the Group of
approximately HK$2,385,000 (2022: HK$2,646,000)
as at 31 December 2023 in respect of withholding tax
that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits have not been recognised as the Group
agrees to the associate’s stated plan of not distributing
these retained profits in the foreseeable future.

DIVIDENDS 11.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE 12.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the shareholders of the Company is based on
the following data:

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

PRSI % (&)

) REBE_=F+"B=+—H" &
AATHEATNPEWBA
Gl %IJE’J@*B%I_&L%NU
#82,818,0008 T (& -
91,874,000 7T) ° EEﬁéM%lﬂ
B A AT BN RERRS
/)EEZ#T?EE/M*'J > [R Ik 3 4 Rk
ﬁ&frﬁ%mﬁ%u%/@fﬁwﬁmw&
R _BE_=F+_F=+—H
Em%ﬁ\$$@z$ﬁﬁaLURIE:%
15#492,385,0008 T (Z & - =
2,646,000 7T) ©

)-Rll%\
EFEfERUBE_ZT_=F+_A4
=+ —HEFERERBARE(CEZZ

o f
i) o
AVARRY

SET

ARABRRELERERNRBEREN 2
StELIRE THIBURIEL

=

Hr

2023 2022
kit~ 2 - ——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Profit: A -
Profit for the year attributable to the AN B IR R (L A F E R F)
shareholders of the Company 12,644 11,205
2023 2022
—E=HF BT CF
Number of shares: RHEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FLEtEEREARKEHE
shares in issue for the purpose of BNME B8 TEBER
calculating basic and diluted Z I8 (M 5E)

earnings per share (note)

5,260,699,218 | 5,336,235,108

Note:

No adjustment has been made to the amount of the basic earnings
per share for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
in respect of diluted earnings per share because there was no
potentially dilutive ordinary share in issue during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

MI5E -

WEHBEE - E - —FN_FE_"_F+°5
—+—HEFENSREABIEEELE
KREERANAEE  FRABRE_ZT-_=F
RIBZZHF+_A=+—HILEEELEE
BITBTEHETER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ira R R M5
For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES"  13.

220

EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the
Directors in respect of services as directors during the

year are as follows:

ExMERESME

(a) EFM=E

TERRKTEFEMREETRMBAES
S ZEEEFBET

Basic salaries,

allowances Retirement
and other scheme
Fees benefit Bonus contributions Total
BEXHE
R BREHE
ik Hith# E4 3 iagt
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wizt FEr FTEr TER FER FiEx
2023 ZEZ=
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Ng Ting Ho B 360 = = = 360
Executive Directors: HITES
Lam Ching Yee e = 1211 101 18 1,330
Fong Chak Kiu HER = 300 = 15 315
360 151 101 33 2,005
Independent non-executive Directors: B IFHITES :
Wong Siu Keung, Joe ke 156 = = = 156
Chan Ming Kit RBRgf 120 = = = 120
Tong Hin Sum Paul R 120 = = = 120
396 - - - 396
756 151 101 33 2,401
2022 —E”C
Non-executive Director: FHTES .
Ng Ting Ho B 360 - - - 360
Executive Directors: HITES .
Lam Ching Yee WEFE - 994 83 18 1,095
Fong Chak Kiu HER - 300 - 15 315
Liu Jinquan fae 39 - - - 39
399 1,294 83 33 1,809
Independent non-executive Directors: B FFHITES
Wong Siu Keung, Joe ks 156 - - - 156
Chan Ming Kit Brif R 120 - - = 120
Tong Hin Sum Paul HER 120 = = = 120
396 - e - 396
795 1,294 83 33 2,205
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Cont’d)
Note:

(i)  Appointed with effect from 11 July 2022 and resigned
with effect from 9 September 2022.

Bonuses are determined on a discretionary basis by
the Board with reference to the Group’s operating
results for the current financial year and individual
performance.

Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 December 2023, among the
five highest paid individuals, one (2022: one) of them
was a Director, being Ms. Lam Ching Yee.

Except for the emolument paid to Ms. Lam Ching Yee,
the emoluments (excluding amounts paid or payable
by way of commissions on sales generated by the
individual) and designated band of the remaining four
(2022: four) highest paid, non-director individuals
during the year are as follows:

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—F =gt G —HIEE
13. EENEREEME (B)

(a)

(b)

%$ﬂm % (:IE)
PYEE

0) N _E__EFETR+—RHEZRE
WHR B _FHABNHEHE -

B RERG2E L EEN AR
HFEEZEEEBEREAREMEH
IBHEE °

mamE#HAL

BE_ZT_—F+"A=t—HI
FE E\E%ET—?%"%A:{:EP » =%
P —R)RES o B

(_7__

BEE T o

[REMMBRL T ZMEI > IR
FERNGOA(CTTEZ2F 1 18)
EaHFEEALZIE(REER
BAHEMUBE A EN BN
ZRIA) R AsE R ENSEEI T

2023 2022

—E=F BT F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FEBT

Salaries and allowances e BoREL 2,712 2,685
Performance based bonus BEWAEAL 164 207
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEHRR 138 136
3,014 3,028
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira R R M5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ 13.
EMOLUMENTS (CONT'D)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Cont’d)

The emoluments of the four (2022: four) non-director
individuals with the highest emoluments are within the
following bands:

ExERESME (@)

(b) EHEREHFALEE)

M (T2 "F MR FESFE
SHATZMENFUTEE :

2023 2022
—E-= —ET &
Numbers of Numbers of
individuals individuals
ATEE AT&H
HK$ BT
Nil — 1,000,000 221,000,000 4 4

No emolument was paid by the Group to the Directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office during the year (2022: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive of the Company waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during both years.

Save for disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BHE

— 5= —

e R —

=+ A=A —ALEE
14. )% BB KRRt

Plant, Office
Leasehold machinery and and other  Furniture and  Motor vehicles
Freehold land Buildings  improvements equipment equipment fixtures and yachts Total
B - e AR
KAZRLH BF HEMELE Rk Hitrs GRREE  SERER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TER TET TER TET TET
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 RIEZ=F—-F—H 11,604 88,235 62,525 16,829 4309 2,018 1221 186,741
Additions AE - 2,003 18,422 2,612 345 - - 23,382
Written off gz} = = (17) = (117) = = (134)
Exchange realignment SMNEER (19) (93) 353 36 6 = (1) 282
At 31 December 2023 RZEZZF+-A=+-H 11,585 90,145 81,283 19,477 4,543 2,018 1,220 210271
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: Bzt E RifE :
At 1 January 2023 RIZEZ=F—-F—H - 14,389 3,980 8,449 1,707 679 766 29,970
Charge for the year REEMR = 2,151 2,892 1,755 734 399 124 8,055
Written off bijtie} = = (17) = (117) = = (134)
Exchange realignment SNEER = 28 31 29 6 = (1) 93
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=&+ZR=+-A - 16,568 6,836 10,233 2,330 1,078 889 37,984
Net carrying amount: SRESE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZB=1+-H 11,585 13,577 74,397 9,244 2213 940 331 172,287
Cost: A
At 1 January 2022 RZE2__5-F—H 12,346 92,413 56,163 16,239 4272 2,118 937 184,538
Additions hE 1,404 10,614 1,595 1,351 - 392 15,356
Disposals HE - - - (94) - (94)
Written off gz} - - - - (180) - - (180)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RIEHERBAT - - (1,19) - (1,046) - (103) (2,345)
Exchange realignment SMNEBE (742) (5,582) (3,056) (1,005) (88) (6) (55) (10,534)
At 31 December 2022 RZE_Z%+-A=+-RB 11,604 88,235 62,525 16,829 4,309 2,018 1,221 186,741
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: ~ £t ERiAfE :
At 1 January 2022 Sy =E - 12,989 2,013 7,128 1,605 376 728 24,839
Charge for the year REENR - 2,220 2,880 1782 765 402 108 8,157
Disposals HE - - (94) - (94)
Written off gz} - - - - (180) - - (180)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries REHERBAF - - (863) - (453) - (26) (1,342)
Exchange realignment SMNERE - (820) (50) (461) (30) (5) (44) (1,410)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-Z&+ZR=1+-H - 14,389 3,980 8,449 1,707 679 766 29970
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZB=1+-H 11,604 73,846 58,545 8,380 2,602 1,339 455 156,771
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONT'D)

15.

224

Notes:

(a)

The property, plant and equipment attributable to the
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia
represented the estate resorts (the "Estate Resorts”) with
the carrying amount of approximately HK$166,314,000
as at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the
recoverable amount of the Estates Resorts was assessed by
an independent professional valuer under the fair value less
cost of disposal basis by using direct comparison approach,
amounted to approximately HK$170,032,000) (2022:
approximately HK$130,921,000). The fair value measurement
is categorised into level 3 fair value hierarchy.

The recoverable amount of the Estate Resorts was higher
than the carrying amount, and therefore no impairment loss
on property, plant and equipment related to the segment of
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, an aggregate carrying amount of
freehold land and buildings of approximately HK$85,162,000
(2022: approximately HK$85,450,000) had been pledged as
collaterals for interest-bearing bank borrowings.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in
its operations. The terms of the leases generally require the
Group to pay security deposits and have average lease terms
of three years with fixed monthly rentals. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

15. LEASES (CONT'D) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Cont'd) TEBEEAEMEAEE)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets REERREANREERLEWEN
and the movements for the leasing of office premises FAEEENRABRESHUT !
during the year are as follows:
HK$'000
FAET
As at 1 January 2022 RN_E-_"F—HF—H 11,898
Depreciation charge TEM= (3,971)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries FREHENBAE] (389)
Exchange realignment SMEESEEE (20)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 ‘f:;‘::fﬁ—l—_ﬁ =+—HBkKk
“ETT=F—HF—H 7,518
Addition nE 1,328
Depreciation charge TEMX (3.864)
As at 31 December 2023 RIEB_=F+"A=+—H 4,982
Lease liabilities of approximately HK$5,673,000 (2022: FHE&E45,673,0008TC(Z 2
HK$8,149,000) are recognised with related right-of- 4 18,149,000 T) A 1B RAE A
use assets of HK$4,982,000 (2022: HK$7,518,000). & E4,982,000BT(ZE 2
The lease agreement do not impose any covenants E . 7,518,000 T) — &SR © B
other than the security interests in leased assets that EEENRFERR Hﬁﬂ)\?—rﬁ
are held by the lessors. Leased assets may not be used 9|\ » THE 5% X0 8 5 N0 AT 2254
as security for borrowing purposes. HEEENMSHAFEENIRRm -
Details of total cash outflow of lease is set out in note MEZ RS M ARZBENFEH M
33(0). 5F33(c) °
2023 2022
T =HF ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use  {EREEEFERS
assets 3,864 3,971
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HMEsEZH B
(included in finance costs) (note 9) (GtARRERLAS) (FF5E9) 368 502
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B HRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

15. LEASES (CONT'D)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

(b) Lease liabilities

15. A&

(&)

FEEEREMEA ()

(b)) HERE

Minimum lease payments

Present value of
minimum lease payments

RIEFAEER REHEEHHRRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
“EC=f| “BC-F| ZBIE=H| —ECHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAT FET FHAT
Within one year —FR 4,811 3,759 4,629 3,428
In the second to fifth years, EIEERTF
inclusive (BIEEEMF) 1,053 4,875 1,044 4,721
Total minimum finance %ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ%’ﬂ
lease payments HezE 5,864 8,634 5,673 8,149
Less: Future finance charges B ARREER (191) (485) N/A N/A
RER FEA
Present value of lease obligations FESTZIRE 5,673 8,149 5,673 8,149
Less: Amount due for settlement & . B+ @R
within 12 months (shown RENZ B
under current liabilities) (WrRear
T5TR) (4,629) (3,428)
Amount due for settlement after Bt + BB BB
12 months 2B 1,044 4,721

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities is 5% (2022: 5%).

Lease liabilities are denominated in HK$ and Australian
dollars (“AUD") of approximately HK$5,623,000
(2022: HK$8,113,000), HK$50,000 (2022: HK$36,000)

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =F_H=+—HILFE
16. GOODWILL 16. EHE
2023 2022
—EB=F TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Cost EJZZIS

At 1 January w—A—H 31,189 42,792

Deemed disposal of subsidiaries E‘ET’Fﬁ%Bﬁ}: A E) (M EE33(a)i)

(note 33(a)(ii)) = (11,603)
At 31 December R+-_B=+—H 31,189 31,189
Accumulated impairment losses KR {ERSIE
At 1 January Rr—A—H 31,189 29,453
Impairment loss recognised EEsRER1E - 1,736
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 31,189 31,189
Carrying amount fREME
At 31 December R+=ZH=+—H - -

Goodwill acquired in a business combination was allocated
at acquisition to the cash generating units ("CGUs") that
were expected to benefit from that business combination.
Before recognition of impairment losses, the gross amount
of goodwill allocated to the following CGU is as follows:

REFEHPREZBELRWERD
EERAREZETOHEQZREE
FEU(REEEEN) o RESRERBD
Bl PERENTHREELEBEUZHE
ZHBEWNT

2023 2022
—E=fF TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAET
Provision of hospitality and related FOBRIMNIR B 1S B B RA AR TS
services in Australia (the “Australian (MRNABIEREEEE()
Hospitality CGU") 29,453 29,453
Others (note) Hh (M%) 1,736 1,736
31,189 31,189
Note: s -
Others represent CGU attributable to in other operating unit which HMIERFT S AR IRE D IPEL 2 Hh &

does not qualified as a reportable segment. The goodwill of others
had been fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group tested its goodwill annually for impairment,
or more frequently if there were indications that goodwill

might be impaired.

(=

— = — —

A

EEMAZHEELEM - HIZHEREE
F+ZR=+T—HLEFEEEHA

rEESFETHERENS > WHE
PRETEERAE
HARE o

B R o RSB SR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

16.

17.

228

GOODWILL (CONT'D)

The goodwill for the Australian Hospitality CGU had
previously been fully impaired during the year ended 31
December 2018. Accordingly, the Group did not test
goodwill for impairment for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, goodwill of
approximately HK$11,603,000 was derecognised upon the
deemed disposal of subsidiaries (note 33(a)(ii)).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$1,736,000 was recognised due
to the carrying value of the goodwill being higher than its
recoverable amount.

BE (&)

ENBEREELEBUZBEENEEL
E-NEFE+-BA=+—HILEEEEERH
BE - At AEERBE_ZE _=FK
S __HF+_RA=+—BULEFEELE
B EENRE o

BHE_ZE__#+”-_B=+—HLl=E
> lffﬁvﬁﬂj’%ﬁﬁ%’z}ﬁ(wﬁsa (a)(ii))
MR IR 24911,603,00058 7T ©

HE _ S __F#+_B=+—HLtHE
E> AR zZeZnEEaaEsitEgl
ClE+%E > WEMEBEIREBELY
1,736,000 7T ©

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. Bt BT EE
Wine Domain
Copyright  membership name Total
FRtE EEgE 54 s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FTET TET
Cost: AR
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—H—H 4,500 2,419 2,028 8,947
Exchange realignment SMEEFREE - @) - @)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+"B=+—H 4,500 2,415 2,028 8,943
Accumulated amortisation and ~ EH# S RREIE
impairment:
At 1 January 2023 RZE2Z=F—HF—H 4,500 2,419 2,028 8,947
Exchange realignment SMEFREE - @) - (4)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+-A=+—H 4,500 2,415 2,028 8,943
Net carrying amount: BREFE .
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=%5+"_F=+—H - - - -
Cost: A
At 1 January 2022 R_E-_F—H—H 4,500 2,574 2,028 9,102
Exchange realignment SMEESREE - (155) - (155)
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZF+ZA=+—H 4,500 2,419 2,028 8,947
Accumulated amortisation and ~ Et#H KA
impairment:
At 1 January 2022 R_E-__F—H—H 4,500 2,574 2,028 9,102
Exchange realignment SNPEEEEE - (155) - (155)
At 31 December 2022 R_E_"F+"A=1+—H 4,500 2,419 2,028 8,947
Net carrying amount: BREFE .
At 31 December 2022 R_E-_H#+-H=+—H - - = =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE g H=+—HIFFE
. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REERNBIZIRE

2023 2022

—TT=F B CHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Cost of unlisted investments in associates Bt /ATIE FHIEE 7 B2 380,962 362,331

Share of post-acquisition (losses)/profits rfﬁuﬁﬁﬁfﬁ(gﬁ?g)// 2 Kz {5

and reserves, net of dividends received  BEI0FFTUER B (47,724) 3,584
333,238 365,915
Less: Impairment loss B OREEE (247,001) (247,001)
86,237 118,914

Included in the cost of unlisted investments in associates
at the end of the reporting period was goodwill arising
on acquisition of approximately HK$242,952,000 (2022:
HK$242,952,000). Among the goodwill was approximately
HK$2,944,000 arising from the acquisition of Luck Key (as
defined below). The remaining goodwill of approximately
HK$240,008,000, arose from the acquisition of Something
Big Technology Holdings Limited (“Something Big”), which
had been fully impaired in previous year.

Set out below is the associate of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, is material to the Group as at 31
December 2023. The entity listed below has share capital
held directly by the Group. The country of incorporation
or registration is also its principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the
proportion of voting rights held. Information of insignificant

RIREAARNRBE AR IELTRE N
KEFEWBEE ZEHEL242,952,000
BIT(ZTE -4 1 242,952,000 7T) ©
Hrpl BB Luck Key(EER T EEZ
*%ﬁLMAmm%ﬁmk$ﬂ&%%ﬁ

REITKREBRENDEEZZHTHEN
240 008,000B s ER B FEBEUR
e

TYEHINEERANR_ZE_=F+_A1
—t+—HEXEEMEBEBEANAER
BMENT o T ERNRAHAERE
éf‘;ch*ﬁ‘ EMARINGEMERIIAEE

EEMEL > AT AR D LB BT RS
&Eﬁ%tb@ﬁﬁﬂ FEABMELNTNE
RISl

associates are not listed out.

Percentage of

ownership
Form of interest
business Place of Principal place held by a Group's  Measurement
Name structure incorporation of business subsidiary interest method  Principal activities
—FME A
FRfsER#
S ES P 3 AR FESRM ‘EEAL  FEEER HERE  TEEH
Luck Key Investment Limited  Incorporated British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong 48.33% 48.33%  Equity method  Provision of medical
(“Luck Key")* diagnostic and health
check services
SERARIL EERUEHE &E 48.33% 48.33% B@E  RUEBELHRERRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONT'D) 18. REVEABZIKRE (8)
The summarised financial information in respect of the Eﬁﬁﬁ Blluck KeyR —E-_=F K _
material associate, Luck Key, as at 31 December 2023 and T T+ A=+ —HBZHBERE
2022 is set out below: EHIMT -
2023 2022
—EC=HE S
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Gross amounts of Luck Key: Luck Key42%8
Current assets MENEE 84,476 150,775
Non-current assets FERBEE 108,668 169,731
Current liabilities piEU=NE (102,574) (114,089)
Non-current liabilities 3F}J|L§b%f§ (14,391) (34,232)
Total equity MRS 76,179 172,185
Equity attributable to the shareholders Luck KeyR&BR FE{i 1 2
of Luck Key 77,265 174,172
2023 2022
—E-= =2 HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Revenue WA 218,216 410,754
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the Luck KeyfRERFEMHERZ
shareholders of Luck Key (B518) /i@ F) (26,090) 29,576
Other comprehensive income attributable Luck KeyRe BRFE(G H M2 E
to the shareholders of Luck Key Wz 183 (266)
Total comprehensive income for the year Luck Keyf& SR FEMHFEARE
attributable to the shareholders of Luck Key — Wza42%8 (25,907) 29,310
Group's interest KEE B 48.33% 48.33%
Share of Luck Key's (loss)/profit for the year ~ FEf{hLuck KeyEFER
(&518) /g (12,521) 14,165
Share of Luck Key's total comprehensive FE(GLuck KeyZ EU i 4828
income (12,521) 14,165
Dividend received from Luck Key W ElLuck Keyf& & 34,314 36,005
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONT'D)

The dividend received during the year consists of cash
amounting to approximately HK$9,666,000 and dividend
receivable of approximately HK$9,666,000 and 10,650
shares of an unlisted investment with fair value of
approximately HK$14,982,000, which was recognised as
investments in associates.

The 2022 dividend consisting of cash amounting to
approximately HK$27,184,000 and 10,650 shares of
an unlisted investment of fair value of approximately
HK$8,821,000, were recorded as financial asset at FVTPL.

The Group has not recognised loss of several associates
amounting to approximately HK$8,581,000 (2022:
HK$1,688,000). The accumulated losses of several associates
not recognised were approximately HK$13,932,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$5,351,000).

Reconciliation of the Group’s interests in the material
associate, Luck Key

18.

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

REERB ZIRE (B)

AKFEEZREBERE49,666,000%8
TR FEW RS B 499,666,000 7T & A
10,650/ M 2R EHRENAFELY
14,982,000787C > ZREEIANREE
NEZKE °

N2 " FIREREL27,184,000
TTRER10,650RKRMZALETREN
NIF{EL8,821,0008 7 » %I EH RS

BATEBRBEDIRZ EMEE °

K—’%ﬁ Zkfﬁfﬁikﬁt%?:ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’&ﬂﬁﬁ

0 E538498,581,0008 c(ZE -
1,688,000%71:) R TE =&+ ﬁ
=+—H:> ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ@%ﬂéﬁ*ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ
E5387513,932,0008 0 (ZE -
5,351,000 7T) ©

REFNEABEQF Luck Key 2 f
HER

2023 2022
—E°= =2 HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FH7T
Gross amounts of net assets attributable Luck Keyf&SRIEIEE ZE

to shareholders of Luck Key HEAREE 77,265 174,172
Group's interest ﬁ%lZ%# 48.33% 48.33%
Group's share of net assets of the associate ~ AEBEE(FHE AT EERE 37,343 84,178
Goodwill EES 2,944 2,944

Carrying amount of the Group's interest REEP Luck Keyz i REIE
in Luck Key 40,287 87,122

In the opinion of the Directors, none of the remaining
associates of the Group was individually material to the
Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

ERAERZRERAR | S —F5R

EEX R O NRIBE=FEKZZ2"C
+TZR=+—HBHEXEERTHER
AEREAEEMEBERX -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONT'D) 18. REVEABZKRE (8)
Reconciliation of the Group’s interests in the material FEBMEKRHE AT Luck KeyZ
associate, Luck Key (Cont'd) HIR (@)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRRPAREEE R M S LA B ARAYER
information of the Group’s remaining associates that are not THE QB EEMEER

individually material:

2023 2022
—ET=F S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Share of associates’ loss for the year FEEBE ABIEN IR
— Something Big - RERE - -
— Nuada Holdings Limited (“Nuada”) - BHEZERBRAE
(MREE) - -
— Supreme China Group Limited -BEEEBRAB(MEHE)
(“Supreme China”) 20 (1,120)
— French Modern Concept Limited — French Modern Concept
("French Modern Concept”) Limited ("French Modern
Concept)) S (176)
— Dynamic Indonesia Holdings Limited — Dynamic Indonesia Holdings
(“Dynamic Indonesia Holdings") Limited (F Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings)) (2,302) (1,393)
— Starry Ace Limited (“Starry Ace”) — Starry Ace Limited
(Tstarry Ace)) 726 -
= Dignity Choice Limited = Dignity Choice Limited
(“Dignity Choice") ("Dignity Choice)) (2,917) -
(4,473) (2,689)
Share of associates’ total comprehensive FE(L B E A B 2 U 48R
income
- Something Big - RERE - -
- Nuada - REE - -
— Supreme China - B 20 (1,120)
= French Modern Concept = French Modern Concept - (176)
— Dynamic Indonesia Holdings — Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (2,302) (1,393)
— Starry Ace — Starry Ace 726 -
= Dignity Choice = Dignity Choice (2,917) -
(4,473) (2,689)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ ANEBERBGR THEARREY
investment in the remaining associates IREAE
- Something Big - RERE - -
- Nuada - REE - -
— Supreme China - 8BE 16,647 16,627
= French Modern Concept = French Modern Concept - -
— Dynamic Indonesia Holdings — Dynamic Indonesia Holdings 13,012 15,165
— Starry Ace — Starry Ace 4,226 -
= Dignity Choice = Dignity Choice 12,065 -
45,950 31,792
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

_7__

For the year ended 31 December 2023
—F+_H=1+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19, RATEBBHM B E KRS
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME DRz EMEE

2023 2022

TEC=H S -

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#T TAET

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong REBZ FhRAFES 916 1,083
Listed equity securities in the PRC PRz EmRAEES - 91,701
Unlisted equity securities JE LR AR S 1,971 2,102
2,887 94,886
Less: current portion o OmENER D - (91,701)
Non-current portion JERENER D 2,887 3,185

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated
at FVTOCI as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s listed equity
securities in the PRC with a carrying value of approximately
HK$91,701,000 represented 45,779,220 shares in LEO
Group Co., Ltd (“LEO") held by #F%R {5 B 1ii( L&) BRER
&J(for identification purpose, Jixiang Information Technology
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“Jixiang")) (i.e. the Jixiang's Shares
as defined in note 37(d)) which were pledged for a loan
granted to a subsidiary of the Company, details of which
are stated in notes 37(c) to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group was involved in a
litigation with LEO as at 31 December 2022 until the date of
the deemed disposal of Jixiang, as further detailed in note
37(d) to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s unlisted equity
securities represented 7% equity interest in a private
company in Australia (the “Australian Company”). Based
on the Directors’ assessment with reference to the net
assets value of the Australian Company as at 31 December
2023, the fair value of the Australian Company was
approximately HK$1,971,000 (2022: HK$2,102,000). There
was no significant change in the fair value of the Australian
Company during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

T ARGER AT HEIMIEE R AT
EFEBHEHME2EWERTIER > BREDAE
D’b%& Tﬁé‘fz‘g i%ﬁ%@ﬁo

WN_E__F+_-_B=+—H > K&EE
ERENETRAEZSNREENS
91,701,000 > $545,779,2208% TR
EEFEM (LB BARAE (TR FEF
BMEEERAR (TFIBR) B, (B R
ZBh o EERMEE37W) » ZERMHE
RIBEARTARD—HEWBABNE
TAE%FTE RN =N R LV

37() o AN RZEZ—FE+"HA=+
—HEERFELETRZAH > mﬁléﬁi
FMENZ BFESEA » E— T BENER
B IREMFE37(d)

ATEC=F+"FA=+—H ' KEBE
JELEHRAFBHIEN —BBEMNAEZE AT
(CRMNABNHI7% G - RIBEEZE
BNABN _E_=F+"_A=+—H
NEEZFEMEHNTE > BNAEHN
NFELA1,971,0008 (B - —F
2,102,00087T) - REBEE_E_=FKh_
T E+RA=+—HIEEE » BM
NEW AT EFEEAES o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONT’D)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at
FVTOCI are denominated in the following currencies:

BATEZEBHEMEE W E
§IJ EEZ@HQ é’i—% (H\E)

rEBEATEZEHMEE RS K
ZEMEEZREEDUTIHER

& :

2023 2022
—E"= —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
HKD BT 916 1,083
RMB AR = 91,701
AUD BIT 1,971 2,102
2,887 94,886
20. INVENTORIES 20. 78

2023 2022
—E-= —EqTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Merchandise G 4,696 4,435
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the inventories were W _E_=FR_E__F+_A=+

stated at cost. —H > FIBEEFEEHEEMASER
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an BRAEZWt ABRNEFEEREDT

expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: (I

2023 2022
—TT=F B CHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEHEFENREE 9,377 68,625
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21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

21. BEIERF BN E i R F B

INTEREST RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
—_E=F BT THE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Accounts receivable within EBMHRESERFE 1558
the scope of HKFRS 15 & [E P8I FEER R 3,426 2,989
Loan receivables EWE 50,897 37,600
Loan interest receivables FEWETH E 569 762
Less: Impairment L ORE (637) (462)
50,829 37,900
54,255 40,889
The carrying amounts of the Group’s accounts receivable, REBERWIENR - BRER AT B ZEK
loan and interest receivables are denominated in the EETIU TSI EEEHE ¢
following currencies:
2023 2022
TET=HF —ETTF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
HKD BT 50,835 37,900
AUD JHRIT 3,420 2,989
54,255 40,889
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21.

236

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable represent (i) receivables from customers
arising from provision of services through network media;
and (i) receivables from travel agents arising from provision
of hospitality and related services in Australia. The Group's
terms with its customers and travel agents are mainly
on credit, except for new customers and travel agents,
where payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally one month, extending up to three to
six months for major customers and travel agents. Each
customer and travel agent has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. As at 31 December 2023, there is
no significant concentration of credit risk regarding the
accounts receivable balance from the Group’s business in
Australia. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its accounts receivable balances,
accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing (2022: Nil).

Loan and interest receivables

Loan and interest receivables are mainly arising from the
money lending business, which are entered with contractual
maturity within 12 months (2022: within 12 months).
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its loan
and interest receivables in order to minimise credit risk
by reviewing the borrowers’ financial positions. The loan
receivables are interest-bearing at rates mutually agreed
between the contracting parties, at a fixed rate of 10.5% to
12% (2022: 10.5% to 11%) per annum. As at 31 December
2023, one of the loans receivables of the Group with
carrying amount of approximately HK$19,000,000 (2022:
HK$19,000,000) was secured.
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(&)
FEURRRR

FEUBR FIE () LB 1B 4B AR (R AS IR (AR TS FE
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BEREMEFRIEMEEER > BKER
AARE(CE"F . H) o

R ERKRFE
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EWERZZENEBRIA12ERER
(ZEZZF 1 12BR) - XEBEFEB
ERERAZTHERRHEEBRER X
MEHFBERERETEUEEREEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND 21. FERERF-FEWE R T B
INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) (48)

(a) Ageing analysis (a) BRECOMT

Ageing of accounts receivable FEW BR 5t 2 FR e
MYERZEEREERR > —&
DEAZERZMBENAELE - %
E?&EIEEFELIQE&?AE%ZE =
b » RABERTHEEREE © E'§
WERR Z EEHMTF30HE180H
(Z2Z”F : ANF30BE180H) °

The credit terms given to the customers vary and are
generally based on the financial strengths of individual
customers. In order to effectively manage the credit
risks associated with accounts receivable, credit
evaluations of customers are performed periodically.
The credit period given to accounts receivable ranged
from 30 days to 180 days (2022: from 30 days to 180
days).

The aging analysis of accounts receivable as at the end RIEHR > BIBEZEEHHEZEBW
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and IR Z IRE AT (FOBREEE) W T -
net of provisions, is as follows:

2023 2022

—E-= TETTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Within 1 month DR1ER 175 2,989
1 to 2 months 122188 217 -
2 to 3 months 2FE3@EA 71 -
Over 3 months @A E 2,963 -
3,426 2,989

Ageing of loan and interest receivables

The ageing analysis of loan and interest receivables as
at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual

FERE S KT 2 ARl

REBESHRRES

Bw% E’Jﬁ’éuﬁié?ﬂ&ﬂ ELT ﬁ

due date and net of provisions, is as follows: s
2023 2022
ZEZI=F kSt -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET
Not yet past due i8] R 71 HA 50,829 37,900
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND

21. FEWERTR R E R R ] 2

INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D) (48)
(b) Impairment (b) RE
Impairment of accounts receivable FEW AR 2 R 1B
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting R&EJRSHE > BEINTHEESRE
date using a provision matrix to measure ECLs. RE#HEEsTETRAEEHEME
The provision rates are based on days past due for ToBBENDENRABHE > A
groupings of various customer segments with similar BROUEEEL (Bl « ZmiE
loss patterns (i.e. by geographical region, product type, B BREN R NAEER S
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the B2 AR TMETE - &5t 8RR
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money NMEAR - SEEBRBEMNKRN®R
and reasonable and supportable information that HFHEAESBERABESH ~ a0
is available at the reporting date about past events, AR T8 Ko AR 2R A B AR TR R 2 S IR ]
current conditions and forecasts of future economic FBEM o
conditions.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TREFAEERWERREREE
exposure on the Group’s accounts receivable using a EENEEREER :
provision matrix:
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE=F+"A=+—H
Past due
(=5l
Current  1to 3 months Over 3 months Total
L —EZ=f@R =EAME H
ECLs rate BHEEREX 0% - -
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  BRE4E(E (T8 7T) 3,426 - - 3,426
FCLs (HK$'000) AREEER(THET) - - - -
As at 31 December 2022 B "HF+"H=+—H
Past due
[=rali
Current  1to3months  Over 3 months Total
el —E=f8A =ERME st
ECLs rate BHEEREX 0% - -
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREI4E(E (F57T) 2,989 - - 2,989
ECLs (HK$'000) RHEEEE(TED) - - E -
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21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

(b)

Impairment (Cont’d)

Impairment of loan and interest receivables

rE MR AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

21. FEWERTR R E R R ] 2

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s loan and interest receivables

using a provision matrix.

As at 31 December 2023

(b)

(&)

H{E ()

EEREFH R TR ZHEE
TREJIAEBRBER KT B
REmERENEERRER -

R-EZ=%+"H=+—H

Past due
2@
Current  1to 3 months Over 3 months Total
bl —Z={88 =EBME st
ECLs rate REEHREE 1.18%-1.31% = =
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  BRE4E(E (T8 7T) 51,466 = - 51,466
ECLs (HK$'000) BEEEBRE(TER) 637 - - 637
As at 31 December 2022 W2 _F#+_"A=+—H
Past due
EHi
Current  Tto3months  Over 3 months Total
izl —Z={88 =EEMNE ozt
ECLs rate BHEEEEX 16-1.24% - -
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  BREI4E(E (FH7T) 38,362 - - 38,362
ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEEE(TAT) 462 - - 462
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

240

(b)

775 e R Y 5E

Impairment (Cont’d)

Impairment of loan and interest receivables
(Cont'd)

For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next
12-months (12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (lifetime ECLs). At each reporting date, the
Group assesses whether the credit risk on loan and
interest receivables has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
loan and interest receivables as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the loan and
interest receivables as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. All loan and
interest receivables are classified as stage 1 and were
neither past due nor impaired.

21. EEE&EE%T&\EEH&E%T&&%U%
(48)
(b) RE{E (4E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND

(c)

rE MR AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

21. FEWERTR R E R R ] 2

INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D) (48)

Movement of loss allowance (c) FESiaEEE
The movements of loss allowance for accounts FEW IR E R 28
receivable
The movements in loss allowance of accounts RERN » BIWRREERE ZEH)
receivable during the year are as follows: omE

HK$'000

FET

At 1 January 2022 AT g0 1,444
Impairment loss recognised BB ER 18 208
Written off b= (732)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RIELENB AR (900)
Exchange realignment SMEESHEE (20)

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023

WZE_—_F#+”-RA=+—H -
—E_=5—F—HK

—EB=HF+"A=t+—H -

The movements of loss allowance for loan and
interest receivables

BREFRFEERE B E

The movements in loss allowance for loan and interest REAR > BINEREFEEERER
receivables during the year are as follow: ZEEAT -

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 January 2022 N_E-_"H#—HF—H 392

Impairment loss recognised BB ER 18 70

At 31 December 2022 and RIEZZFHF+ZA=+—HkK

1 January 2023 2 -F—F—H 462

Impairment loss recognised BB ER1E 175

At 31 December 2023 RZE®_=F+"A=+—H 637
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22.

242

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

22. TATRRIR 1 & R H At FE UK

RECEIVABLES |
2023 2022
—EZ=F TEITHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Prepayments TaftmIa 4,630 3,892
Deposits and other receivables & R H MR RIE 43,703 40,747

Less: Loss allowance for deposits and B R REMERERIEZ

other receivables EriasiE (1,610) (1,330)
46,723 43,309

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts.

For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12-months
(12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (lifetime ECLs). At each reporting
date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on deposits
and other receivables has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the deposits and
other receivables as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the deposits and other receivables as
at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supporting information that is available without undue
cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. Except for deposits and other receivables of
approximately HK$2,557,000 (2022: HK$422,000) are
classified in stage 3, all other deposits and other receivables
are classified as stage 1 and were neither past due nor
impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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22. TAMTRRIR 1 & R H At FE UK

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

23.

RECEIVABLES (CONT'D) 15 (48)
Movement in the loss allowance during the year is as follow: AFEFBEEEEHUT
Lifetime
12-month ECLs (credit
ECLs impaired) Total
2HATEHA
12188 E8EE
TEHR{E E k518 (E8RE) st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F#ET FET
At 1 January 2022 RZZE-__#—HF—H - - -
Impairment loss recognised BRI ERE 908 422 1,330
At 31 December 2022 and =S = = S =
1 January 2023 —+—HkKk
—_E_=F#—A—H 908 422 1,330
Impairment loss recognised/ BERRERE
(reversal of impairment (BEELRERR)
loss) 698 (418) 280
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=H+"H=
+—H 1,606 4 1,610
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH ~ 23. AT EBERTIIRZE
PROFIT OR LOSS MEE
2023 2022
ZET=HF B CHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Listed shares in Hong Kong, at fair value R &B_EHZ RN
(note a) FEAFE2) (MsTa) 13,131 15,354
Unlisted investments at fair value JELERREFAFESR)
(note b) (MF5ED) 29,190 89,293
Unlisted investment fund at fair value ELHRERES (AT E
(note ¢) =) (fI5Ec) 10,797 -
Derivative financial assets TEESHMEE
(notes d & 33(a)(ii)) (M EEdAz33(a)ii) 8,579 12,978
61,697 117,625
Less: current portion B OmEIER D (32,507) (68,170)
Non-current portion JERENER D 29,190 49,455
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at
FVTPL are denominated in the following currencies:

23. AT EBRBIEmYIRZE
RAE E (1)

rEBBRATEEEETIRZEME
EZREEDUTIEEHE !

2023 2022

—E-= “ECCF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTAT TAT

HKD BT 45,604 67,815
usD =TT 16,093 49,810
61,697 117,625

The above equity investments were classified as financial
assets at FVTPL.

Notes:

(a)

Listed shares in Hong Kong included in the financial assets at
FVTPL were mainly investment in Town Health International
Medical Group Limited (Stock Code: 3886) (“Town Health”)
amounting to approximately HK$13,131,000 (2022:
HK$15,354,000) as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s unlisted investments
represented 3.32% equity interest in World Biotech
Regenerative Medical Group Limited ("World Biotech”)
including a profit guarantee.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s unlisted investments
represented (i) 7.69% equity interest in Heals Healthcare
(Asia) Limited (“Heals”) with a call option, and (ii) 5.64%
equity interest in World Biotech including a profit guarantee.

Heals

On 8 October 2021, Absolutely Talent Technology Limited
("Absolutely Talent”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a share deed (“Share Deed"”)
with Heals, pursuant to which Heals agreed to grant
Absolutely Talent the right to subscribe for up to 638,880
Series B shares of Heals (“Relevant Shares”) at a price of
US$31.30 per share at any time from the date of the Share
Deed to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive) (“Call
Option”).

FHRARE D ERRATEEBE
mIIRZ ERMEE ©

MI5E -

(a)
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RIZEZ=F+"HB=+—H > > #Q¥F
EFEBERIRZSHEETHINES
RO EFELANERAREEER
BRAT BRI H5E - 3886) (TR~
BEL13,131,0008 0 (" - " &
15,354,000 7T) ©

RIE_=ZF+"FB=+—H » &~&EH
LB EIENBREYR T ELS B
BEEARAS(NMRREYMHEBEE
B 1)3.32% R (BIRaFIER)

RIEZZHF+"FB=+—H » x&EH
JE F I EH5() Heals Healthcare (Asia)
Limited (THeals])7.69% & 1 B -3 FE HA
15 R(NIRIKEY R BEEES.64%
B (B FE R AR o

Heals

RZEZ—F+ANH > ARBEIZHE
BrENBRAREBEREERAR (&
B ) BlHealssT 3L — B (7D 2245 (TER 1R 22
1) > BIL > HealsEEIR FEREHEF
DRRHhRERSRE_S_=F1+_1
—t+—H(BEEEMH)THEEEUE
f%31.30F T2 B8N HE R %$638,880%
Heals BR% &% (TBRARR S 1) (MR HEHA
¥ o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(b)

(Cont'd)

On 23 December 2022, Absolutely Talent, as vendor, entered
into an equity transfer agreement (“Equity Transfer
Agreement”) with Heals Treasury Company Limited (“Heals
Treasury”), as purchaser, pursuant to which Absolutely
Talent agreed to sell, and Heals Treasury agreed to acquire,
159,720 series B shares of Heals, representing approximately
7.69% equity interest in Heals (“Heals Shares”), at the
consideration (“Heals Consideration”) of US$5,120,623
(equivalent to approximately HK$39,838,000) (“Heals
Disposal”). Both parties to the Equity Transfer Agreement
agreed that the completion of the Heals Disposal was
conditional upon the cancellation of the Heals Call Option
(as defined below), which could not be waived by any party
to the Equity Transfer Agreement and if it was not fully
fulfilled by 31 January 2023, the Equity Transfer Agreement
and the terms and conditions thereof would immediately
and automatically terminate, in which case, no party to the
Equity Transfer Agreement shall have any further obligations
or liabilities under or arising from the Equity Transfer
Agreement, save for the accrued rights or liabilities of any
party to the other party in respect of the terms herein at or
before such termination.

The Heals Disposal was completed on 3 February 2023 and
since then, the Group no longer holds any equity interest or
derivative financial assets in Heals.

As at 31 December 2022, the total fair value of the equity
interest in Heals and the Call Option were determined by
reference to the Heals Consideration.

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

23. AT ESEBIE

mYRZ &

RAE E (&)

MI5E -

(b)

(&)
)

RZE_—HE+"B-_+=H> #&&8
(fEAE 77) BHeals Treasury Company
Limited(THeals Treasury] » fE&E7)
I —IEREE R (T RESER
#E) o BIb BEREERE > MHeals
TreasuryBE BB (THeal s &)
5,120,623% T (1HE 11 439,838,000
7)Y B8 159,720 Heals BRFARD (1
HealsBe#497.69% > (THealsB&131))
(THealsHHEEIE)) - RIESEEHZEN
®HFEE > SehiHealstHESEBARG
HealssR BEHAE (BRI M) B A AIEE >
RS EG R EAN— AT EERRZ
BEEG > BEMzZBERENR 2 =F6—
B=+—HrRE2EEMN » BIRESE
SR 175 MU B TR AR 3L BD B B0 4%
I FIERT » BREEERETE
— A EBAAREREEEREE TR
IR R EmELE 2 EMNEMEFRED
5 ERMER BN ZAEE—A
IR ERME B — 5 EE B ER
WEIERRIP o

HealsHEEZEEERN _ZE_=F_F=H
SEAk 0 BlitZ % 0 REBTEB R HealsH
BEMRERITTESHEE o

MNZE-__F+"_H=+—H » Heals

PR R SRR EAE 2 N T EMBEE IS E
Heals{CBEEETE ©

245



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(b)

246

(Cont'd)
World Biotech

On 15 October 2021, Absolutely Talent entered into a
subscription agreement with World Biotech (“"World
Biotech Shares Subscription Agreement”) to subscribe for
50,000 shares of World Biotech, representing approximately
4.65% equity interest of World Biotech, with consideration
of HK$40,000,000. Pursuant to the World Biotech Shares
Subscription Agreement, World Biotech guarantees that
either the average of the net profits of World Biotech for each
of the two financial years ending 30 September 2025 or the
valuation of World Biotech on or before 31 December 2025
would not be less than the agreed amounts. In the event of a
breach of this guarantee, World Biotech shall be liable to pay
compensation to Absolutely Talent.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
received a dividend from Luck Key, an associate of the
Company, additional 10,650 shares which representing
0.99% equity interest of World Biotech. As at 31 December
2022, the Group holds 5.64% equity interest of World
Biotech.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
disposed of 25,000 shares of World Biotech to an
independent third party for a consideration of approximately
HK$20,720,000. This resulted in a gain on disposal of
financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$335,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group held 3.32% equity interest of World Biotech.

Based on the valuations carried out by an independent
qualified professional valuer using discounted cash flow
method and Black Scholes Model, which are generally
accepted approaches in the industry, at the end of reporting
period, the aggregate fair value of the equity interest and the
derivative financial assets in World Biotech was approximately
HK$29,190,000 (2022: HK$49,455,000).

23. AT ESEBIE

mYRZ &

RAE E (&)

MI5E -

(b)
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(&)

)

REEVRIKRBERER

TR -F+HATHEHE ABHEIER
KEMRBEBRER LB (TR
KEVMREBEBRRDZBME)

LIFREE50,000 R IR E YR B A B &
Ben > (HIREKEYR S B EBEREY
4.65% > fB740,000,0008 7T ° R
IRIKEMR S BEBBERMDTDERZE
IRIKEMR S BEBEER > IREEY
HeEssBERnasEz_S _a5hA=
+HIEMESMBFESFENFE &R
BRIREYREBEEEN -2 "R
F+_B=+—HZZaNHESTE
BRHBESRE » MEBRZER  BIRIK
EYREBEBRBEaSNEE LT
B o

HE_Z-_-_F+”°"HA=+—HL
FE > AEBEECBEARABHE QT
Luck KeyWgEYZESN10,65088 P8 (0 (HHE
RIBIREY R B EEE0.99% R E)
EARE -MIZZE+ZHA=+—
B> AEEBERKEYREFERE
5.64% 51 ©

HE_ZE”-="F+ZRB=+—HIEF
E o REEHE25,000BREYRHE
BEBRERMDTF—RBIUE=FH > (B
m%mjwﬁm%ﬁoﬁﬁﬁﬁi:

TEE+ A=+ —HLEEERATF
@LL%mW%z%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁw 549
335,000 L  RZE_=F+_A=
+—H > AEEFEERIEYRIEBYE
B2%3.32 % RRHE o

REREHAR  RIBFBILSEREEME
BRFTEfE(E YRR ERINIRIR S 24
Ktk - SRR > MZERH LS
ERNARAE)  REKEYREBE
B RARRRITESREEN AT
E48%5849729,190,0008 T (Z & - —
£ © 49,455,00057T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(b)

(Cont'd)

In applying the calculation of the fair value of World Biotech
at the end of reporting period, it was assumed that (a)
there is no material change in the existing conditions which
might adversely affect the business of World Biotech; (b) the
financial projection in respect of World Biotech was prepared
on a reasonable basis that reflects estimates that have been
arrived at after due and careful consideration by the senior
management of the Group; and (c) the economic condition
will not deviate significantly from economic forecasts.

The following is the key terms of World Biotech and the profit
guarantee in assessing the fair value:

Expiry date
v 5 BA

Valuation date
fh{EHHA

Valuation technique

(CREESE ]

Remaining period to expiration

[E AT 2 T &R HA RS

Discount rate

AHIRER

Probability of achieving the profit guarantee
B A ERAVEER

Weighted average cost of capital
NREFEERE A

Discount for lack of marketability

RiRZ PISEE 2 758

23. AT ESEBIE

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

mYRZ &
RAE E (1)

MisE @ (@)
(b) (&

RERRMENREBEBRENREH
RZAFEZFABEGERET  BR (@5
Bkl IR A SEEIR I E R B
EBREBREBEAANTEZERED ;
(O BRIRKEMMNEBEBREZMHR
ATREEERERR  RIRAEESHR
EEBLKERAFZEBRERZMES
RGBT G RIEREEC AR
A o

DUF B eHERKE R B E B R KR
FIERAFERBEZIRR

31 March 2026 31 March 2026

TEDRE TETRE
=BA=+—H =BA=+—H

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
= BT HF
+—-B=+—H +—_B=+—H
Discounted cash flows Discounted cash flows
method method

ARIRIRE R E A ALIRIR B ME A
2.25 years 3.25 years

2.25% 3.254F

5.875% 5.625%

50% 50%

14% 16%

35% 35%
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  23.

BAFES

B8

mYRZ &
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PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D) MEE (8)
Notes: (Cont'd) MisE @ (&)
(b)  (Cont'd) (b) (&)
Total fair value of World Biotech as at 31 December 2023 NZEZ=FRZEZF+ZA=F
and 2022: —B > BREREBEEERZ ATE
48%8 -
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
RIE_= AT TF
+=BA=+—H +-B=+—H
The Group's equity interest of World Biotech 3.32% 5.64%
REBPIRIREY R IR L BRI RE
Fair value of share held by the Group and the profit guarantee ~ HK$'000 29,190 49,455
REBIFRD MaFERZ AFE FET

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group, as
a limited partner, invested in a private equity fund called
Kingkey Investment Fund SPC — KKDF Selected Investment
Fund SP (“Kingkey Fund”). The Kingkey Fund invested in a
wide range of instruments, including but not limited to, listed
and unlisted equities.

The carrying amount represents interests in unlisted
investment funds. The financial assets were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
measured at fair value under level 2 fair value hierarchy.
Details of the above are disclosed in note 41(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s derivative financial
assets of approximately HK$8,579,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$12,978,000) mainly represented the fair values of (i) a
put option granted by the vendor in connection with the
acquisition of a subsidiary of the Company by Dynasty View
Limited, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Dynasty View"); and (ii) a put option granted by
a shareholder of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings in connection
with a deemed disposal of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (note

33(a)(ii).

(0
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BE_Z_=—F+"-B=+—HLHF
B AEB(ERBEREBNBRERTA
SREESE > BAKingkey Investment
Fund SPC — KKDF Selected Investment
Fund SP (TKingkey Fund]) ° Kingkey
FundiERZRETE » GFERRR L
MRIE AR o

SREERNIFETREEEIER ©
nEﬁJX’”E%E’/}q:TELL%ﬁ@Jﬁ%’zz
TREE > WHATEERSE R TH
BRATENE - EXZHFBREGEEYH
$RERMIFEA1 (IR ER ©

N_E2Z=F+"A=+—H » ~&H
BT SRE EAS,579,0008 T (ZF
“H+ZHA=+—H :12,978,000%
O EBIENEAMAAB ZBIZIEEE
B¢ & /A 5] Dynasty View Limited (TDynasty
View)) WX AT —BHEATREY
BIEBIEHEME 5 K (ii) Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings Z BE R RLAREH & Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings(Ff5E33(a)(ii) L H Y
SUREAEM AT AE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)
Dynasty View

The derivative financial assets of approximately HK$3,283,000
represented the fair value of a put option granted by a
third party. On 2 July 2021, Dynasty View and a third party
(“Vendor"”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement
("S&P Agreement”) pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to
sell, and Dynasty View agreed to purchase 51 shares of the
total issued share capital of a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“Target Company”), representing 51%
of the total issued share capital of the Target Company, at
a consideration of HK$2,500,000. The Target Company and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in, inter alia, micro-
insurance, micro-lending, digital health care and wellness
service, employment and service referral agency, with a
keen interest on the un-banked population; in particular,
development and operation of IT fintech platform for the
retail customers in Hong Kong.

In consideration of the purchaser agreeing to enter into
the S&P Agreement, the Vendor granted to and in favour
of Dynasty View a put option which requires the Vendor to
purchase all the 51 shares in the Target Company (“Option
Shares”) from Dynasty View at the purchase price (“Option
Purchase Price”) which shall be equivalent to the aggregate
of (a) the consideration in the amount of HK$2,500,000,
and (b) an amount in Hong Kong Dollars calculated at a
rate of 12% per annum on the consideration to be accrued
daily from the date of the S&P Agreement up to the date of
completion of the sale and purchase of the Option Shares
between Dynasty View and the Vendor, if the conditions
subsequent are not fulfilled by 15 months after the date of
the S&P Agreement (“Long Stop Date”). The above put
option shall only become exercisable after the expiry of the
Long Stop Date and shall lapse on the day falling six months
after the Long Stop Date. In January 2024, the Group served
written notice on the Vendor to exercise the put option at the
Option Purchase Price. As at the date hereof, completion of
the transfer of the Option Shares from Dynasty View to the
Vendor has not yet taken place.

The fair value of the put option as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 was arrived at, with reference to the valuation
carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group, using the Black Scholes Model.
Pursuant to the S&P Agreement, the Vendor shall use his best
endeavours to procure that certain conditions shall be fulfilled
by Long Stop Date. In applying the calculation of the fair
value of the put option as at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
it was assumed that (a) interest rates will not differ materially
from those presently prevailing; (b) economic conditions
will not deviate significantly from economic forecasts; and
(c) there is no other unpredictable and force majeure which
cause material adverse effect.

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK
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(&)
Dynasty View
TTESRE EX3,283,0008 T8 E =7
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)
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(Cont'd)
Dynasty View (Cont'd)
As at 31 December 2022

Maturity Date

[&wm E HA

Time to Expiration

B HA

Valuation technique
BT

Risk-Free Interest Rate
mE AR

Expected volatility
SELEN]

Probability of the put option being exercised
TR ER R BT A1

Fair value of the put option

LI AT(E

Note: The exercise price represents the purchase price to
be paid by the Vendor to purchase the Option Shares
when the put option is exercised.

As at 31 December 2023

Maturity Date

e 5 B8R

Time to Expiration
B

Valuation technique
B

Risk-Free Interest Rate
i E A =

Expected volatility
TERAR NG

Fair value of the put option
FHEAEATE

Note: The exercise price represents the purchase price to
be paid by the Vendor to purchase the Option Shares
when the put option is exercised.
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings

The derivative financial assets of approximately HK$5,296,000
represented the fair value of a put option granted by a
grantor in connection with a deemed disposal of Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings. On 2 June 2022, Noble Tack International
Limited (“Second Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and the then controlling shareholder of
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings, entered into a subscription
agreement (“Subscription Agreement”) with Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings and Dynamic Investment Holdings
Limited (formerly known as TNG FinTech Holdings Limited)
(“First Subscriber”), the then non-controlling shareholder
of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Seamless Group Inc. (“Grantor”), pursuant
to which Dynamic Indonesia Holdings agreed to allot and
issue 5,000 subscription shares (“Subscription Shares”)
in five tranches (with each tranche of 1,000 Subscription
Shares) for the aggregate subscription price of US$1,000,000
("Subscription”). The Subscription Shares represent 20%
of the enlarged issued share capital of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings upon completion of the Subscription. Details of the
subscription is set out in note 33(a)(ii).

On 2 June 2022, the Grantor also entered into an option deed
("Option Deed”) with the Second Subscriber, pursuant to
which the Grantor agreed to grant to the Second Subscriber
an option for the right but not the obligation to require the
Grantor (or its nominee) to acquire all or part of the ordinary
shares of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings held by the Second
Subscriber (“Walletku Option Shares”) and all or part
of the outstanding shareholder’s loans of approximately
US$2,050,000 from the Second Subscriber (“Shareholder’s
Loans”) upon exercise of the put option which is exercisable
at the discretion of the Second Subscriber in accordance with
the terms of the Option Deed. The Second Subscriber has the
discretion to determine the number of the Walletku Option
Shares and the amount of the Shareholder’s Loans to be
acquired by the Grantor (or its nominee) upon exercise of the
put option and the Second Subscriber shall notify the Grantor
such number of the Walletku Option Shares and amount of
the Shareholder’s Loans to be acquired by the Grantor (or
its nominee) in the option notice to be served by the Second
Subscriber.
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(&)
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings
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MRIRHAE LR 2 &R BB 1T 6) BT
FRBEESR B AMFAENDynamic
Indonesia Holdingspy & 2B 28 & i@
Hx(rWaIIetkuﬂNEHzTﬁJ)E’szEM_

REANEBABOREERRER
%ﬁz,oso,oooin(rﬂzﬁ‘é,‘u) o
REAEENBERETRITER G
BERAREAHERRNRBRTES
BIWalletk uBAERR D B B RRRENE
B RBEZDBABREZIEBEAET
FHNAREENTPAEREEARHIEN
MNEHERB AN EENZZEWalletkulf
RSB MR ERERE ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

252

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (Cont'd)

The fair value of the put option as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 was arrived at with reference to the valuation
carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group, using the Black Scholes Model.
In applying the calculation of the fair value of the put
option as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, it was assumed
that (a) interest rates will not differ materially from those
presently prevailing; (b) economic conditions will not deviate
significantly from economic forecasts; and (c) there is no
other unpredictable and force majeure which cause material
adverse effect.

The following is the valuation parameters in assessing the fair
value of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings and the put option:

As at 31 December 2022

Maturity Date

e % B H#A

Time to Expiration
BHA

Valuation technique
fHERI

Risk-Free Interest Rate
mREEE

Expected volatility
TERRRE IR

Discount for lack of marketability

HRZ AT E M 2 378

Fair value of the put option

sLEIEAT(E

Note: The exercise price represents the purchase price to be
paid by the Grantor to purchase the Walletku Option
Shares when the put option is exercised.

23. AT EFEEIE

mYRZ &

RAE E (&)

MYsE

(d)
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(&)
(&)
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (/&)

FHEARN B =ER B+
“B=+—HBMAFELERELEER
WEmEEN B S BESEEGEMER
EERMHR - AT EIETIHE
MEN - REAR_E_=F K-
TEF+ A=+ —HEENRAHREN
NEER > BE()F) EEIFITH A
BAER ; (D) B 47 T8 R I
BARE 5 RO #EEMF A FERA KRR
AMNRREREAFFFE o

LA A&5F{&EDynamic Indonesia Holdings
Rt B A T ERNLES

R-E__F+"HA=+—H

2 June 2024
“ETWESATZH
1.42 years

1.426F
Black Scholes Model
I — PR

4.59%

52.53%

43%

HK$'000 9,972
TAT

fist - fTREERRE R A RRETEE

BHARBEEWalletkuBBR R H
RTZIHREE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (Cont'd)
As at 31 December 2023

Maturity Date

& H A

Time to Expiration

B HEA

Valuation technique
(EY=EE 0]

Risk-Free Interest Rate
mREMEE

Expected volatility
TERRE IR

Discount for lack of marketability

HRZ I E M 2 Hra8

Fair value of the put option

LI AT(E

Note: The exercise price represents the purchase price to be
paid by the Grantor to purchase the Walletku Option
Shares when the put option is exercised.

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T —F+_H=+—HIFE

23. AT EFEEIE

mYRZ &

RAE E (&)

MIsE

(d)

)

Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (/&)
RZB_=%+"RA=+—H

2 June 2024

_7 _Eﬂz/ \E E
0.42 years

0.426

Black Scholes Model
R — SRR

5.32%

37.07%

43%

HK$'000 5,296
TAT

st . THREEZDEHEETE

R > IRH ARIEE Walletkuffte
RO FAIHIBEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZE —F+_H=1—HILFE

24.

25.

254

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24. WEKRERIFESIER
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
e FETT
Cash and bank balances e MIRITASER 6,569 9,313

At 31 December 2023, cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$Nil (2022: HK$17,000), USD amounted to approximately
HK$945,000 (2022: HK$7,000) and AUD amounted to
approximately HK$2,582,000 (2022: HK$6,097,000). RMB
is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. Subject
to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
Renminbi for foreign currencies through banks authorised to

N _E_=—F+-_A=+—H » ~&EEH
DAREABZEERBITEROAS
BIT(ZTE T 17,00087T) ~ UUETT
FHEZ IRE MIR1T48R4972945,0008 7T
(ZEZZ4F : 7,000 T RLURTTEHE
ZIRERIRTT 4 #R497%2,582,0008 7T (=
T T 4F 1 6,097,00087T) c ARKEART
HHTBRAINEG o RIFHEINES B
B 4E0E ~ EERNESERTE » &%
BEATZEEREETINEER IR

conduct foreign exchange business. TRARB IR IMNE o
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. BHIERE
2023 2022
—E= —ETF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FHET
Contract liabilities BHEE
Deposits received and deferred BUiRE RIRIEW A
income (i), (i) 10,190 8,146
Notes: Mok

() Revenue of approximately HK$5,335,000 (2022:
HK$5,184,000) recognised for the year ended 31 December
2023 was related to contract liabilities at the beginning of the
year.

(i) The Group receives payments from customers for the hotel
and related services when the customers made reservation
of accommodation of hotel rooms. Payments are usually
received in advance before the services provided which are
mainly from provision of hospitality services and related
services in Australia.
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BE_Z_=F+_A=1T—HLFE

WSR2 %5 495,335,0008 0 (ZF -
15,184,000/ 7T) » JhEFENZEL
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FEERZREEEEBEEEWE
JE& R AR RA AR TS W BN P RUIE © —ARICER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

26. BH REMENRIEEstE

AND PROVISION FAR it
2023 2022
—EBC=F .
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Trade payables FET B 5 AR X 5,091 9,068
Accruals and other payables FEst & A R EMEMRIE 29,281 39,767
Provision for litigations SREAEE R - 52,666
34,372 101,501
2023 2022
—BI=H —ECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FHT
Additional provision for litigations FRREIM AT B
for the year (notes 37(c) and (d)) (MF5E37(c) A (d)) 4,819 8,271
Provision for litigations derecognised upon fR{EHE—EH BAE%E
deemed disposal of a subsidiary RIS ER B
(note 33(a)(i)) (Fi¥EE33(a)(0) 51,982 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

26.

256

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS
AND PROVISION (CONT'D)

Ageing analysis of trade creditors
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based

on the invoice date of the Group as at the end of the
reporting period:

26. BH REMBRIE Bt E
AR (&)

FE13 & 5 ARARAR B D A

UTRERERRRESHRBEREEZLEH
RSB SRR ARES DT

2023 2022

—E= —ETF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Within 3 months 3B ZA 4,109 2,572
Over 3 months @B E 982 6,496
5,091 9,068

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
payables, accruals and provision are denominated in the
following currencies:

FEBEZREMBENRIE Bt ER
2 IREE U T EEEHE :

2023 2022

—Eg-= T=ETTF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FAET FET

HKD BT 17,743 13,505
RMB NG = 67,814
AUD JRIT 16,629 20,182
34,372 101,501
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

27. INTEREST BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27. sFRIRITREMES
BORROWINGS
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings is as follows: AEBFENRARTT !
2023 2022
ZEZ=F TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET TAET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHRIRITREE 55,771 36,829
Interest-bearing other borrowings Hthzt 2EE 10,188 78,500
65,959 115,329
Less: Interest-bearing bank and B DEAREBIONEE
other borrowings classified fEﬁ&HT&TﬁH
as current portion (38,439) (83,822)
Non-current portion JEmEER D 27,520 31,507
Fixed-rate borrowings IE%'JTFWQ 10,188 78,500
Variable-rate borrowings FEMEEE 55,771 36,829
65,959 115,329
Secured Bigis 55,771 95,329
Unsecured IRIR 10,188 20,000
65,959 115,329
Analysis into: aIr=I
The carrying amounts of the above FiEERAEEATER
borrowings are repayable: BFfE -
Within one year or on demand —FARFFREK 38,439 83,822
In the second year F_FE 5,759 5,322
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F_EFELF(BIFEER
ﬁﬁﬁ) 21,761 26,185
65,959 115,329

FEBBEZSFERNXLENT ¢

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the
Group's borrowings are as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= CET g

Effective interest rate: BEAE
Fixed-rate borrowings BIEHEEE 6.00 - 11.00% | 3.65—11.00%
Variable-rate borrowings FEFEREE 6.27 — 7.40% 2.90 - 6.04%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

28.

CONVERTIBLE LOANS AND DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

In December 2021 and January 2022, a subsidiary of
the Company, Endless Foison Limited (“EFL"), issued
the convertible loan notes (“Convertible Notes”) with
principal amount of HK$7,000,000 and HK$600,000
respectively. The Convertible Notes will mature on 31 March
2024 ("Maturity Date”) and do not carry interest. The
Convertible Notes may be convertible into fully paid ordinary
shares of EFL at the option of the holders of the Convertible
Notes (“Noteholders”) based on the outstanding principal
amount of the Convertible Notes, the agreed valuation of
the Company and the number of issued shares of EFL in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Notes. The Noteholders may also request for early
redemption of the Convertible Notes by EFL at 105% of the
par value of the Convertible Notes during the period from
the first business day immediately after 31 March 2023 and
the date which is 10 business days immediately before the
Maturity Date.

The proceeds received from the issue of the Convertible

28. AIIARERMKMITEERER

N _E _—F+_BAR_E__F—
B KRB ZHEB/ATBEndless Foison
Limited (TEFLY) 1T/ ERER (MA]
BRE ) > KEEE D 5H)47,000,000%
JC/2600,0008 7T © Al EBRF N =
“mE=A=+—H(REB ) FNEFEFR
SR MR EBEIRAIBRKREREE
ANTMEEFEAN) ZEE > REBEUBREKRE
BB GES  BBEER{THEZ AR
REBEZASE - AQBRRZGER
DEITEFLRRMH &R > %@%EFLZ“E&Ei
B EEFEATAREE_Z-=
FZRB=+—HEEEE%XH Ei%%%z
FEAEHAII0EEXHEH IR » EX
EFLIZAJ A R EE 2 105 %1 FEE[o]
AR EE o

TR R TR IZFM%TJXIEE%J%

Notes have been split between the liability and derivative REBERTETASS > AP -
components as follows:
HK$'000
TFAET
Liability component at 1 January 2022 N ZE-F—A—HNEaEE D 6,584
Nominal value of the Convertible BETOMKRERCEE
Notes issued 600
Derivative component TTETRED (37)
Interest charge (note 9) H 2Rz (FYEE9) 568
Liability component at 31 December 2022 MWIZZEZ-F+”"H=+—HRK
and 1 January 2023 T =F—H—HNaRHs 7,715
Interest charge (note 9) | 2 B2 (FfEE9) 613
Liability component at 31 December 2023 RZTE-=F+"“HA=+—BHMNARIHS 8,328
Derivative component: TTET RIS
Derivative component at 1 January 2022 - :;::E A—BRITET RS 438
Derivative component of the Convertible BEITAMBRERNITTE TR D
Notes issued 37
Change in fair value NEEE) (73)
Derivative component at 31 December 2022 W-_E_-_—_F+_HA=+—HR
and 1 January 2023 B =F—HA—HNTET AR 402
Change in fair value NEEESH (402)
Derivative component at 31 December 2023 W-_E_=F+_"_A=+—B%
FTET RS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. CONVERTIBLE LOANS AND DERIVATIVE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONT'D)

The interest charged for the period is calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of 7.92% to the liability component
since the Convertible Notes were issued.

The derivative component was measured at its fair value at
the date of issue and at the end of each reporting period.
The fair values were estimated using Crank Nicolson finite-
difference method (level 3 fair value measurements). The key
assumptions used are as follows:

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

28. AIARERMMITEERER

(&)

BRI R RIREITIE - HIARF B2 WS
BRAaRED ZEBRFET 92%:18 o

METABORARSETEARSERS
IR RAFEFE - AFENDERRE
RERMBRARED FETMHE (E=ZR
AFEFE) - FMEANEIERKRUNT ¢

31 December 31 December
2023 2022 Date of issue
= BT TE
+ZRA=+—H +ZA=+—H 7AW
Weighted average share price  JI#EFIIRRIB HK$1,3338 7T HK$1,87278 7T HK$2,3947% 7T
Weighted average exercise price I F19171EE@ HK$7,720% T HK$7,72087T HK$7,72087T
Expected volatility TREIRIE 41.90% 60.21% 62.42 —62.70%
Expected life e el 0.25Yr4E | 1.251-1292Yr&E 2.251-2292 Yr &
Risk free rate = A= 4.88% 4.28% 0.561-0.664%
Expected dividend yield BRI EE 0% 0% 0%
Information about level 3 fair value measurements BB =R ATEFTENER
Significant Effect on fair value
Valuation techniques  unobservable input ~ Range for increase of inputs
EXFARE BAMBENHATE
fh{ER i BWAHE #E M2
Derivative component embedded  Crank Nicolson finite- Expected volatility 41.90% Increase
in Convertible Notes difference method (2022: 60.21%)
MATMEREZITETAS S RERERBR AR R Em
BREDNE

The fair value of derivative component embedded in the
Convertible Notes was determined using Crank Nicolson
finite-difference method and the significant unobservable
input in the fair value measurement is expected volatility.
As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of derivative
component was estimated that with all other variables held
constant, an increase/decrease in the expected volatility by
5% would have decreased/increased the Group’s profit by
approximately HK$Nil/HK$Nil (2022: HK$5,000/HK$9,000)
respectively.

AT EENTETEBDNAF
BENERARERERBARERED AE
T MBI RIER A AT ESTEFTRE
MNEAFRABERAAGRE - HN_T_=
F+_"_H=+—H T EEMESRF
BAENEBERT TEIEREIEDAFEE
R s FERR R IBEE N, TR 5 % A B A
E@BEHDRRL NN EBT, /T
BT (ZEZ A : 5,000%7,79,0005%

7T) °
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29.

260

DEFERRED TAX 29. IRIEFRIA
An analysis of the deferred tax balances in the consolidated R E MBI RIS 2 EERIBAS R D
statement of financial position is as follows: W
2023 2022
ZEZ=HF —EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#T FH7T
Deferred tax assets RIERIAE & 1,169 1,170
The followings are the deferred tax balances recognised and TRAFAMER ZIEIERBERRE
movements thereon during the year: BE) !
Decelerated
Tax losses tax allowances Total
REEE MR R e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
At 1 January 2022 R_E_"F—F—H 273 972 1,245
Exchange realignment SME R (17) (58) (75)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 WZE-ZF£+”-A=+—-HkK
—F-_=-%—HF—H 256 1,170
Exchange realignment SMEERREE - (M (1
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=5+_"A=+—H 256 1,169
As detailed in note 10(b) to the consolidated financial WiRE R MIZE10(0)PraEat » A&

statements, the Group has unprovided deferred tax in
respect of unutilised tax losses and other taxable/deductible
temporary differences arising in Hong Kong, Australia and
the PRC that is available for offsetting against future taxable

profits.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. ARAS
Number of shares HK$'000
RiA%E TEL
Authorised: EE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at RZE¥-"&-A—-QA ZF_C
1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, +ZB=+-B-Z%-=%-A-H
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=1-H
@HQETEU.OWETBZ il 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRE R .
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at R-E-__&-A-QA "F_C
1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and +ZB=+-BRZE-=%-A-H
1 January 2023 BREEOIBTZLER 5,336,235,108 53,362
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (a) BEREHRN () (180,200,000) (1,802)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=£+ZA=1+-H 5,156,035,108 51,560
(@) The Company acquired 180,200,000 of its own shares (@ ARANRZEI=FHAKRSNEES
through purchases on the Stock Exchange from May to June %Az FTUL g E 180,200,000 B B &
2023. The total amount paid for the shares repurchased was 7o EMBRMDERMZINEREENS
approximately HK$17,076,000 and related transaction costs 17,076,000 70 > MAERERZ Z 44
incurred of approximately HK$157,000 have been deducted 157,000 T EXLEH R RPN o
from contributed surplus.
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its PR EXFTIFEEN  #E_Z-_=F+_A1
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s —t+—HILFE > KRBHEAENB A
securities listed on the Stock Exchange during year ended 31 BImEER « HENBLMERA QBRI
December 2023. RS o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

— =
30. SHARE CAPITAL (CONT'D) 30. f&7 (48)
Price paid per Share
BRZMER
Number of

Shares Aggregate

Date of Repurchase Repurchased Highest Lowest Consideration
fBEIEHA BERHHE =1 RE BAE
HK$ HK$ HK$

B B b

22 May 2023 —E=FHAZ+TH 1,000,000 0.083 0.083 83,000
23 May 2023 “E=FHAZ+=H 14,000,000 0.085 0.085 1,190,000
24 May 2023 —E=-FHAZ+IMH 12,000,000 0.086 0.084 1,031,820
25 May 2023 “E=FHAZ+EHH 35,700,000 0.089 0.088 3,176,440
29 May 2023 —EI=FHEAZ+AH 11,000,000 0.093 0.090 1,022,270
31 May 2023 2 =FHA=+—H 48,000,000 0.095 0.094 4,558,510
02 June 2023 A = 10,000,000 0.101 0.101 1,010,000
05 June 2023 ZET=FREBRH 15,000,000 0.103 0.102 1,544,880
06 June 2023 —ET=FXANRH 20,000,000 0.104 0.102 2,078,040
07 June 2023 —ET=FRATH 7,500,000 0.101 0.101 757,500
19 June 2023 “ET=FRA+H 6,000,000 0.104 0.104 624,000
Total KL 180,200,000 17,076,460
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (CONT'D)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group is that in order to maintain its listing on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to maintain a
sufficient public float of the Company’s shares. The Group
has maintained a sufficient public float to comply with the
GEM Listing Rules throughout the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
trade and other payables, accruals and provision, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities and
convertible loans less cash and cash equivalents. Capital
includes equity attributable to the shareholders. The gearing
ratios as at the end of the reporting period were as follows:

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

30. R (48)

BEAER

FEFEFEENTIZERARESE
ERHEREEKENENTERSRITE
AERUSXFEHEBRERERRE
8o

AEBEEREARBURBEE N
EB N HFHHE - %%ﬁ?vikuﬂﬂé:
R AEENEHEHRKRRIIRKR!

Y > AIARERIR @ﬁzl&%%*ﬁ%%ﬂ °

FEEBRETHE—IIBEEBZKRES
MERFICEE ST GEMBY E st ir » A&
ERERRBRMNEFTTEENARTR
£  xEERFR—BEMEFTENAR
FRE  URESGEMLEMRANRE °

FEBMRBEFRERLEREZESR tl:
RLFEHHEUBRMBEBE
BHEEE S REMBARE - FEEJrE
ARkER - StRIRTREMEE - HE
BERABERERARERERREA
B - EXBERREBGER o RREH
RBEREBRLERNT :

2023 2022
“E=HF B THF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FHET
Trade and other payables, accruals and B 5 R EMETRIE -
provision FESTE A M 34,372 101,501
Interest-bearing bank and other FFRIRTTRAEMMBEES
borrowings 65,959 115,329
Convertible loans RN 8,328 7,715
Lease liabilities HMEE&E 5,673 8,149
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERERRESIER (6,569) (9,313)
Net debt HETS 107,763 223,381
Equity attributable to the shareholders AE SRR 317,506 296,239
Capital and net debt BARKHETS 425,269 519,620
Gearing ratio BAREMRALER 25% 43%
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31.

32.

264

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme"”) was adopted on 9 June 2020. The purpose of
the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards
for eligible participants’ contribution to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group and any invested entity.

There were no share options outstanding, granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Details of the Company’s Share Option Scheme is set out on
pages 66 to 67 of the Company’s Annual Report.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserve and the movements
therein for the current year are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 154 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Share premium

The share premium account of the Company includes
premium arising from the new issue of shares in the
current and prior years netted of share issue expenses.
(b) Contributed surplus
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of the Company is subject
to compliance with the bye-laws of the Company

and the laws of Bermuda, is distributable to the
Shareholders under certain circumstances.

(c) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for foreign currencies in note 4(e) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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32.

RERREST &

KRABRZBZZFENBNABRRER
st B (AR IERTE ) - BB EIZ B
S AR ER ST EEFH IR
BERZEALRNEREBEEHT
EBrRBEEHSEERKSIETERRE
HREBRABENATIER-

_—f— ElthEE *E}Eéﬁi\r'ﬁiﬁ@ E&
tH~ BT ~ sEEHER MRV HE o

KAB)ERESTE 2
¥REE6E6TH o

fi#
AEENAEE B EREPNG

EMBHRRBIAENGERGETHRE
Bl o

HBHNREABF

(a) R&RE
RABZRDBERBIERNEER
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32. RESERVES (CONT'D)

(d) Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI

(e)

()

(non-recycling)

The fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI
(non-recycling) comprises the cumulative net changes
in the fair value of equity instruments designated as
measured at FVTOCI in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for equity/debt instruments designated
at FVTOCI in note 4(k) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other reserve

The other reserve mainly represents the difference
between the proceed and carrying amount in the equity
transaction arising from the partial disposal of equity
interest or acquisition of additional equity interest in
the subsidiaries without any change in the control of
the subsidiaries.

Distributable reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had
distributable reserves of approximately HK$19,092,000
(2022: HK$45,221,000) including accumulated losses of
approximately HK$1,169,018,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,158,320,000). Under the Company's
memorandum of association and the Bye-laws and
the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company of approximately
HK$1,188,110,000 (2022: HK$1,203,541,000) as at 31
December 2023, are distributable to the Shareholders
if certain circumstance are met. The Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make distribution out of
the distribution reserve if:

(i)  the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of the Company would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities,
its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries

266

(i) —Jixiang

On 10 May 2023, b BMmEBE=ZFHARE
B (English is for identification purpose only,
Shanghai Third Intermediate People’s Court)
(“Shanghai Court”) announced that Shanghai
Well C.P.A. Partnership (E/BZEEE S sTENEHAT
(BB 5 E)) was appointed as the admlnlstrator
("Administrator”) in respect of the insolvent
liquidation of Jixiang, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (“Liquidation”), following its
acceptance of the application made by LEO Group

0., Ltd. ("Purchaser”) for the Liquidation,
further details of which have been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 February
2023. On 15 May 2023, Jixiang received a
list from the Administrator for the items that
need to be handed over to the Administrator,
including its assets, seals, and books and records
("Handover").

Immediately following the Handover which
effected on 31 May 2023, Jixiang is no longer
controlled by the Company under which Jixiang
was deemed to be disposed of by the Group and
deconsolidated from the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. Immediately
following the Handover and deemed disposal,
Jixiang ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company.

Further details of the deemed disposal of Jixiang
are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 19 May 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(a) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’'d)
(i) — Jixiang (Cont'd)

The following table summarises the net liabilities

rE MR AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

EEREMERMEE (B)

(a) HMIEHEMBLE (&)
(i) - % (&)
TR A FERE L&D

of Jixiang deemed disposed of during the current

SKNEEFE > HMBTENR

year, and the financial impacts are summarised as s
follows:
2023
—T-=F
HK$’000
F#T
Net liabilities deemed disposed of: RIEHEBBEFEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEEAEMEEWRGEIIRZ
THBEE 116,526
Prepayments, deposits and other AR ~ B R HEHMEWGRIE
receivables 402
Cash and cash equivalents RERFRREIEH 11
Accruals and other payables FEst & R R EMEMRIE (20,267)
Provision for litigations (note 26) SREREE (51,982)
Tax payable FE(ITRIE (56,163)
Interest-bearing other borrowings sFEEMES (56,960)
(68,433)
Release of exchange reserve FRIREE IR (3.712)
Net liabilities disposed of HEARFE (72,145)
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary ~ fREHE R B ARz W@ 72,145
Net cash outflow arising on deemed RARIEHEEEZ RS M IFEE
disposal:
Cash and bank balances being deemed BRIEHE Z RS RIBITHEER
disposed of (11)
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(a) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (Cont'd)

268

(ii) — Dynamic Indonesia Holdings

As set out in note 23(d) to the consolidated
financial statements, on 2 June 2022, Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings entered into a Subscription
Agreement with the First Subscriber, who was
the then non-controlling interest of Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings and Noble Tack International
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company as the
Second Subscriber, pursuant to which Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings agreed to allot and issue
5,000 Subscription Shares in five tranches (with
each tranche of 1,000 Subscription Shares) at the
aggregate subscription price of US$1,000,000.
The Subscription Shares represent 20% of the
enlarged issued share capital of Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings upon completion of the Subscription.

Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription
Agreement, the Second Subscriber decided not to
subscribe for the first tranche of the Subscription
Shares and whereby, the First Subscriber agreed
to subscribe for all the 1,000 Subscription Shares
under the first tranche of the Subscription at
Subscription Price of US$200,000.

Upon completion of the first tranche of the
Subscription, Dynamic Indonesia Holdings is
owned as to approximately 51.43% by the First
Subscriber and approximately 48.57% by the
Second Subscriber, respectively which constituted
a deemed disposal of a subsidiary.

Details of the deemed disposal of Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings (“Walletku Disposal”) are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated
2 June 2022 and 21 July 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT SZERSRERME (@)

OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)
(a) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’'d)

(ii) — Dynamic Indonesia Holdings (Cont’d) (ii) — Dynamic Indonesia Holdings

Dynamic Indonesia Holdings was engaged in
Walletku Digital application, sales of products
of Indosat Ooredoo Hutchison and Walletku
E-commerce services. Upon completion of the
aforesaid deemed disposal, Dynamic Indonesia
Holdings ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company and was then accounted for as an
associate of the Company using equity method.
The fair value of the retained interests in the
Dynamic Indonesia Holdings at the date on which
the control was deemed to lose is regarded as the
cost on initial recognition of the investment in an
associate.

The following table summarises the net assets
of Dynamic Indonesia Holdings being deemed
disposed of during the current year and the

(&)

Dynamic Indonesia Holdingsfit
EWalletku Digital BB ~
#8 € Indosat Ooredoo Hutchison
MNE@KRIEHEWalletku
E-commercefR# o 52pY L #it
RIEHEEIEE > Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings N B &4 R
FIM B AT » ERUEREE
ABERANBNEHE QB AR
RREXEZFEZH > 1©
Dynamic Indonesia Holdingsy
REET 2 N FERERTE
B Hﬁﬁ%@j&ﬁﬁ’\]ﬁiﬁ °

TERBIHEEAFEREFLHEDN
Dynamic Indonesia HoldingsHYJ
HEFE  HUBRZERMmY

financial impacts are summarised as follows: I
HK$'000
FAET
Net assets being deemed disposed of: FREHEPEE ©
Property, plant and equipment Mz~ BB RRE 1,003
Right-of-use assets ERESE 389
Inventories 75 1,065
Accounts receivable FEUWTAR X 3,213
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBRIE ~ #Zs R EMEWIIE 6,303
Cash and cash equivalents RERERREER 543
Trade and other payables and accruals B2 hEMEMRIEU R EEA (31,241)
Lease liabilities MHEEE (129)
(18,854)
Goodwill [GES 11,603
Non-controlling interest JEfERG = 10,572
Release of exchange reserve PR BREE R 459
Net assets disposed of FTHEREE 3,780
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary FRIEERE—RBNB AT Z W& 26,907
30,687
Deemed consideration satisfied by: AR A = ARIERE -
Fair value of the equity interest in an associate ~ H#& A B REZ AFE 16,569
Financial assets at FVTPL (note 23(d)) BAT EEBERYIRZ EMEE
(Md5E23(d)) 14,118
30,687
Net cash outflow arising on deemed disposal: .?ﬁf?ﬂjﬁgizfﬁémﬂjzﬁgﬁ :
Cash and bank balances being deemed BRIEHE 2 IRERIBITHEER
disposed of (543)
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

270

nVT = EE kY 72 5 %%MTJ-%I (I%g)

(b) Major non-cash transaction (b) EXIFRERH
Dividend received by way of equity interest in K Dignity Choice/R ## 2 75 =0 I B iR
Dignity Choice B
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group HE_E-_=—F#+_H=+—H
received dividend from an associate by way of 10,650 IEFE » AEEDLL10,6508Dignity
shares, representing 48.33% equity interest of Dignity Choicef&1p (1548. 33%)&%)27‘55&
Choice. WER—REEE A B S
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () REFEIFFEEMNEEHER
activities
The table below details the changes in the Group’s TERZAHTNEB B THE
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash CEaENES > 8FREeENIFRE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing SE) o B EEfTELAAEAH
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or SREBEEEH KRS NEF N4
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s ERGSRESRERANEAHNS
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows EHFELAES TENAE o
from financing activities.
Interest-bearing
Convertible Lease  bank and other
loans liabilities borrowings Total
sTRRITR \
IR ER HEER HitfEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TR T
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—-F—H 7,715 8,149 115,329 131,193
Changes from financing cash flows: RMEREREZEE .
New borrowings obtained EEWEE - - 25,154 25,154
Repayment of borrowings BEREE - - (18,734) (18,734)
Interest paid EfFIE - - (5512) (5,512)
Capital element of lease rentals paid RS EASH - (3,804) - (3,804)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EfffEZHEHD - (368) - (368)
- (4,172) 908 (3,264)
Other changes: Hi&E) .
Interest expenses MY 613 368 5,512 6,493
New lease MiE - 1328 - 1,328
Deemed disposal of subsidiary %%EE EREAT - - (56,960) (56,960)
Foreign exchange movement REEH - - 1,170 1,170
613 1,696 (50,278) (47,969)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=1—-H 8,328 5,673 65,959 79,960
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Cont'd)

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

raRERERMEE (&)

(0 RMEEBFFEENEEHKRGE

Interest-bearing

Convertible Lease  bank and other
loans liabilities borrowings Total
STEHITR
aARER HEEE HitfEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAET T TAET
At 1 January 2022 RZE”__F-F—H 6,584 11,557 134,875 153,016
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREZEY .
New borrowings obtained EENEE - - 19,950 19,950
Repayment of borrowings EBE[EE - - (32,240 (32,240
Interest paid EfFE - - (8,077) (8,077)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BffRszERLS - (3,275) - (3,275)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EfffEZAEHD - (502) - (502)
Proceeds from the issue of BTARERENE
convertible loans 600 - - 600
600 (3,777) (20,367) (23,544)
Other changes: HigE)
Interest expenses MEHx 568 502 8,168 9,238
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries REHERBAR - (129) - (129)
Foreign exchange movement EREE) - (4) (7,347) (7,351)
Classified as derivative financial RYieRR & DE
liabilities upon initial recognition AiTEEHERE (37) - - (37)
531 369 821 1,721
At 31 December 2022 RZE_"F+"A=1+-H 7,715 8,149 115,329 131,193

(d) Total cash outflow for leases included in the

(d) SALGERETRERVAENRE

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MHARZEUN T -
2023 2022
—E=F TEBCHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FBT
Within financing activities NE=SETIIN 4,172 3,777

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK 271



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira R R M5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34.
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
interest- bearing bank and other borrowings are included in

notes 14 and 19, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35.

Significant capital expenditure contracted for as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 but not recognised as liabilities is

HHEE
A A A A SR L 5t S RAT R LA

BENEBEEABONEN G HERSE
MisE145%19 o

B KIE

AN EC—ERIEC_F+ZRB=+
—H > BiIBERERABENEKX

as follows: BEAMZUWT
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHET
(Audited) (Audited)
(RE®Z) (&%)

Property, plant and equipment M~ BB RRE

— Renovation of Balgownie - FEEERE 15,166 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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36. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a)
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had

the following transactions with related parties during

the years:

= AL
e

36. BB ALRS

B RAH M E D PR ET
frE’J 2550 0 ARE BB E R R R
ANTETTUTRS -

2023 2022
—EZ= TETF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FAET
Rental expenses paid to a related m—EREBAEEN ()
company HERX 3,738 3,738
Rental deposit paid to a related m—EREBAEZN ()
company (included in deposits and A& & (Gt A% E
other receivables (note 22)) e EL A eI FRIE
(M45E22)) 2,432 2,432
Income generated from provision m—ERAEABREE ()
of administrative and management 17 EU% & 1R AR TSP
services to a related company EEZ WA 1,228 16,005
Cost of medical services paid to a m—EREB AR (i)
related company EERE 2R 547 581
Consultancy fee paid to an associate B—BBEABZA (i)
BHE 400 1,200
Loan to an associate (included in m—EEEAEEM (i)
deposits and other receivables EMGtAZE
(note 22)) R EL eI FRIE
(M95E22)) 15,933 15,933
Loan to an associate (included in m—EBEABRE (V)
deposits and other receivables B Gt AT kK
(note 22)) Hth e EIE
(Mi5E22)) 7,439 7,439
Interest receivables from an associate 2k B —E = A (iv)
(included in deposits and other ZEWFH B
receivables (note 22)) (%Jr)\?@f@&
H AR IR
(Mi5E22)) 283 134
Interest income from an associate RE—FEEE AT (iv)
(included in other income (note 7))  FBUWA
(Gt AEAUA
(MI5E7)) 149 134
Loan from a related party (included RE—%RBBALZ ()
in interest-bearing other BERETAGR
borrowings (note 27)) HihEE
(Mi5E27)) 3,188 -
Repayment of loan to a related party E—%BIBATEE  (vi)
& - 2,661
Interest paid to a related party m—%EBA TSN (Vi)
R - 94
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36. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

274

TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)
(@ (Cont'd)
Notes:

(b)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The income generated from provision of administrative
and management services were received and the cost
of medical services and rental expenses were incurred
and paid to Hong Kong Health Check and Medical
Diagnostic Centre Limited, a subsidiary of the Group’s
associate for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2023. In addition, the rental deposit was also paid to
this related company.

The consultancy fees were paid for the consultancy
services provided by Nuada Limited, a subsidiary of the
Group's associate.

The loan was provided by the Group to Dynamic
Indonesia Holdings, a former subsidiary that became
an associate after Walletku Disposal in June 2022,
and the loan is interest-free and has no fixed term of
repayment.

The loan was provided by the Group to French Modern
Concept, an associate of the Group, and the interest
is paid for the loan. The loan has no fixed term of
repayment.

The loan was provided by Mr. Lawrence Tang, a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, and
no interest bearing for the loan during the year ended
31 December 2023. The related party transaction
constituted a connected transaction as defined in
chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The loan was provided by Mr. Lawrence Tang, a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company in
previous years, which was repaid during the year ended
31 December 2022. The interest was paid for the loan
during the year ended 31 December 2022. The related
party transaction constituted a connected transaction as
defined in chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The remuneration paid to key management personnel, who
are the Company’s Directors is disclosed in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

36. RAE KR A L35 (48)

(a)
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37. LITIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group was involved
in the legal proceedings or potential legal proceedings as
follows:

Convoy Case

(a)

On 19 December 2017, Ever Robust Holdings Limited
("Ever Robust”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, received a writ of summons with a
statement of claim (the “Writ”) issued in the Court
of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
(the "Court”) by Convoy Global Holdings Limited
("Convoy”), Convoy Collateral Limited (the “Second
Plaintiff”) and CSL Securities Limited (the “Third
Plaintiff”, together with Convoy and the Second
Plaintiff, collectively as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among
other defendants, Ever Robust (together with the other
defendants, collectively as the “Defendants”).

Based on the Writ, the orders sought by the Plaintiffs
against Ever Robust were as follows: (i) Convoy sought
an order as against, among others, Ever Robust, that
the allotment of the shares in Convoy by Convoy to,
among others, Ever Robust on 29 October 2015, be
set aside; (ii) the Second Plaintiff and the Third Plaintiff
sought an order that the financing facilities granted by
them, including the loan (the “Convoy Loan”) in the
amount of approximately HK$129,000,000 granted
to Ever Robust by the Second Plaintiff on 9 November
2015, and the margin loan (the “Margin Loan”)
granted to Ever Robust by the Third Plaintiff which
amounted to HK$67,574,473 as at 29 March 2016,
be rescinded; and (iii) the Plaintiffs sought against,
among others, Ever Robust for (a) general or special
damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/
or other reliefs (the “Convoy Proceedings”). As at
19 December 2017, Ever Robust had fully repaid the
Convoy Loan and the Margin Loan and did not hold
any shares in Convoy.
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)
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Convoy Case (Cont'd)

(a

(Cont'd)

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference
hearing was held before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Harris on the Convoy Proceedings. On 9 July 2018,
Ever Robust has received an amended writ of summons
and an amended statement of claim (the “Amended
Statement of Claim”). Pursuant to the Amended
Statement of Claim, the reliefs sought by the Plaintiffs
against Ever Robust were amended as follows: (i) a
declaration and order as against among others, Ever
Robust, that the allotment of the shares in Convoy by
Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust, on 29 October
2015, was null and void, or has been rescinded and
set aside (as sought by Convoy); (ii) an account of
profits and an order for payment of any sums found to
be due, equitable compensation to be assessed, and/
or damages to be assessed for breach of fiduciary,
common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful
means conspiracy, as against, among others, Ever
Robust (as sought by Convoy); (iii) an order against,
among others, Ever Robust, for an account of profits
and an order for payment of any sums found to be
due, equitable compensation to be assessed, and/
or damages to be assessed for breach of fiduciary,
common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful
means conspiracy (as sought by the Second Plaintiff
and the Third Plaintiff); and (iv) against, among others,
Ever Robust, for (a) general or special damages; (b)
interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other reliefs
(as sought by all the Plaintiffs).
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

Convoy Case (Cont'd)

(a)

(Cont'd)

On 27 July 2018, Ever Robust received a sealed order
(the "Order”) dated 28 June 2018 against, among
other Defendants, Ever Robust, in which 11 parties
are ordered to join the proceedings as additional
defendants. Pursuant to the Order, it was further
ordered, among other matters, as to between the
Plaintiffs and Ever Robust (among certain other
Defendants), that the Plaintiffs did have leave to file
and serve the Amended Statement of Claim.

On 30 November 2018, Ever Robust received a copy
of the sealed order dated 1 November 2018 against,
among other defendants, Ever Robust, in which a party
was ordered to join the proceedings as an additional
defendant.

On 10 December 2018, Ever Robust filed its defence
("Defence”) to the Plaintiff's claim in the Convoy
Proceedings with the Court. Pursuant to the Defence,
Ever Robust averred that the Plaintiffs were not
entitled to any relief against Ever Robust in the Convoy
Proceedings.

On 30 August 2019, Ever Robust filed its amended
Defence pursuant to the order of Hon Harris J dated 12
July 2019.

Further details of the Convoy Proceedings were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 19 December
2017, 1 June 2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018.

After seeking the legal opinion, the Group considered
that there was no assessed monetary claim by the
Plaintiffs and it is premature to give opinion on the
probable outcome and estimate the ultimate liability.

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK

(

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T —F+_H=+—HIFE

a)

37. &FaR (B)

A
RARENF(E)

(#®)

A_E-NFEtAZ+tH &EiE
BE—MHEEEERESHRE A
HAPA S N\EASBZ+/\H
2EHGL (&< BFES1
L EFIEAIIZREANAL R
TREER KRBERSARER
(BEETEMHES A BNEME
BN » Z RN E— i% RS

}\Eg%ﬂaj@tﬁ?& Z«%PED]—EE%
=z o

R ZE-N\F+—B=+H > BEf
BE—MOHEOEEREREAE

REBA—F—\F+—B—AZ
BEHLEE > BPES—LSE
JS e AR RS ADAS MR
o

RIE—NE+-B+H B
BRFABERERCERE AR
BzMEE(RBE)) - BRERE
Z BRERRSAEERERS
EAFREERERBE AR R ©

RIZE—NFENB=+H » ERER
BEERA-ZE-—AELtHA+H

WER L EZEmQEEET Ik
=

BRI E—D BN A
AEHPR_ZE—tHF+ZA+N

B~ZZ2-—N\FRA—H ZF—
/\ﬁﬁﬁﬁtE&_g—/\Etﬁ_

THBZ R

REJERERRE  cEEIRIBR
SALEEFEEERE > BRI
BEAMBEGRFHERKEAR

REfE-

277



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

""‘Aﬁ
N7 ==

775 e R Y 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

278

Zhu Xiao Yan Case

(b)

On 2 January 2018, Ever Robust received a petition
(the “Petition”) issued in the Court by Zhu Xiao Yan
(the “Petitioner”) against, among other respondents,
Ever Robust. Based on the Petition, the Petitioner has
held and continues to hold 3,234,000 shares in Convoy
since around mid-2015, and the Petitioner sought the
following orders against, among others, Ever Robust:
(i) a declaration that the placement of 3,989,987,999
shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among other placees,
Ever Robust, and/or such placed shares were void
ab initio and of no legal effect or, alternatively, be
set aside; (ii) damages for dilution of the Petitioner’s
shareholding; (iii) interest; (iv) such further or other
relief and all necessary and consequential directions
as the Court may think fit; and (v) costs (the “Zhu
Proceedings”). As at 2 January 2018, Ever Robust did
not hold any shares in Convoy.

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference was
held on the Zhu Proceedings, in which the Honourable
Mr. Justice Harris made an order that the Zhu
Proceedings be stayed with liberty to restore, pending
the outcome of the Convoy Proceedings.

Further details of the Zhu Proceedings were set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 2 January 2018.

The Group has sought preliminary opinion on the
above legal proceedings from its solicitors (or legal
adviser) in Hong Kong, who, based on the information
available as of the date on these consolidated financial
statements, was of the opinion that:

—  there is no assessed monetary claim except the

Plaintiffs’ claim and the Petitioner’s claims against
Ever Robust for damages to be assessed,;

— itis premature to give opinion on the probable
outcome; and

= itis premature to estimate the ultimate liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

Essence Case

(0)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021,
a subsidiary of the Company (the “Borrower”) had
breached the covenant of a loan (the "Essence Loan”)
in the original principal amount of RMB79,868,600
granted by Essence Securities Co., Limited (the
“Lender"”), which is secured by certain of the listed
securities (“Pledged Assets”) (notes 19 and 23) (the
"Essence Case”). On 17 January 2020, the Borrower
received the summons (the “Summons”) issued by
the Lender, as plaintiff, in Shenzhen Intermediate
People’s Court (the “SZ Court”) against the Borrower
as defendant. Pursuant to the Summons, the Lender
demanded the SZ Court to order the Borrower to: (i)
repay to the Lender the outstanding principal amount
of the Essence Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$79,216,000); (i) pay to the Lender interest at the
rate of 6% per annum accrued on the outstanding
principal amount of the Essence Loan in the sum
of approximately RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$79,216,000) from 20 June 2019 to
the date of repayment; (iii) pay to the Lender liquidated
damages at the daily rate of 0.03%, including
liguidated damages on the outstanding interest in
the sum of approximately RMB1,042,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,164,000) from 16 September
2019 to the date of repayment and liquidated damages
on the principal from 19 June 2018 to the date of
repayment; (iv) pay to the Lender its legal costs in
making the claims in the sum of RMB76,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$85,000); (v) use the proceeds
from the realisation of 45,779,220 shares in LEO (i.e.
the Jixiang's Shares) (note 19) pledged by the Borrower
through discounting, sale or auction firstly to repay
to the Lender the outstanding amount of the Essence
Loan, the interest, the liquidated damages and the
legal costs; and (vi) bear all the litigation costs such as
case acceptance fees and security fee of this case. As
per the Summons, the aggregate amount of the claims
under (i) to (iv) up to 18 November 2019 amounted
to approximately RMB85,186,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$95,187,000).
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D) 37.

280

Essence Case (Cont'd)

(0)

(Cont'd)

On or around November 2020, the Borrower received
the judgement (“Judgement”) issued by the SZ Court
in relation to the Summons, pursuant to which:

(1) the Borrower shall within ten days after the
Judgement becoming effective, repay to the
Lender (a) the outstanding principal amount of
the Essence Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB71 million and interest on the outstanding
principal amount of the Essence Loan (consisting
of (i) interest in the amount of approximately
RMB1 million accrued from 20 June 2019 to 16
September 2019; and (ii) interest at the rate of 6%
per annum accrued on the outstanding principal
amount of the Essence Loan in the sum of
approximately RMB71 million from 16 September
2019 to the date of repayment); (b) liquidated
damages at the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the
outstanding interest in the sum of approximately
RMB1 million payable from 16 September 2019 to
the date of repayment; and (c) liquidated damages
at the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the outstanding
principal amount of the Essence Loan (consisting
of (i) liquidated damages in the amount of
approximately RMB1 million payable from 19
June 2019 to 19 August 2019; and (ii) liquidated
damages on the outstanding principal amount
of the Essence Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB71 million payable from 19 August 2019 to
the date of repayment);

(2) the Lender shall have the right to the Pledged
Assets as a chargee and the priority to be
compensated with the proceeds from the
realisation of the Pledged Assets through
discounting, auction or sale; and

(3) out of the litigation costs (consisting of case
acceptance fees and security fee) in the aggregate
amount of approximately RMB473,000,
approximately RMB465,000 and approximately
RMB8,000 shall be borne by the Borrower and the
Lender, respectively.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

RTECEE+—AHAE  BR
AR RNE BTl E TR 2% 2 AR
(THR) » #RIE -

() ERABRHREXEB+H
NEEMAEE(a)REE
ZEERRCEREBEHARKE
71,000,000t A BEZEE
AR EREZFE(BIEOEBZE
—hEABZ+HEZEZE—A
FAA+RNAZRFAZFEL
AR #1,000,0007T ; &E(ilEZ
E—-HEFEAB+HEEEMN
HE AR EBEZ EERAELE
FEAY AR H71,000,000 TR E
FMEe%RFTENFE) ; ) EZ
TE-NFAAT+HEEEE
HEAEBEN ERBENAR
1,000,000 cFETAYIZ B F) =
3/10,0005tHERENREES ;
Kz (c)¥% HFZ3/10,0005tEHY
FEBELEERELTBENE
Ex(BEOB _E—hENA
+hBREE_E—HENB+
NWBEENHENBEESHOAR
#1,000,0007T ; (B =-Z—
NWENB+ABEEEEZELR
MKREELZEERLRSIEIELY
AR%71,000,0007CFET R
HEESR) ;

2) EMABRIER/BREERK
A R ER ~ BEWE
ERNBRIBFEENFREM
REBRERSEE &

B) HMINERBEANARK
473,000 (BIEEHIEE
RREE)  HRFHO AR
465,000 TcHEMAEKIE > &
AR 18,0007t HE A KIE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

Essence Case (Cont'd)

(0)

(Cont'd)

Save for the above, the orders the Lender demanded
the SZ Court to make against the Borrower in the
Summons were rejected by the SZ Court.

Further details of the Summons and the Judgement
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated
18 January 2020 and 20 November 2020.

The Group completed the disposals of Town Health
shares on 3 March 2021 and 10 March 2021 to
partially repay the Essence Loan and the liabilities owed
to the Lender under the Essence Loan as required by
the Judgment.

On 10 May 2023, Shanghai Court announced that
Shanghai Well C.P.A. Partnership (/83 5TEIEF
Ffr (& @5 §£)) has been appointed as the Administrator
in respect of the Liquidation, following its acceptance
of the application made by the Purchaser for the
Liquidation. Further details of this appointment have
been set out in the Company’s announcement dated 7
February 2023. On 15 May 2023, Jixiang received a list
from the Administrator for the Handover.

The deemed disposal of Jixiang was completed on 31
May 2023, and the Pledged Assets held by Jixiang were
deemed to be disposed of.
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case

282

(d)

On 7 December 2015, Jixiang, a subsidiary of
the Company, Mr. Xu Jialiang, Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
(collectively, the “Vendors”), E/BEBESERA
BJ(in English, for identification purpose, Shanghai
Zhiqu Advertisement Co., Ltd.) (“Zhiqu”) and LEO
Group Co., Ltd. ("LEO") entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (as amended and supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 11 January 2016)
(the “Zhiqu SP Agreement”), pursuant to which
LEO agreed to acquire, and the Vendors agreed to
sell, the entire equity interest of Zhiqu (the “Zhiqu
Disposal”). The Vendors and LEO also entered into
the performance compensation agreement (the
“Performance Compensation Agreement”) in
relation to the adjustments to the total consideration
for the Zhiqu Disposal. The total consideration shall be
subject to adjustments (the “Adjustments”, each an
“Adjustment”) in accordance with the Performance
Compensation Agreement in the manner as stipulated
below:

For the purpose of the Adjustments, the “Audited
NOP” is Zhiqu's audited net operating profit after
tax, after adjustments for, where applicable, any non-
recurring and exceptional gains or losses, whichever
is lower, that are not related to the ordinary business
of Zhiqu, attributable to shareholders of the parent
company of Zhiqu as deduced from the audited
consolidated financial statements of Zhiqu for the
relevant financial year ended 31 December 2016
("FY2016"), financial year ended 31 December 2017
("FY2017") and financial year ended 31 December
2018 (“FY2018") (each a “Guaranteed FY"). The
Vendors severally (but among Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, jointly and severally) undertook to LEO
that:

(i)  the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 shall be
not less than RMB58,000,000 (the “2016 Target
NOP"),

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 shall be
not less than RMB75,400,000 (the “2017 Target
NOP"); and

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 shall be
not less than RMB98,020,000 (the “2018 Target

NOP").
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

The Vendors and LEO agreed that the amount of
Adjustment (the “Adjustment Amount”) for each
Guaranteed FY shall be settled by the Vendors in the
following order:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

firstly, by the consideration shares allotted and
issued to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng,
in proportion to the consideration shares allotted
and issued to them (“Xu’s Shares”);

if the Xu's Shares shall be insufficient to settle the
relevant Adjustment Amount, secondly, in cash by
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng in proportion
to the cash consideration received by them (“Xu’s
Cash”),

if Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng have
not fully compensated LEO, thirdly, by the
consideration shares allotted and issued to Jixiang
("Jixiang's Shares”);

if the Xu's Shares, the Xu’s Cash and the Jixiang's
Shares shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, fourthly, in cash by Jixiang,
which is subject to a cap of approximately
RMB25,510,000 (“Jixiang’s Cash”); and

if the Xu’s Shares, the Xu's Cash, the Jixiang's
Shares and the Jixiang's Cash shall be insufficient
to settle the relevant Adjustment Amount, finally,
in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to
settle the balance.
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)
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LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

Upon the end of each Guaranteed FY and the issue
of the special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2018, LEO
shall engage qualified auditors to conduct asset
impairment test and issue a report in respect of any
asset impairment. Where the asset impairment of Zhiqu
as reflected in such report shall be more than the total
Adjustment Amount compensated by the Vendors to
LEO, the Vendors shall compensate LEO a sum equal
to the difference between such asset impairment
and the Adjustment Amount then compensated by
the Vendors to LEO, which shall be settled first by
the consideration shares (the value of which shall be
calculated by multiplying such number of consideration
shares with the issue price), with payment of cash to
settle the balance (if any). All liabilities of Jixiang under
the Performance Compensation Agreement shall at all
times be capped at the total consideration received by
it.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2016
published by LEO on 30 August 2017, the Audited
NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 amounted to approximately
RMB32,240,000, which was less than the 2016 Target
NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2016
shall be approximately RMB83,931,000 and shall
be settled by 18,166,915 Xu's Shares (the "FY2016
Compensation”). Jixiang was not required to pay any
compensation to LEO in respect of the Audited NOP of
Zhiqu for FY2016.

As disclosed in LEQ’s announcement dated 31 August
2017, Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng shall
pay additional compensation which comprises (i) an
aggregate of 21,993,909 LEO's shares to LEO; and
(i) cash in the aggregate amount of RMB80,000,000
to Zhiqu, on or before 31 December 2017 (the
“Additional Compensation”). According to LEO’s
announcement dated 19 December 2017, such shares
were returned to LEO for distribution to its shareholders
in December 2017.
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)
LEO Case (Cont’d)

(d)

(Cont'd)

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2017
published by LEO on 14 December 2018, the Audited
NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 amounted to approximately
RMB36,689,000, which was less than the 2017 Target
NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2017
shall be approximately RMB126,125,000 and shall be
settled by 3,821,856 Xu's Shares and Xu's Cash in
the amount of approximately RMB108,468,000 (the
“FY2017 Compensation”) taking into consideration
the Additional Compensation. However, as disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 15 March 2019,
according to LEO’s announcement dated 15 March
2019, given that the 3,821,856 Xu's Shares were not
sufficient to settle the FY2017 Compensation and
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng were unable to
provide the Xu’s Cash in the amount of approximately
RMB108,468,000, in accordance with the settlement
mechanism above, the FY2017 Compensation shall
be settled by 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares and Jixiang
shall also return the cash dividend in the amount of
approximately RMB506,000 received from LEO to an
account designated by LEO.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 29 April 2019, on 29 April 2019, Jixiang
received a letter from the Shanghai International
Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission (Shanghai
International Arbitration Center) (“SHIAC") that LEO
had commenced arbitration proceedings against
Jixiang to pursue the settlement of the portion of the
FY2017 Compensation that Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng were unable to satisfy (the “Unsettled
FY2017 Compensation”). As at 31 December 2018,
the Company has been preliminarily advised by its
legal advisers as to the laws of the PRC that Jixiang
should have a good chance to argue in such arbitration
proceeding that the demand from LEO for settlement
of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation should not be
upheld. The hearing of the arbitration proceeding was
held on 24 September 2019 before a panel of three
arbitrators.

According to the announcement of LEO dated 8
November 2019, based on the special audit report
in respect of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018,
the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounted to
RMB7,701,500, which was less than the 2018 Target
NOP.
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

HE—F

286

LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

According to the announcement of LEO dated 3
December 2019, in view of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu
for FY2018 being RMB7,701,500, the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 shall be RMB402,738,467
accordingly. The Adjustment Amount for FY2018
shall be settled by the Xu’s Shares, and where such
shares are insufficient, by the Xu’'s Cash received
by Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng. Given that
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng no longer hold
any consideration shares, they will be required to
compensate LEO in cash. LEO will issue a demand
notice for compensation to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng after the compensation proposal in respect of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 has been approved
by the shareholders of LEO. If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of
the demand notice, Jixiang will be required to settle
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 by 45,779,220
Jixiang’s Shares that it holds and, if such shares are
insufficient, by Jixiang's Cash. In addition, Jixiang will
also be required to return the cash bonus in relation to
the Jixiang’s Shares that it has received from LEO, the
amount of which as determined in accordance with
the amount of compensation that Jixiang is required
to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such
settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in cash.
LEO will seek approval from its shareholders in respect
of the above compensation proposal.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 6 December 2019, on 6 December 2019,
Jixiang received a letter from SHIAC indicating that it
has approved LEO’s application (“Application”) to
make the following amendments (“Amendments”)
to certain demands made by LEO against Jixiang in
relation to the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017
Compensation:

(i) the transfer of 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares
(instead of 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) held by
the Jixiang to LEQ;
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT’D) 37. 3fFER (48)
LEO Case (Cont'd) FIBRZE (4 (48)
(d) (Cont'd) d) &)

(i) if Jixiang is unable to transfer the entire
45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) to LEO, the shortfall
shall be compensated to LEO by way of cash; and

(i) the return of the cash bonus in the amount
of approximately RMB989,000 (instead of
approximately RMB506,000) in relation to
the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 lixiang's Shares) by Jixiang to LEO.

In the Application, further to the above amendments,
LEO also demanded Jixiang to pay LEO (i) cash
compensation in the amount of approximately
RMB25,510,000; and (i) an amount which is calculated
from the date of the Application, based on the amount
of unsettled compensation due from Jixiang to LEO
times the one-year loan prime rate published on 21
October 2019 as authorised by the People’s Bank of
China (i.e. 4.20% per annum), as compensation for the
loss suffered by LEO.

It was stated in the Application that the Amendments
were proposed taking into consideration that (i) the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 as reported in the
special audit report in respect of the Audited NOP
of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounting to approximately
RMB7,702,000, was less than the 2018 Target NOP (i.e.
RMB98,020,000); and (ii) any party in breach of the
Performance Compensation Agreement shall be liable
for damages caused to the parties not in default. It was
stated in the letter that Jixiang shall provide rebuttal
opinion on evidence in respect of the supplemental
information attached to the Application (“Rebuttal”)
within five working days after the receipt of the letter.
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont’d)

288

(d)

(Cont'd)

On 10 December 2019, Jixiang has instructed its
PRC legal adviser to provide the Rebuttal and an
objection to the Application ("Objection”) to SHIAC.
In the Objection, Jixiang requested SHIAC to reject
the Application, taking into account that (i) the
Application was made too late, which would severely
affect the normal process of the arbitration; and (ii)
the inclusion of the compensation for the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 into the amended demands
under the Application would complicate the case and
cause delay to the arbitration proceedings, and more
importantly, LEO’s claims against Jixiang in relation
to the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 are subject to
(@) LEO’s claims against Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng after the shareholders of LEO have given their
approval of the related compensation proposal; and (b)
the failure of Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to
settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in full within
30 days after the issue of the demand notice by LEO.

On 19 December 2019, LEO issued a letter to Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng on 19 December 2019
demanding the settlement of the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018. In response to the demand letter issued
by LEO on 19 December 2019 as mentioned above,
Mr. Xu Jialing and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng informed LEO in
writing on 20 December 2019 that they were unable
to pay the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 due to
their financial difficulties. If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of
the demand letter, Jixiang will be required to settle
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 by way of the
45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares that it holds and, if such
shares are insufficient, by way of cash, which is subject
to a cap of approximately RMB25,510,000 (being the
amount of cash consideration received by Jixiang in
relation to the Zhiqu Disposal). In addition, Jixiang will
also be required to return the cash dividend in relation
to the Jixiang’s Shares that it has received from LEO,
the amount of which as determined in accordance
with the amount of compensation Jixiang is required
to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such
settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in
cash. LEO will seek approval from its shareholders in
respect of the proposal to repurchase and cancel the
45,779,220 lJixiang’s Shares held by Jixiang as partial
settlement of the Adjustment Amount for FY2018.
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d)

(Cont'd)

On 8 February 2021,

Jixiang received the arbitral

awards (“Arbitral Awards"”) issued by the SHIAC in
respect of the demands made by LEO against Jixiang
in relation to the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017
Compensation and the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018, the details of which are as follows:

(iii)

(iv)

Jixiang shall transfer 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares it
holds to LEO and assist LEO with matters relating
to the acquisition and cancellation of such shares;

if Jixiang is unable to transfer the entire
45,779,220 Jixiang’'s Shares to LEO within 45
days from 5 February 2021 (i.e. the date on
which the Arbitral Awards were issued by the
SHIAC (“Award Date")), the shortfall shall be
compensated by Jixiang to LEO by way of cash,
the amount of which shall be calculated using the
following formula:

Amount of cash compensation to be paid to LEO
=Ax16.17/3.5

A, being the number of Jixiang's Shares in
shortfall

Jixiang shall pay to LEO (a) cash compensation
in the amount of RMB9,626,612.92 (“Cash
Compensation”); and (b) damages, the amount
of which shall be calculated using the following
formula:

Amount of cash damages to be paid to LEO =
9,626,612.92 x 3.85%/365 x B

B, being the number of days from 4 December
2019 to the date on which the Cash
Compensation is fully paid by Jixiang to LEO

Jixiang shall return the cash bonus in the amount
of RMB987,523.17 to LEQ;
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37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont'd)

290

(d)

(Cont'd)

(v) lJixiang shall pay to LEO RMB500,000 of the legal
fees incurred by LEO as a result of the disputes
with Jixiang over the settlement of the Unsettled
FY2017 Compensation and the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 (“Disputes”); and

(vi) Jixiang and LEO shall bear 70% and 30% of the

arbitration fees incurred to settle the Disputes,

respectively. Given that LEO has fully settled
the entire amount of the arbitration fees of

RMB1,632,434, Jixiang shall pay 70% of such

fees (i.e. RMB1,142,703.80) to LEO.

The Arbitral Awards set out above are final and they
shall be performed by Jixiang within 45 days from the
Award Date.

On 20 October 2021, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
issued a disciplinary action advance notification (the
“Notification”) to Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, indicating that (i) Jixiang, Mr. Xu lJialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng had breached Rules 1.4, 2.3 and
11.11.1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Shares
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (November 2018
Revision)* (FINEHFRK ZFAKE Em#RAI(20184F 11
B1&%])) (the “Shenzhen Listing Rules”) and Rule
1.3 of the Guidelines of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
for the Standard Operation of Listed Companies on
the Small and Medium-sized Enterprise Board (2015
Revision)* (RIIIFEZFAZZPRH/INEZER EHATKRE
EE(F155((201551&5])), given that (a) Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng failed to fully compensate LEO
in accordance with the Performance Compensation
Agreement; and (b) Jixiang did not pay the
compensation of RMB221 million to LEO in accordance
with the arbitration judgement made by the SHIAC,
whereas Zhiqu's audited net operating profit after
tax and other prescribed adjustments for the financial
years ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018
were less than RMB58,000,000, RMB75,400,000 and
RMB98,020,000, respectively; and (ii) the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange intends to impose the disciplinary
action of the circulation of a criticism notice on Jixiang,
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, pursuant to
Rule 17.2 of the Shenzhen Listing Rules and Rule 27
of the Standards of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for
Imposition of Disciplinary Action on Listed Companies
(for Trial Implementation)* (FEIIFEHFRZPF EHAE
AR BIIREEITT)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont’'d)

(d)

(Cont'd)

According to the Notification, if Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng fail to submit their statements
and pleadings in writing and evidence in relation to
the matters set out in the Notification to the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange by 27 October 2021, they would be
deemed to have waived their rights to make their
statements and pleadings.

As at the date of this report, no such written
statements and pleadings and evidence have been
submitted by Jixiang to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Details of the Notification are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 October
2021.

Details of the Zhiqu Disposal and the calculation of the
Adjustment Amount for each Guaranteed FY were set
out in (i) the announcements of the Company dated
8 December 2015, 11 January 2016, 29 February
2016, 20 May 2016, 5 July 2016, 5 September 2016,
7 September 2016, 31 August 2017, 14 December
2018, 15 March 2019, 9 April 2019, 29 April 2019, 8
November 2019, 3 December 2019, 6 December 2019,
10 December 2019, 27 December 2019, 8 February
2021 and 7 February 2023; and (i) the circular of the
Company dated 11 February 2016.

As a result of the deemed disposal of Jixiang by the Group as
set out above, upon completion of the Handover on 31 May
2023, due to loss of control over Jixiang, Jixiang has been
deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. Consequently, the provision for the claims
made by Jixiang is no longer recorded in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

Further details of the deemed disposal of Jixiang are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 19 May 2023.
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ira R R M5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38.

Except for the litigations as disclosed in note 37 to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have
any other significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 39.
Subsequent events
The Directors are not aware of any significant event after the

reporting period for the Group and up to the date of these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

40.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

TRTHRZ 74

ETMTARBRESARZSDEZREE
LI

follows:
Financial assets
ERMEE
Amortised
cost FVTPL FVTOCI Total
BAFE
L /NSO [ by o)
&k Hth2m
I s 155 5 BR W51 R waEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#ET FET FET
2023 —E=HF
Financial assets at FVTOCI BT EEBEM
2EW=YERZ
EMEE - - 2,887 2,887
Accounts receivable, loan and  FEUWERRR ~ FEINE ™
interest receivables K B 54,255 = — 54,255
Financial assets included in SPATERRIE ~ B
prepayments, deposits and REMEWRIEZ
other receivables TRHEE 42,093 = = 42,093
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEEBIESR
Rz EREE - 61,697 - 61,697
Cash and cash equivalents RWERERRESIER 6,569 - - 6,569
102,917 61,697 2,887 167,501
Financial liabilities
EHEE
Amortised
cost Total
HEEH R A 4EEt
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET
2023 -
Financial liabilities included in trade STAB S REMETR
and other payables, accruals and B ESTERAREE
provision TRIBE 34,372 34,372
Interest-bearing bank and other FTRIBTTRAMMEE
borrowings 65,959 65,959
Convertible loans AR ERR 8,328 8,328
108,659 108,659
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T _=—F+_H=+1—HIFE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

4. TMTAZ D (&)

(CONT'D)
Financial assets
ETHEE
Amortised
cost FVTPL FVTOCI Total
BAFE
BAF1E poey )
&8 Hihem
SR DN Bm iR Wz 8 “EEtT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFAT FET AT TFET
2022 BT
Financial assets at FVTOC]I AT EEBEM
2HEW =R
TRIEE - - 94,886 94,886
Accounts receivable, loan and ~ FEUREERR ~ FEIRE ™
interest receivables KB 40,889 - - 40,889
Financial assets included in qu)\?Eﬁ e
prepayments, deposits and &HT’@TH& B2
other receivables THEE 39,417 - - 39,417
Financial assets at FVTPL BN ETEBERD
AR ERE E - 117,625 - 117,625
Cash and cash equivalents REAEFRETEH 9,313 - - 9,313
89,619 117,625 94,886 302,130
Financial liabilities
G =N
Amortised
cost FVTPL Total
BT EEE
A 8@ 5 ER ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET FET
2022 ECCF
Financial liabilities included in trade st A B 5 R EMFE R
and other payables, accruals and 18 - fEst EAKRE#H
provision ERBE 48,835 - 48,835
Interest-bearing bank and other sHERITREMBESR
borrowings 115,329 - 115,329
Convertible loans MK ER 7,715 - 7,715
Derivative financial liabilities TEERAas - 402 402
171,879 402 172,281
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 41. REEFE
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an NTEATS2HEERGEHHEER
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction REPHEEEMBEEEERMX
between market participants at the measurement date. The 1 E]’JE?F% MTFRAFESAEBREGEAHN
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair RTEBRBEANGFEAFENBAHK
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels of inputs TF&T&@B‘ZTTI Nim={ERE 4R :

and the valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

B AREBEABE -

Level 2 inputs:

B RBEABE -

Level 3 inputs:

B AREAHE -

guoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group

can access at the measurement date.
KEENRGFERAIREZHEEERSEIERMTIS CREB GREKREE) o

inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.
EENEEERNEEITRE 2 WAME (F—RANBEZHRERIN o

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
BENBEZNAIRERHARE

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers FEBZHERANENE R BZHNIE
out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or MEHEARIEA=ERERIEAR
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. #i o
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 () BW+ZBA=+—HZ2FEBHRIE
December: B
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's AEEEMTAZEEERATE
financial instruments, other than those with carrying (ZEREEAATFESERESR
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are SMHAE -
as follows:
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

December: (Cont’d)

41. RTEETE (@)

(a) M+_A=+—HZATFERKK

)|

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2023 categorised into

PEAUATERNN_-ZZ=
+ZB=+—HBZrFEE
Fair
value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
A
—g-=h
+—A
Recurring fair REMATE =+—H
value measurements: HE A/ | B BLR B4R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FET FET
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEBBEM
TEWETIRZ
TREE 2,887 916 - 1,971
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEBBRG
FIRZz EREE 61,697 13,131 10,797 37,769
Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2022 categorised into
DEAUTERINZZHF
+ZBA=+—HZAFEFE
Fair
value at
31 December
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
i
.-
+ZA
Recurring fair REEATE =+—H
value measurements: FTE ZAFEE B4R BT FE=R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET FET FET
Financial assets at FVTOCI ‘AT EEBHEM
SENETRZ
ETMEE 94,886 92,784 - 2,102
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESBER
Bz TRIEE 117,625 15,354 - 102,271
Derivative financial liabilities TEEREE (402) = - (402)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT’D) 41. N FEEE = (B8)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) BEBEF=RRAFEAEZEEZ
based on level 3: HER
2023 2022
—E-= TETTF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BRATFEEAEHMEZE
Hﬂl%ﬁ?‘]ﬁ!ﬁZﬁﬁEﬁE :
At 1 January nw—A—H 2,102 2,107
Changes in fair value recognised in Eﬁ‘ﬁ%i@ﬂ& ThESD 2
other comprehensive income NEEESHEE)
(note) (131) (5)
At 31 December BW+=ZB=+—H 1,971 2,102

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there was no transfer of investment in equity interests
of unlisted financial assets at FVTOCI between Level 2
and Level 3.

Note:

The total loss recognised in other comprehensive income
included loss of approximately HK$131,000 (2022:
HK$5,000) related to assets held at the end of the reporting
period are presented in the fair value loss on the financial
assets at FVTOCI in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

ERBEBRZERAERAT | —T_=FFK

RBE_Z_=—FKk-_ZT_"F+
“R=T—HLEFE > BTHAS
=RzBzEAFEEBREMEE
W3 BBR 2 3E L SR E E Y R A
ok EMEEE -

Bt

REME2EWGER ZEBEEETE
ﬁ\%E%HHHEPH%QE*HE%ZE?E%@
131,000 (ZZF - "4 15,0008
7o) it a8 Ezﬁﬂﬂ}_?ﬁiu& SN
BATEEBAEMEERRTRZ S/
BEEZNTEBEZY -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

41. RTEETE (@)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) BEE=RELXFEAEZEEZ
based on level 3: (Cont'd) HER . (88)
2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATEERERNIRZ
EREE
At 1 January 1"—H—H 102,271 82,220
Disposal HE (60,223) -
Additions NE = 22,938
Changes in fair value recognised in RIEmER 2 AT EE
profit or loss (note) (FF5E) (4,279) (2,887)
At 31 December K+-HA=+—H 37,769 102,271

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there was no transfer between financial instruments in
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level 3.

Note:

The total loss recognised in profit or loss included loss of
HK$4,279,000 (2022: loss of HK$2,887,000) related to assets
held at the end of the reporting period are presented in the
fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

RBEE_ZT_=FK-_ZT_"F+
“RA=T—HLEFE > B—HHEE
“HRERIEZEHESE > TE
BANEBHE =R °

Bt
RIEEERN 2 BEAEEENRERR

Fris & EMRRE 2 E184,279,0008 (=
T4 5382,887,0005%7T) 0 AR

GEBm&kEMEEBEERNIEATE
BRERIERZEMEEZ AFEKE
18),WE L2 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D) 41. ATESTE (B)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 MR+ZB=+—H » =&EEFREA
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair L EERFRATEFEMRAN
value measurements at 31 December: HERTRBABBRZIEE -

Level 2 fair value measurements BRATEE
Description Key inputs Fair value Assets
£ TEMAZE NEEEE
2023 2022
ZET=H T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Financial assets at FVTPL

RAFEEBIERIIRZ EMEE

Unlisted investment fund at fair value (note 23(c))

A TFEBZIFLTTRERS (WiF23(c)

= Kingkey Fund Based on the net asset value with reference to 10,797 -
the prices of underlying investment portfolio
quoted by fund administrator. The investment
portfolios of the fund are based on the quoted
closing price in active market of listed equity
securities.

NEEFEAER  K2EZEEEIEAHEM

KREHESHNRE - ESNREMASTHER L
TR AE S TG R I FT IR E o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

()

300

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 December: (Cont'd)

Level 3 fair value measurements

41. A F{ESTE (@)
© R+ZA=+—B8> AEEFREE
By (B R AT 5 R TR
EERTRBABRZRE (@)

EHRATEHE

Effect on fair value for Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range increase of inputs Assets/(Liabilities)
BAREEM AT
Hit R TEBRBARE §E HATENRE BE/(Bf)
2023 2022
—ECCE _ECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
7 AR
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BATEEBEMRARGIIRZEHEE
Unlisted equity securities (note 19)
FLHRAZES (WEE19)
= Australian Company Asset-based approach Discount for lack of marketability 20% Decrease 1,971 2,102
(2022: 20%)
—ENAF BEERA Rz IHES 2 S A
Financial assets at FVTPL
RATEEBBRIIRZ ERER
Unisted investments at fair value (note 23(b))
HLTRE (AT E18) (M2 230)
- Heals N/A N/A NARER  NA - 39,838*
TER TER Q022:NA  TER
TEA)
- World Biotech Discounted cash flows Weighted average cost of capital 14% Decrease 29,190 49,455
method (2022: 16%)
- EREMBERELRR FRREREE METIERRA AL
Discount for lack of marketability 35% Decrease
(2022: 35%)
Rz AIRES 28 A
Probability of achieving the profit 50% Decrease
quarantee (2022: 50%)
ERGHRRINEE HD

* As at 31 December 2022, the total fair value of the
equity interest in Heals and the Call Option were
determined by reference to the Heals Consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 December: (Cont’d)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Cont’d)

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

41. A F{ESTE (@)
© R+ZA=+—B8 > AEEFMREE
By (B R A TE 5 R TR A
EERTRAABBZRE (@)

BZRATEFE(E)

Effect on fair value for Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range increase of inputs Assets/(Liabilities)
4 BABEN ¥
Hit R TOBREARE #E HATENTE BE/(Bf)
2023 2022
ZBC= EICE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Financial assets at FVTPL (Cont'd)
BATEEEREIIRZEHEE D)
Derivative financial assets (note 23(c))
ITE£HEEWZ23(0)
= Dynasty View Black Scholes Model Expected volatility 70.5% Increase 3,283 3,006
(2022:95.69%)
RR-HEHEY RHRIE b=}l
=~ Dynamic Indonesia Holdings  Black Scholes Model Expected volatility 37.07% Increase 5296 9,972
(2022: 43.64-
52.53%)
RR-HEHEY TRHRIE )il
Discount for lack of marketability 43% Decrease
(2022: 43%)
Rz ez 2 A
Derivative financial liabilities
fTEemat
Derivative component embedded in Convertible Notes (note 28)
FATHREE 2 T4 TRE S (128)
- EFL Crank Nicolson Expected volatility 41.90% Increase - (402)
finite difference method (2022: 60.21%)
RERENER TRHRIE Bm
BRED®
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D) 41. ATHESTE (8)
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 MR+ZB=+—H » =&EEFREA
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair HLEERFRATEFEMRAN
value measurements at 31 December: (Cont'd) EERNTREBABIBZIKE | (B)
The discount for lack of marketability represents the RZmiZ B TRIEAERRTE
amounts of premiums and discounts determined by NHIB2HEERKEEEBRTERE
the Group that market participants would take into FRBRITIELE

account when pricing the investments.

The expected volatility is based on the historical TERRR IR TH 12 2ok e (PR R ARG # 78
volatility (calculated based on the expected life of the STEMFT RS E > MREARAE
share options), adjusted for any expected changes to BRI R ARE BN TRHRE SN A
future volatility due to public available information. o

During the two years, there were no changes in the PREFEER > P A G E i
valuation techniques used. L o

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for FEENBREEEMBREME
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities NEERBEATEFTE(BEE=
required for financial reporting purposes, including MATEFE) - MFBEEZERE
level 3 fair value measurements. The financial controller EEERZEILNTEFE - WHER
reports directly to the Board of Directors for these fair RUAEEeSFNbERRFRER
value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes FETMIRET o

and results are held between the financial controller
and the Board of Directors at least twice a year.

Financial assets at FVTOCI, financial assets at BAFEEBRMEEKEIIKRZ
FVTPL and derivate financial liabilities THEE - A FEEBBERIK
ZEHEERITELHMEE

The Group's financial assets and liabilities in level 3 of A TE = —_E-_F+_H
the fair value hierarchy were valued at 31 December =+—H> BRAFTEEBHRE=4&
2023 and 2022 by independent and qualified NAERTREEREEREARE
professional valuers not connected to the Group. The B ENE IS EREEGE
valuers hold recognised and relevant professional BEITHE - ZIGEMFAERD
qualifications and has recent experience to perform HEBEEEN » WHERETEM
similar valuation. B2 T HARS B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, convertible
loans, cash and bank balances. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables and trade and other payables, accruals and
provision, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest
rate risk and market price risk. The Directors review and
agree on policies for managing each of these risks as
summarised below.

(a) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management will monitor
the foreign exchange exposure should the need arise.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities of
the Group denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are

42.

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

ERE MR EE B R REER

AEEFEZEEMIAGESBRBITRAE
Tﬁfﬁ‘* AR ER ~ BHERIRITHE

cZSEMIEFEEN I ATER
%ﬁ%%%ﬂ%ﬁ c AEBEAZHHEMSER
BEEREENEWIRR - BWRERKF
BUKEZ R EMENRUE ~ [E5tER
REH BEESEERELE -

K%Iinﬂlﬁ?iﬂﬁigﬂﬁ 75 INE

}_LB“ EERR - RBEZRRE - FIX
SR hInERERE o %%%F‘?ﬁlﬁﬂ%‘\

EE@EIE:.ME?HB BRI T o

(a) SPERBE

ShER R AR TR FEIARK
Eﬁfﬁ/}ugﬁﬁlz “@Jﬁ'ﬁ&@jﬁ’]ﬂ

AN
oo O
AN

7 & [ B Al b 5 5B E P EUR o 22
m> BEEBRNCEREIZINER

AN
oo O
AN

RE|BEMR > ZEBDEREEE
RRRINEEE R LUMNIERHENE
KEEKREBEEZREENT !

as follows:
Assets Liabilities
HE afs
2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-=F| “E-"F| ZBZ=HF| —E-C-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
United States dollars (“USD") E((%Em)) 945 6 - -
Renminbi (“RMB") AEETARYE) - 6 - 7
Australian dollars (“AUD") B (BRT)) 4 4 - A
HKD BT 3 2 = -
952 18 - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

304

(a)

(b)

775 e R Y 5E

Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuation
of USD, RMB, AUD and HKD when such currencies
are not the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities.

During the year, the Group’s foreign currency risk
arising from USD is not material as the exchange rate of
HKD is pegged against USD. In addition, the monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in HKD,
RMB and AUD are immaterial. Therefore, no sensitivity
analysis is disclosed.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivable, other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group did not provide any guarantee which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Credit evaluations are performed on customers
requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s history of making payments and current
abilities to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer operates.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer
and therefore significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, there has no concentration of credit
risk with respect to accounts receivable as the Group
has large number of customers. As at 31 December
2023, approximately 37.1% (2022: 50.6%) of the
total loan and interest receivables were concentrated
in one customer of the Group, and approximately
99.4% (2022: 100.0%) of the total loan and interest
receivables were concentrated in five (2022: four)
customers of the Group.

42. TREREEBRFRER
(&)

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(b) Credit risk (Cont'd)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets stated in the following table:

31 December 2023

rE MR AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T —F+_H=+—HIFE

0. &

ml L P 1 B AR R R

(&)

(b)

EE R ()
RAEBER FKEER ()

TERERBEFEBREEERITER
BEEREBHNRAEERR  HE
EREBARHERN R+ ZA=+—
HERMEDLE  FRIFEMERE
AN HANERN AL RN E]E

A=
= °

TRAZ2VNEBRMIEMEER
SREAB(E !

—EF_=H+-H=+—H

12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12(8R
RS
BB REEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B1IRE FIRE & s st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiAn FiAn FiEn FiEn FAn
Accounts receivable, loan and R RMERRHE
interest receivables 51,466 - - 3,426 54,892
Financial assets included in SARARE el
prepayments, other receivables, AERHMEEL
and other assets** EHEE 41,146 = 2,557 = 43,703
Cash and bank balances ReRiRTER 6,569 - - = 6,569
99,181 - 2,557 3,426 105,164
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira R R M5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  42. SRIEG BIEEHERKE

AND POLICIES (CONT'D) (48)
(b) Credit risk (Cont'd) (b) EEREREEE)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d) RARBER FAEER(E)
31 December 2022 “ECF+Z“H=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12(88
BHEE
B SERHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EA ERE EIER BlEA% it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin FiEn Fin Tin Fin
Accounts receivable, loan and RUERS  BUERRHE
interest receivables 38,362 - - 2,989 41,351
Financial assets included in STATAIE  HftfEl
prepayments, other receivables, TEREMEEY
and other assets** SHEE 40,325 - 0 - 40,747
Cash and bank balances BeRiRTER 9313 - - - 9313
88,000 - 422 2,989 91,411

* For the accounts receivable, the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included other
receivables and other current assets are considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful” or “loss”.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot meet its
current obligations as they fall due.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current
at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

rEMBHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T —F+_H=+—HIFE

Q@a)

(c)

MENE = bR

mMBEERRANEBR®ELEITIR
RFEIHAE TR R ©

TREIINIEARAERIFTTE
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ?éﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ ThER

BHXRMIFAERE(BERESYN
%'J—.—d‘ﬁj W AFENRIZ > AR
BREARNIRREF R TN B
IR RAEERRENE E’]E—EEHH
58 o

Carrying
Within Total amount at
1 year or undiscounted 31 December
on demand 1-5 years cash flows 2023
®
- Sk
REER 128
R—ER ReneE =+-H
FHEX -Eif L ZIREfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tz 7 7 7
2023 S
Trade and other payables, BAREMENTER
and accruals EHER 34312 - 343N %3N
Interest-bearing bank and st ERTREMES
other borrowings 38,439 27,831 66,276 65,959
Lease liabilities i 481 1,053 5,864 5,673
Convertiole loans HRER 8,512 - 8512 8,328
86,134 28,890 115,024 114332
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

308

AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(c)

(d)

775 e R Y 5E

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

42. TREREEBRFRER

(&)

(C) /}ngJﬁﬁr”} (,%E)

Carrying
Within Total amount at
1 year or undiscounted 31 December
on demand 15 years cash flows 2022
I
-
REEH +ZA
R—%R Reng =t-f
HIHEK -51% % ZREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEn TEn TiAn T
2022 FCCF
Trade and other payables, &5 REAMERFER
and accruals EtER 48835 - 48835 48835
Interest-bearing bank and HERTRHAMEE
other borrowings 86,070 34,255 120,325 115,329
Lease liabilities fEaiE 3759 4,875 8,634 8,149
Convertible loans RRER - 8512 8512 7715
138,664 47642 186,306 180,028
Interest rate risk (d) FIZERpE
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future FMEREEIRHENR DS EESHM
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate SINEMIEZ AFELRKIES

because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s fair value and cash flow interest rate risks
mainly relate to fixed and variable rates borrowings
respectively. In order to exercise prudent management
against interest rate risk, the Group continues to review
the market trend, as well as its business operations
needs and its financial position, so as to arrange the
most effective interest rate risk management tools.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the business lending
rates in Australia (2022: the business lending rates in
Australia). The Group manages its fair value interest
rate risk, when it is considered significant, by entering
into appropriate swap contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (Cont’'d)

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
end of the reporting period has been outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease
is used which represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If
interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 would
have decreased/increased (2022: decreased/increased)
by approximately HK$279,000 (2022: HK$184,000).

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument traded in the
market will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. The Group manages market prices risk, when it
is considered significant, by entering into appropriate
derivatives contracts.

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
equity investments classified as financial assets at
FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had financial assets
at FVTPL of approximately HK$61,697,000 (2022:
HK$117,625,000) (note 23) and financial assets
at FVTOCI of approximately HK$2,887,000 (2022:
HK$94,886,000) (note 19), which were exposed to
market price risk.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

310

AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(e) Market price risk (Cont'd)

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks as at 31

December 2023.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had

been 10% higher/lower:

()

profit (2022: profit) for the year ended 31
December 2023 would increase/decrease
(2022: increase/decrease) by approximately
HK$6,170,000 (2022: HK$11,763,000) for the
Group as a result of the changes in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL; and

fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI
(non-recycling) would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$289,000 (2022: HK$9,489,000)
for the Group as a result of the changes in fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI.

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position that approximate their
respective fair values.

(..\;)

(e) TIHERER(4E)

TYZBRESWIBRER _ZZ
—F+_B=1+—HZREBHKR

PREERE ©

HAEMERAETAEGE L TH%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Ng Ting Ho
BiEE
Director

EF

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 43. KABIAFEIRR R
THE COMPANY
2023 2022
—_E=F BT THE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB 24 33
Interests in subsidiaries RSB AT Z Em 406 351
Total non-current assets JEMBNE E4RE 430 384
CURRENT ASSETS MAEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENCIEN =] 136,658 164,446
Prepayments, other receivables and FETIE ~ HMMEWRIE R
other assets Hith&E 156 559
Cash and cash equivalents RERERRELIER 573 1,648
Total current assets MENEEMRE 137,387 166,653
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Accruals, deposits and other payables &R~ ZEk
HAERIE 2,202 1,210
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN ENCIES =] 57,963 47,244
Short term borrowings HEE 7,000 20,000
Total current liabilities e B (E4REE 67,165 68,454
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEERE 70,222 98,199
NET ASSETS BEEFE 70,652 98,583
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 7S B (5 e
Share capital %N 51,560 53,362
Reserves B 19,092 45,221
TOTAL EQUITY mpERs 70,652 98,583
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 28 KEZEgRTENF=A=Z+N\B#

HERERETSE > WA FIALTARSE
=1

Lam Ching Yee
HERE
Director

£
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONT'D)

312

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual

43. AT BFEIR AR (B)

BT RABERN BRI DR EEER

components of equity between the beginning and the end Z ENEEEHIWT -
of the year are set out below:
Share Treasury  Contributed Other  Accumulated
The Company premium shares surplus reserve losses Total
LN Rirag EfRf BRER Hftfife Bithi it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tan TR TR TRL TR
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ"E-F-R 510,233 - 693,308 4,980 (1,161,684) 46,837
Profit for the year KEERH - - - - 3364 3364
Change in ownership interest n a RENEHREE NG
subsidiary that does notresult inloss of ~ ATFTEREERE
control - - - (4.980) - (4.980)
Transfer in contrbuted surplus due to RE RN REERTEARM
cancellation of share premium (510,233) - 510,233 - - -
At31 December 2022 and 1 January 203~ 2B+ -B=1-HK
B CE-R-H - - 1,203,541 - (1158320) 4521
Loss for the year KEEFR - - - - (10,698) (10,698)
Repurchase of shares Bk - (17.233) - - - (17.233)
Cancellation of shares R - 17,233 (15431) - - 1,802
At31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZR=1+-H - - 1188110 - (1.169,018) 19,092
Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =—F+_H=+—HIFE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 44. RRBIEFEMB AT ZEH1E
OF THE COMPANY
Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FERBABIZHBUT -

Particulars of

Place of issued share
incorporation/ capital/ Attributable Group's
business and Type of registered equity interest held by effective  Principal
Name operation legal entity capital the Company interest  Activities
B e BRTRE/ VNG FEE
2 EEREEHEE  EAER AMERHE FREGRE R IEERH
Directly Indirectly
H#E iE
1. Balgownie Estate Resort  Australia Limited liability ~ AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
Operations Pty Ltd b Company & hospitality and
BEEEAE related services
in Australia
/r/ﬂHE{#Er&
1E AR
2. Balgownie Estate Yarra Australia Limited liability ~ AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Glen Holdings Pty Ltd ~ JHl Company (-5 REnk
BREERE
3. Balgownie Estate Yarra Australia Limited liability ~ AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
Glen Land Pty Ltd M Company 187 hospitality and
BREEAE related services
in Australia
E\ /7—/ N?E{#;Er&
TE AR
4. Blazzing Success Limited ~ BVI Limited liability ~ USD100 - 51% 51%  Investment holding
RBREUHE Company 100E7T REER
BREERE
5. Balgownie Macedon Land ~ Australia Limited liability ~ AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
Pty Ltd B Company 18T hospitality and
BREEAR related services
in Australia
ORISR
TERAARTS
6. Balgownie Macedon Australia Limited liability ~ AUD 1 m 100% 100%  Provision of
Operations Pty Ltd M Company 187 hospitality and
BREAEAR related services
in Australia
EA/r/ N?E{#/Er&
1E AR
7. Endless Foison Limited BVI Limited liability ~ USD 50,000 100% 2 100%  Investment holding
HERUBE Company 50,000&7T REER
BREERE
8. Ensure Profit Limited Hong Kong Limited liability —~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERAT BE Company 18T REER
BREEEAH
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

314

44, RN EEMB AR ZEFHE

— —
OF THE COMPANY (CONT'D) (#8)
Particulars of
Place of issued share
incorporation/ capital/ Attributable Group's
business and Type of registered equity interest held by effective  Principal
Name operation legal entity capital the Company interest  Activities
B AT BETRE/ LAY TEH
28 BRREE M EAER AME RS FARERE ERERE IEXRH
Directly Indirectly
Ei# ik
9. Ever Robust Holdings Hong Kong Limited liability —~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Securities
Limited B Company =5 investments
BERERBRAT BREERE BHERE
10. HK Health Maintenance ~ Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
and Preserving Centre &4 Company 17T medical services
Limited BREEAE RUHBRERS
EERREERELE
FOBRAT
11. Leisure King Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited N Company 17T KRERR
TEEBERAE BREERE
12. Mark Profit Finance Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Money lending
Limited &8 Company 18T BE
BR#BERRAE BREERE
13. Master Destiny Limited BVI Limited liability ~ USD 50,000 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HERUHEE Company 50,000 7T REER
BREERE
14. Triple Art Limited Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Provision of
—BERAT aE Company 187 administrative
BREEAR services
RUTERS
15. Unigue Fortune Limited Hong Kong Limited liability ~ HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERAT 5E Company 187 REER
BREERE

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NV EGE E

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 44, ZATIEEMB AT ZF1E
OF THE COMPANY (CONT'D) (%)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, EREVNTESIATIEFEARAERF
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the W%gﬁjjﬁ}?ﬁ%f&m’t&éﬁﬁ/?{éig
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the FRBIARRBINEATIRGES - EFHT
operations and net assets of the Group. To give details of 7% REHMNBABNFERERE
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, MBI ©

result in particulars of excessive length.

45. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 45. HUEGBSMFBERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and REMBRRN_ZIEF=AZ"+AN
authorised for issue by the Board on 28 March 2024. AEESEHERITEETE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BT HE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out

5,/ ERLE o

TXAFAERRALAYRFEZXERE
E BERIFEREDRE » HiEEREERE
ZERAMEBERGEMBRE  TKBESE

below.
RESULTS e
Years ended 31 December
BE+-_B=+—HLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“T-hEF “ET°%F “TT—fF T fF -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT FAT FET FHET FAET
Revenue WA 641,261 1,050,847 1,799,501 134,373 64,587
Profit/(loss) for the year KEEHF/ (518) (142,247) (104,436) 10,841 9,925 12,452
Attributable to: BUF AL
the Shareholders RE (127,582) (72,697) 55,699 11,205 12,644
Non-controlling interests JFER R (14,665) (31,739) (44,858) (1,280) (192)
(142,247) (104,436) 10,841 9,925 12,452
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
At 31 December
B+=ZB=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“E-hE CEFE CE--F CF"F| ZBI=ZHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT FATT FATT FET
Non-current assets ERHEE 490,246 349,303 399,281 337,013 296,752
Current assets MEEE 467,076 784,747 258,613 257,817 144,750
Deduct: o
Current liabilities Pk A=K (540,240) (820,882) (277,300) (254,982) (95,958)
Net current assets/(liabilities) ABEE /(B8 PE8 (73,164) (36,135) (18,687) 2,835 48,792
Total assets less current BERBERRHASG
liabilities 417,082 313,168 380,594 339,848 345,544
Non-current liabilities FEREBE (48,985) (53,123) (62,783) (43,943) (28,564)
Net assets BEFE 368,097 260,045 317,811 295,905 316,980
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